# A CUBIC SPLINE PROJECTION METHOD FOR COMPUTING STATIONARY DENSITY FUNCTIONS OF FROBENIUS -PERRON OPERATOR

#### A DISSERTATION IN Mathematics and Physics

Presented to the Faculty of the University of Missouri-Kansas City in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree

### DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

## by Azzah Ahmed Alshekhi

B.S., King Abdul-Aziz University, 2012 M.S., University of Missouri-Kansas City, 2017

Kansas City, Missouri2022

© 2022

Azzah Alshekhi

ALL RIGHTS RESERVED

# A CUBIC SPLINE PROJECTION METHOD FOR COMPUTING STATIONARY DENSITY FUNCTIONS OF FROBENIUS -PERRON OPERATOR

Azzah Alshekhi, Candidate for the Doctor of Philosophy Degree University of Missouri-Kansas City, 2022

#### ABSTRACT

Stationary density functions of Frobenius-Perron operators have critical applications in many fields of science and engineering. Accordingly, approximating stationary density functions  $f^*$  is important and the focus of this dissertation.

Among the computational methods of approximating the smooth  $f^*$ , the linear spline and quadratic spline projection methods have been proven effective. However, we intend to improve the convergence rate of the previous methods. We will fulfill this goal by using cubic spline functions since cubic spline functions are twice continuously differentiable on the whole domain.

Theoretically, we prove the existence of a nonzero sequence of cubic spline functions  $\{f_n\}$  that converges to the stationary density function  $f^*$  of the Frobenius-Perron operator in  $L^1$ -norm. The numerical experimental results assure that the cubic spline projection method gives the fastest convergence rate so far. In addition, when the stationary density function  $f^*$  lies in the cubic spline space, the cubic spline projection method computes  $f^*$  exactly no matter what n may be. The faculty listed below, appointed by the Dean of the School of Graduate Studies have examined a thesis titled "A Cubic Spline Projection Method for Computing Stationary Density Functions of Frobenius-Perron Operator," presented by Azzah Alshekhi, candidate for the Doctor of Philosophy degree, and hereby certify that in their opinion it is worthy of acceptance.

> Supervisory Committee Noah Rhee, Ph.D. Department of Mathematics and Statistics Majid Bani-Yaghoub, Ph.D. Department of Mathematics and Statistics Liana Sega, Ph.D. Department of Mathematics and Statistics Paul Rulis, Ph.D. Department of Physics and Astronomy Elizabeth Stoddard, Ph.D. Department of Physics and Astronomy

# CONTENTS

ABS	TRACT	ii
LIST	OF ILLUSTRATIONS	vi
LIST	OF TABLES	vii
ACK	NOWLEDGMENTS	viii
Chap	oter	
1.	Introduction	1
2.	Preliminaries	8
	2.1.Markov Operator	8
	2.2.Construction of Frobenius-Perron Operator	13
	2.3.Koopman Operator	27
	2.4.Invariant Measure	29
	2.5.Ergodic Transformation	36
3.	Spline Space	52
	3.1.Spline Functions	52
	3.2.Linear Spline Functions	54
	3.3.Quadratic Spline Functions	55
	3.4.Cubic Spline Functions	56
4.	Projection Method	60
	4.1.General Projection Method	60
	4.2.Constant Spline Projection Method	64

4.3.Linear Spline Projection Method	65
4.4.Quadratic Spline Projection Method	65
4.5.Cubic Spline Projection Method	66
5. Convergence Analysis of Cubic Spline Projection Method	74
5.1.Uniform Boundedness of $\{Q_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$	74
5.2.Convergence of $\{Q_n f\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$ to $f$	79
5.3. Uniform Boundedness of the Total Variation of $\{Q_n f\}$ by the Total	
Variation of $f$	81
5.4. Uniform Boundedness of Total Variation of $\{f_n\}$	105
5.5.Convergence of $\{f_n\}$ to $f^*$	112
6. Numerical Results	115
6.1.Gaussian Quadrature	115
6.2. Computing the Entries of Matrix $A$	117
6.3.Computing the errors $e_n =   f_n - f^*  _1 \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots$	120
6.4.Numerical Results	124
7. Conclusion and Future Work	129
Appendix	
A. MATLAB CODE FOR $f_2^*$	131
REFERENCES	143
VITA	151

# ILLUSTRATIONS

Figu	Ire	Page
1.	Transformation $S(x)$	1
2.	The initial part of orbit $\left\{S^k\left(\frac{\pi}{4}\right)\right\}_{k=0}^{99}$	2
3.	The initial part of orbit $\left\{S^k\left(\frac{\pi}{4}\right)\right\}_{k=0}^{n-1}$ , when n=100, 1000, and 10000,	
	respectively	3
4.	$B_i^3$ for $i = -3, 2, 8$ and 9 when $n = 10 \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots$	57
5.	Illustration of Lemma 3.5 (3)	59
6.	$f - Q_W f$ is orthogonal to $W$	61
7.	The graphs of $f(x) = x^4$ and $Q_4 f$ on the interval $[0, 0.18]$	71
8.	The graphs of $f(x) = x^4$ and $Q_4 f$ on the interval $[0, 0.02]$	72
9.	Intersection point between $\phi_{i+1} - \phi_i$ for $i = 0, \dots, n-5$	100
10.	Efficient and accurate computations of $a_{3,-2}$	119

# TABLES

àble	Pag	;e
1. Probability Distributions		4
2. Independence of approximated probability values from initial values	. 5	0
3. Convergence of approximated probability values	. 5	1
4. 1-norm of $\widehat{B}_n^{-1}$	. 7	8
5. 1-norm of $\widetilde{B}_n^{-1}$	. 9	7
6. Error $e_n$ comparison for $f_1^*$	. 12	6
7. Ratio comparison for $f_1^*$	. 12	6
8. Error $e_n$ comparison for $f_2^*$	. 12	7
9. Ratio comparison for $f_2^*$	. 12	7
10. Error $e_n$ comparison for $f_3^*$	. 12	8
11. Ratio comparison for $f_3^*$	. 12	8

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The Ph.D. path was very rugged, and it could not have been reachable without the help and support of the people around me. My greatest thanks go to my advisor Dr. Noah Rhee for every hour he spent guiding me through this dissertation. He facilitated the challenging work by providing everything I needed. Also, I am deeply grateful for the opportunity Dr. Rhee provided by introducing me to Dr. Jiu Ding, a professor at the University of Southern Mississippi, to whom I would like to extend my sincere thanks.

I also cannot forget to thank Dr. Majid Bani-Yaghoub, Dr. Liana Sega, Dr. Paul Rulis, and Dr. Elizabeth Stoddard, for being members of the committee and supplying me with remarkable advice and suggestions. I also would like to thank the Mathematics and Statistics department at the University of Missouri-Kansas City.

Many thanks to my family and friends, I am grateful to have you all standing by my side, facing every obstacle, and helping me get through them. Mom and dad, your prayers and support helped me to stand repeatedly every time I felt down. Siblings, I leaned on your encouragement and motivations to not give up and make my dream come true. My brother Hussam, I am very thankful for all the sacrifices you made to make this journey possible.

Finally, I would like to thank Al-Baha University and the Saudi Arabia Cultural Mission for providing me the opportunity and scholarship to complete my graduate studies.

## DEDICATION

To my parents, brothers, and sisters with love and appreciation.

Tell me and I forget, teach me and I remember, involve me and I learn.

Benjamin Franklin

#### CHAPTER 1

#### INTRODUCTION

The initiative behind this dissertation is to approximate a stationary density function of Frobenius-Perron operator, which can be seen in the following example. Let  $S: [0,1] \rightarrow [0,1]$  be a transformation that is given by



Figure 1: Transformation S(x)

whose its graph is shown in Figure 1.

Let  $x_0 \in [0,1]$  be an initial point, and  $\{S^k(x_0)\}_{k=0}^{\infty}$  be the orbit of S corresponding to the initial point  $x_0$ , where  $S^k(x_0) = (S \circ S \circ \ldots \circ S)(x_0)$ , k-times. To study the behavior of the orbit, we use MATLAB to graph the initial part of the orbit  $\{S^k(x_0)\}_{k=0}^{99}$  for the initial point  $x_0 = \frac{\pi}{4}$ , where  $S^0\left(\frac{\pi}{4}\right) = 0.785$ ,  $S\left(\frac{\pi}{4}\right) = 0.137$ ,  $S^2\left(\frac{\pi}{4}\right) = S\left(S\left(\frac{\pi}{4}\right)\right) = 0.316$ , and so on. As Lasota and Mackey, in their book [44],

<sup>&</sup>quot;A Cubic Spline Projection Method for Computing Stationary Densities of Dynamical Systems" paper, [1], is a summarized version of this dissertation. The paper was published by the International Journal of Bifurcation and Chaos in 2022.



Figure 2: The initial part of orbit  $\left\{S^k\left(\frac{\pi}{4}\right)\right\}_{k=0}^{99}$ 

mentioned and as shown in Figure 2, we can see that the behavior of the orbit is chaotic (the right-hand picture is obtained from the left-hand picture after connecting the points together). So, studying the points in the orbit  $\{S(x_0)\}_{k=0}^{\infty}$  does not tell us any meaningful information. However, when we plot more points of the orbit, as Figure 3, we begin to see a pattern in a distribution sense. We observe that more points of the orbit are near 0, and the number of points decrease as we move to 1.

To analyze this situation better, we give the following example.

EXAMPLE 1.1. We divide the domain [0, 1] into ten subintervals of equal length, and we experiment the probability of belonging to each subinterval using  $n = 10^6$ . We compute the probability distributions for four different initial values,  $x_0 = \frac{\pi}{4}, \frac{\pi}{8}, \frac{\pi}{16},$ and  $\frac{\pi}{32}$ , using the following formula

$$\frac{1}{10^6} \sum_{k=0}^{10^6 - 1} \mathbb{1}_{\left[\frac{i-1}{10}, \frac{i}{10}\right)}(S^k(x_0)) \tag{1.1}$$



(c) n = 10000

Figure 3: The initial part of orbit  $\left\{S^k\left(\frac{\pi}{4}\right)\right\}_{k=0}^{n-1}$ , when n=100, 1000, and 10000, respectively

for i = 1, 2, ..., 10, where  $1_{\left[\frac{i-1}{10}, \frac{i}{10}\right)}$  denotes the indicator for the subinterval  $\left[\frac{i-1}{10}, \frac{i}{10}\right)$ . We display the results in Table 1, which shows the probability distribution of the orbits in each subinterval with four different initial values.

	Probability				
$x_0$	$\frac{\pi}{4}$	$\frac{\pi}{8}$	$\frac{\pi}{16}$	$\frac{\pi}{32}$	
[0, 0.1]	0.1821	0.1826	0.1824	0.1819	
[0.1, 0.2]	0.1516	0.1515	0.1515	0.1510	
[0.2, 0.3]	0.1277	0.1277	0.1283	0.1281	
[0.3, 0.4]	0.1099	0.1104	0.1100	0.1098	
[0.4, 0.5]	0.0956	0.0948	0.0947	0.0956	
[0.5, 0.6]	0.0833	0.0834	0.0829	0.0839	
[0.6, 0.7]	0.0733	0.0730	0.0736	0.0735	
[0.7, 0.8]	0.0655	0.0653	0.0654	0.0650	
[0.8, 0.9]	0.0585	0.0583	0.0582	0.0583	
[0.9, 1]	0.0524	0.0529	0.0528	0.0528	

Table 1: Probability Distributions

Our observation from Figure 3, which was the probability distribution decreases as we go to 1, is confirmed by Table 1. We also observe that the distribution is about the same for any initial point  $x_0$ ; that is, the probability is independent of the initial point  $x_0$ . This suggests that there may be a probability measure  $\mu$  such that

$$\mu(A) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} 1_A(S^k(x_0))$$
(1.2)

for any  $A \in \mathcal{B}$  and for almost any  $x_0 \in [0,1]$ . From now on, through out this dissertation, when we say for any  $x_0 \in [0,1]$ , we mean for almost all  $x_0 \in [0,1]$ . The class  $\mathcal{B}$  is called a Borel  $\sigma$ -field on [0,1], which is defined as follows [28]. First, we need to define a  $\sigma$ -field on  $\mathbb{R}$ .

A class  $\mathcal{C} \in \mathbb{R}$  is called a  $\sigma$ -field on  $\mathbb{R}$  if:

- (1)  $\mathbb{R} \in \mathcal{C}$ .
- (2)  $A \in \mathcal{C}$  implies  $A^c \in \mathcal{C}$ .
- (3)  $\{A_k\}_{k=1}^{\infty} \in \mathcal{C}$  implies that  $\bigcup_{k=1}^{\infty} A_k \in \mathcal{C}$ .

Let  $\mathcal{O}$  be the collection of all open intervals in  $\mathbb{R}$ , and let  $\sigma(\mathcal{O})$  be the smallest  $\sigma$ -field containing  $\mathcal{O}$ . Then  $\mathcal{B}_{\mathbb{R}} = \sigma(\mathcal{O})$  is called a *Borel*  $\sigma$ -field on  $\mathbb{R}$ , and  $\mathcal{B}$  is defined by  $\mathcal{B} = \{A \cap [0,1] : A \in \mathcal{B}_{\mathbb{R}}\}.$ 

In fact, the probability measure  $\mu$  in equation (1.2) is constructed as follows. Suppose that  $f^*$  is a density function of  $P_S$  such that  $P_S f^* = f^*$  (such density function of  $P_S$  is called a stationary density function of  $P_S$ ), where  $P_S$  is the Frobenius-Perron operator associated with transformation S. We will define  $P_S$ , the Frobenius-Perron operator associated with S later in Section 2.2. Let the probability measure  $\mu$  be defined by

$$\mu(A) = \int_A f^*(x) \ dx$$

for all  $A \in \mathcal{B}$ . Then we have

$$\mu(A) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} 1_A(S^k(x_0))$$
(1.3)

for all  $x_0 \in [0, 1]$ . The justification for (1.3) will be given in chapter 2.

This application shows the importance of computing (or approximating) the stationary density function  $f^*$  of the Frobenius-Perron operator  $P_S$  associated with S, which is the theme of this dissertation.

The era of computational ergodic theory begun when the first attempt at computing the stationary density was proposed in the book by Ulam [69]. Later, Li in his paper [47] showed the convergence of Ulam's method. But Bose & Murray [8] showed that it only has  $O(\ln n/n)$  convergence rate under the  $L^1$ -norm. Ulam's method can be understood as a Markov method using piecewise constant functions. Then the paper by Ding and Li [22] has extended Ulam's method to a Markov method using piecewise linear functions, and later in the paper by Ding and Rhee [23] it was proved that it has O(1/n) convergence under the BV-norm.

In addition, Ulam's method can be understood as the projection method using piecewise constant functions, which is illustrated in Section 4.2. A projection method using linear spline functions was proposed and analyzed in the papers by Ding and Rhee [24, 25], where the numerical results show that it has a higher convergence rate than the piecewise linear Markov method. Moreover, the quadratic spline projection method in the paper by Zhou et al. [78], shows a faster convergence rate than the piecewise linear projection method. Even though the results from [24, 78] showed that both the linear spline and quadratic spline projection methods are good options to use to approximate the stationary density function of the Frobenius-Perron operator associated with S, we aim to improve the convergence rate further. Therefore, we will study the cubic spline projection method in this dissertation since cubic spline functions are twice continuously differentiable on the whole domain. So, we expect to obtain the highest convergence rate so far for the computation of stationary density functions of the Frobenius-Perron operators associated with S.

In Chapter 2, we construct the Frobenius-Perron operator, and we cover preliminaries that justify equation (1.3). Then Chapter 3 covers the definition and some properties of cubic spline functions. Chapter 4 explains the general idea of the projection method and then specifies the cubic spline projection method. After that, in chapter 5, we prove the convergence of a sequence of cubic spline functions  $\{f_n\}$  to the stationary density function  $f^*$ . Then in Chapter 6, we provide numerical experimental results and explain how to get efficient and accurate computations in order to get more accurate results. Finally, we conclude and provide future work in Chapter 7.

#### CHAPTER 2

#### PRELIMINARIES

In this chapter, we justify the fact in (1.3) mentioned at the end of Chapter 1. However, we first need to cover some preliminaries, which are crucial to drive the fact. In Section 2.1, we define a Markov operator and present some of its properties. In Section 2.2, we construct a Frobenius-Perron operator. Then in Section 2.3, we define a new operator called a Koopman operator, which is an adjoint operator of a Frobenius-Perron operator. In Section 2.4, we introduce the concept of an invariant measure under a measurable and nonsingular transformation S and show the connection between invariant measure and stationary densities  $f^*$  of a Frobenius-Perron operator. Lastly in Section 2.5 we define Ergodic transformation and finally derive the fact in (1.3). (Most of the results in this chapter are known and can be found in the book by Lasota and Mackey [44]).

#### 2.1 Markov Operator

This section defines a Markov operator and states some of its properties. Before we define Markov operators, we provide the definition of Borel Measurable functions.

DEFINITION 2.1. A measurable function  $f : [0, 1] \to \mathbb{R}$  is called a *Borel measur*able function if  $A \in \mathcal{B}_{\mathbb{R}}$  implies  $f^{-1}(A) \in \mathcal{B}$  [49].

DEFINITION 2.2. Consider the measure space  $(L^1[0,1], \mathcal{B}, \lambda)$ , where  $L^1[0,1]$  de-

notes the collection of all Borel measurable functions such that  $\int_0^1 |f| d\lambda < \infty$  [4] and  $\lambda$  is the Lebesgue measure [32]. A *Markov operator*  $P: L^1[0,1] \to L^1[0,1]$  is a linear operator that satisfies the following:

(M1) If 
$$f \ge 0$$
, then  $Pf \ge 0$  for  $f \in L^1[0, 1]$ .  
(M2)  $\|Pf\|_1 = \|f\|_1$  for  $f \ge 0$  and  $f \in L^1[0, 1]$ , where  $\|f\|_1 = \int_0^1 |f| \, d\lambda$  [56].

In the following we introduce some crucial properties of a Markov operator.

DEFINITION 2.3. Let  $f \in L^1[0, 1]$ . The positive part of f [66] is denoted by  $f^+$ and is defined by

$$f^+ = \max\{f(x), 0\}$$

While  $f^-$  is the negative part of f and is defined by

$$f^{-} = \max\{-f(x), 0\} = -\min\{f(x), 0\}.$$

Note that the functions f and |f| can be expressed in terms of the positive and negative parts of f as  $f = f^+ - f^-$  and  $|f| = f^+ + f^-$ .

LEMMA 2.4. Let P be a Markov operator on  $L^1[0,1]$ . Then for every  $f \in L^1[0,1]$ :

- (1)  $(Pf)^+ \le Pf^+$ .
- (2)  $(Pf)^{-} \leq Pf^{-}$ .
- $(3) |Pf| \le P|f|.$
- (4)  $||Pf||_1 \le ||f||_1$ .

PROOF.

(1) Let  $f \in L^1[0,1]$ . Since  $f^+ \ge 0$  and  $f^- \ge 0$ ,  $Pf^+ \ge 0$  and  $Pf^- \ge 0$ . Then by the linearity of P, we have

$$(Pf)^+ = (P(f^+ - f^-))^+ = (Pf^+ - Pf^-)^+$$
  
=  $\max\{Pf^+ - Pf^-, 0\} \le \max\{Pf^+, 0\} = Pf^+.$ 

Thus

$$(Pf)^+ \leq Pf^+$$

(2) Let  $f \in L^1[0,1]$ . Since  $Pf^+ \ge 0$  and  $Pf^- \ge 0$  as above, we have

$$(Pf)^{-} = (P(f^{+} - f^{-}))^{-} = (Pf^{+} - Pf^{-})^{-}$$
$$= \max\{-(Pf^{+} - Pf^{-}), 0\} = \max\{Pf^{-} - Pf^{+}, 0\}$$
$$\leq \max\{Pf^{-}, 0\} = Pf^{-}.$$

Hence

$$(Pf)^{-} \leq Pf^{-}.$$

(3) Let  $f \in L^1[0,1]$ . By writing  $|Pf| = (Pf)^+ + (Pf)^-$  and using (1) and (2) as well as the linearity of P, we get

$$|Pf| = (Pf)^{+} + (Pf)^{-} \leq Pf^{+} + Pf^{-}$$
  
=  $P(f^{+} + f^{-}) = P|f|.$ 

Therefore,

 $|Pf| \leq P|f|.$ 

(4) Let  $f \in L^1[0, 1]$ . Using (3) and (M2) of definition 2.2, we have

$$||Pf||_{1} = \int_{0}^{1} |Pf| d\lambda \leq \int_{0}^{1} P|f| d\lambda$$
$$= \int_{0}^{1} |f| d\lambda = ||f||_{1}.$$

Therefore,

$$||Pf||_1 \leq ||f||_1.$$

DEFINITION 2.5. The support of a function f is the set of  $x \in [a, b]$  such that  $f(x) \neq 0$  [76]; that is,

supp 
$$f = \{x \in [a, b] : f(x) \neq 0\}.$$

The concept of a fixed point is essential, and we are going to use it frequently in this dissertation, where a function f is called a fixed point if the income and outcome of f are the same; that is, f(x) = x [71]. So here is the definition and some properties of a fixed point of a Markov operator.

DEFINITION 2.6. For  $f \in L^1[0,1]$ , we say that f is a *fixed point* of a Markov operator P if Pf = f.

THEOREM 2.7. If P is a Markov operator and Pf = f, then  $Pf^+ = f^+$  and  $Pf^- = f^-$ .

PROOF. Let Pf = f for some  $f \in L^1[0, 1]$ . By the assumption, and by (1) and

(2) of Lemma 2.4, we have

$$f^+ = (Pf)^+ \leq Pf^+ \Longrightarrow 0 \leq Pf^+ - f^+$$
(2.1)

and

$$f^- = (Pf)^- \leq Pf^- \Longrightarrow 0 \leq Pf^- - f^-.$$

$$(2.2)$$

Using (2.1), (2.2) and (4) of Lemma 2.4, we get

$$\begin{array}{rcl} 0 &=& \int_{0}^{1} 0 \; d\lambda \; \leq \; \int_{0}^{1} (Pf^{+} - f^{+}) \; d\lambda \; + \; \int_{0}^{1} (Pf^{-} - f^{-}) \; d\lambda \\ &=& \int_{0}^{1} (Pf^{+} + Pf^{-}) \; d\lambda \; - \; \int_{0}^{1} (f^{+} + f^{-}) \; d\lambda \\ &=& \int_{0}^{1} P(f^{+} + f^{-}) \; d\lambda \; - \; \int_{0}^{1} (f^{+} + f^{-}) \; d\lambda \\ &=& \int_{0}^{1} P|f| \; d\lambda \; - \; \int_{0}^{1} |f| \; d\lambda \\ &=& \|P \; |f| \; \|_{1} - \| \; |f| \; \|_{1} \leq \; 0. \end{array}$$

Therefore we have,

$$0 \leq \int_0^1 (Pf^+ - f^+) \, d\lambda \, + \, \int_0^1 (Pf^- - f^-) \, d\lambda \leq 0,$$

Hence

$$\int_0^1 (Pf^+ - f^+) \, d\lambda \, + \, \int_0^1 (Pf^- - f^-) \, d\lambda \, = \, 0.$$

Note that the nonnegativity of  $Pf^+ - f^+$  and  $Pf^- - f^-$  from (2.1) and (2.2) gives

$$\int_0^1 (Pf^+ - f^+) \, d\lambda = 0 \quad \text{and} \quad \int_0^1 (Pf^- - f^-) \, d\lambda = 0,$$

which implies

$$Pf^+ = f^+$$
 and  $Pf^- = f^-$ .

#### 2.2 Construction of Frobenius-Perron Operator

Frobenius-Perron operators form a special class of Markov operators. To define a Frobenius-Perron operator, it is necessary to state the following definitions and theorems.

DEFINITION 2.8. Consider the measure space  $(L^1[0,1], \mathcal{B}, \lambda)$ . Then  $f \in L^1[0,1]$ is called a *density function* [77] if  $f \ge 0$  and  $||f||_1 = \int_0^1 |f| \, d\lambda = \int_0^1 f \, d\lambda = 1$ .

DEFINITION 2.9. A real-valued function  $\mu$  on  $\mathcal{B}$  is a *measure* [15] if it satisfies the following:

- (1)  $\mu(\phi) = 0.$
- (2)  $\mu(A) \ge 0$  for all  $A \in \mathcal{B}$ .
- (3) Let  $\{A_k\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$  be disjoint subsets of  $\mathcal{B}$ . Then

$$\mu\left(\bigcup_{k=1}^{\infty} A_k\right) = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \mu(A_k).$$

LEMMA 2.10. Let  $f \in L^1[0,1]$  and  $f \ge 0$ . If

$$\nu(A) = \int_A f \ d\lambda$$

for all  $A \in \mathcal{B}$ , then  $\nu$  is a measure on  $\mathcal{B}$ .

PROOF.

(1) Let  $f \in L^1[0,1]$ . Because the Lebesgue integral value over empty set is 0, we

have

$$\nu(\phi) = \int_{\phi} f \ d\lambda = 0$$

(2) Since by assumption  $f \ge 0$ , we have  $\int_A f \ d\lambda \ge 0$ . Hence  $\nu(A) \ge 0$ .

(3) Let  $\{A\}_{i=1}^{\infty}$  be disjoint sets. Then

$$\nu\left(\bigcup_{i=1}^{\infty} A_i\right) = \int_{\bigcup_{i=1}^{\infty} A_i} f \, d\lambda = \int_0^1 f \mathbf{1}_{\bigcup_{i=1}^{\infty} A_i} \, d\lambda$$
$$= \int_0^1 f \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \mathbf{1}_{A_i} \, d\lambda = \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \int_0^1 f \mathbf{1}_{A_i} \, d\lambda$$
$$= \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \int_{A_i} f \, d\lambda = \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \nu(A_i).$$

Hence,

$$\nu\left(\bigcup_{i=1}^{\infty}A_i\right) = \sum_{i=1}^{\infty}\nu(A_i).$$

Therefore, by (1), (2), and (3),  $\nu$  is a measure on  $\mathcal{B}$ .

DEFINITION 2.11. Let  $\nu$  be a measure on  $(L^1[0,1], \mathcal{B}, \lambda)$ . We say that  $\nu$  is an *absolutely continuous* measure with respect to  $\lambda$  [21] if

$$\lambda(A) = 0 \implies \nu(A) = 0,$$

where  $A \in \mathcal{B}$ . In this case we write  $\nu \ll \lambda$ .

**Radon-Nikodym Theorem.** Suppose that  $\nu$  is a finite measure such that  $\nu \ll \lambda$ . Then for every  $A \in \mathcal{B}$ , there exists a unique nonnegative  $h \in (L^1[0, 1], \mathcal{B}, \lambda)$  such that

$$\nu(A) = \int_A h \ d\lambda$$

for any  $A \in \mathcal{B}$  [72].

PROOF. First we define a functional  $\Phi: L^2(\lambda + \nu) \to \mathbb{R}$  by

$$\Phi(f) = \int_0^1 f \, d\nu$$

for all  $f \in L^2(\lambda + \nu)$ , where  $f \in L^2(\lambda + \nu) \iff f : [0, 1] \to \mathbb{R}$  such that

$$||f||^2_{L^2(\lambda+\nu)} \equiv \int_0^1 |f|^2 d(\lambda+\nu) < \infty$$

and

$$\int_0^1 |f|^2 \ d(\lambda + \nu) = \int |f|^2 \ (d\lambda + d\nu) = \int_0^1 |f|^2 \ d\lambda + \int_0^1 |f|^2 \ d\nu < \infty.$$

We establish that  $\Phi(f)$  is a real number in Claim 1.

Claim 1. For  $f \in L^2(\lambda + \nu)$ , we have  $|\Phi(f)| < \infty$ .

Proof. Suppose that  $f \in L^2(\lambda + \nu)$ . By Hölder's Inequality [72], we have

$$\begin{split} |\Phi(f)| &= \left| \int_{0}^{1} f \, d\nu \right| \leq \int_{0}^{1} |f| \, d\nu \\ &\leq \int_{0}^{1} |f| \, d(\lambda + \nu) = \int_{0}^{1} |f \cdot 1| \, d(\lambda + \nu) \\ &= \|f \cdot 1\|_{L^{1}(\lambda + \nu)} \leq \|f\|_{L^{2}(\lambda + \nu)} \cdot \|1\|_{L^{2}(\lambda + \nu)} \\ &= \|f\|_{L^{2}(\lambda + \nu)} \cdot \left[ \int_{0}^{1} |1|^{2} \, d(\lambda + \nu) \right]^{\frac{1}{2}} = \|f\|_{L^{2}(\lambda + \nu)} \cdot \left[ \int 1_{[0,1]} \, d(\lambda + \nu) \right]^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ &= \|f\|_{L^{2}(\lambda + \nu)} \cdot \left[ (\lambda + \nu) \left( [0,1] \right) \right]^{\frac{1}{2}} = \|f\|_{L^{2}(\lambda + \nu)} \cdot \left[ \lambda [0,1] + \nu [0,1] \right]^{\frac{1}{2}} \end{split}$$

 $< \infty$ .

In the next claim, we check if  $\Phi$  is well-defined.

Suppose that both f and  $g \in L^2(\lambda + \nu)$  such that f = g almost Claim 2. everywhere on [0, 1] with respect to  $\lambda + \nu$ . Then  $\Phi(f) = \Phi(g)$ .

Suppose that f = g almost everywhere on [0, 1] with respect to  $\lambda + \nu$ . Proof. Let  $A = \{x \in [0,1] : f(x) \neq g(x)\}$ . Then  $0 = (\lambda + \nu)(A) = \lambda(A) + \nu(A)$ . Hence,  $\nu(A) = 0$ . Therefore, f = g almost everywhere on [0, 1] with respect to  $\nu$ . So,

$$\int_0^1 f \, d\nu = \int_0^1 g \, d\nu$$

Hence,  $\Phi(f) = \Phi(g)$ . Therefore,  $\Phi$  is well-defined.

Claim 1 and Claim 2 establish the fact that  $\Phi : L^2(\lambda + \nu) \to \mathbb{R}$  is a well-defined functional. Clearly  $\Phi$  is a linear functional on  $L^2(\lambda + \nu)$ . Next, we show that  $\Phi$  is a bounded linear functional on  $L^2(\lambda + \nu)$ .

 $\Phi$  is a bounded linear functional on  $L^2(\lambda + \nu)$ . Claim 3.

Proof. Note that, since  $\nu$  is a finite measure, we have

$$\begin{split} \|\Phi\| &= \sup\{|\Phi(f)|: \|f\|_{L^{2}(\lambda+\nu)} \leq 1\} \\ &\leq \sup\{\|f\|_{L^{2}(\lambda+\nu)}[\lambda[0,1]+\nu[0,1]]^{\frac{1}{2}}: \|f\|_{L^{2}(\lambda+\nu)} \leq 1\} \\ &\leq \sup\{[\lambda[0,1]+\nu[0,1]]^{\frac{1}{2}}\} \\ &= [\lambda[0,1]+\nu[0,1]]^{\frac{1}{2}} < \infty. \end{split}$$

Since  $\Phi$  is a bounded linear functional on  $L^2(\lambda + \nu)$ , by Riesz's representation theorem [54], there exists a unique  $g \in L^2(\lambda + \nu)$  such that  $\Phi(f) = \langle f, g \rangle$  for all  $f \in L^2(\lambda + \nu)$ ; that is, there exists a unique  $g \in L^2(\lambda + \nu)$  such that for all  $f \in L^2(\lambda + \nu)$ 

$$\Phi(f) = \int_{0}^{1} fg \ d(\lambda + \nu).$$
(2.3)

Since  $\Phi(f) = \int_0^1 f \, d\nu$ , for all  $f \in L^2(\lambda + \nu)$ , (2.3) becomes

$$\int_{0}^{1} f \, d\nu = \int_{0}^{1} fg \, d(\lambda + \nu) = \int_{0}^{1} fg \, d\lambda + \int_{0}^{1} fg \, d\nu$$

So

$$\int_0^1 f(1-g) \, d\nu = \int_0^1 fg \, d\lambda \quad \text{for all} \quad f \in L^2(\lambda+\nu). \tag{2.4}$$

Claim 4. Let  $g \in L^2(\lambda + \nu)$ . Then  $0 \le g < 1$  almost everywhere on [0, 1] with respect to  $\lambda + \nu$ .

Proof. Let  $A_1 = \{x \in [0,1] : g(x) \ge 1\}$ . Let  $f = 1_{A_1}$  in (2.4). Then we have

$$0 \leq \int_0^1 1_{A_1} g \, d\lambda = \int_0^1 1_{A_1} (1-g) \, d\nu \leq 0.$$

Thus,  $1_{A_1}g = 0$  with respect to  $\lambda$  on [0,1]. Since  $g \ge 1$  on  $A_1$ ,  $\lambda(A_1) = 0$ .

Then, let  $A_2 = \{x \in [0,1] : g(x) < 0\}$  and  $f = 1_{A_2}$ . Similarly, we can show that  $\lambda(A_2) = 0$ . Since  $\nu \ll \lambda$ , we have  $\nu(A_1) = 0$  and  $\nu(A_2) = 0$ . Therefore,  $(\lambda + \nu)(A_1) = 0$  and  $(\lambda + \nu)(A_2) = 0$ . So we may assume that  $0 \le g < 1$  almost everywhere on [0,1] with respect to  $\lambda + \nu$ .

Next, for  $x \in [0, 1]$ , we define  $h : [0, 1] \to \mathbb{R}$  by

$$h(x) = \frac{g(x)}{1 - g(x)}.$$
 (2.5)

Note that  $h \ge 0$  on [0,1] since  $0 \le g < 1$  on [0,1]. Let  $A \in \mathcal{B}$  and let  $f = \frac{1_A}{1-g}$ . Suppose  $f \in L^2(\lambda + \nu)$ . Then (2.4) can be written as

$$\int_0^1 \frac{1_A}{1-g} (1-g) \, d\nu = \int_0^1 \frac{1_A}{1-g} g \, d\lambda$$

or

$$\int_0^1 1_A \, d\nu = \int_0^1 \frac{1_A}{1-g} g \, d\lambda$$

 $\operatorname{So}$ 

$$\nu(A) = \int_0^1 1_A \, d\nu = \int_0^1 \frac{1_A}{1-g} g \, d\lambda = \int_A \frac{g}{1-g} \, d\lambda = \int_A h \, d\lambda,$$

hence

$$\nu(A) = \int_{A} h \, d\lambda. \tag{2.6}$$

However, we do not know whether  $f = \frac{1_A}{1-g} \in L^2(\lambda + \nu)$ . Thus, we justify (2.6) as follows. Let  $A \in \mathcal{B}$  and  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ . We define

$$f_k(x) = \begin{cases} \frac{1_A(x)}{1-g(x)} & \text{if } \frac{1_A(x)}{1-g(x)} \le k \\ 0 & \text{if } \frac{1_A(x)}{1-g(x)} > k \end{cases}$$

Note that for any  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ , we have  $0 \leq f_k \leq f$ ,  $0 \leq f_k \leq k$  and  $\{f_k\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$  is an increasing sequence. Also note that,  $f_k \in L^2(\lambda + \nu)$  for all  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ . Then, let  $f = f_k$  in (2.4), we have

$$\int_{0}^{1} f_{k}(1-g) \, d\nu = \int_{0}^{1} f_{k}g \, d\lambda \tag{2.7}$$

for all  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ . Observe that  $\{f_k(1-g)\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$  and  $\{f_kg\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$  are increasing sequences of nonnegative functions. Also note that

$$f_k(x)(1-g(x)) = \begin{cases} 1_A(x) & \frac{1_A(x)}{1-g(x)} \le k \\ 0 & \frac{1_A(x)}{1-g(x)} > k. \end{cases}$$

We have 2 cases for  $\frac{1_A(x)}{1-g(x)}$ .

Case 1.  $x \in [0,1] - A$ . Then  $f_k(x) = 0$  for all  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ . Thus,  $f_k(x)(1 - g(x)) = 0$  for all  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ . Hence,  $f_k(x)(1 - g(x)) \to 1_A(x) \to 0$ .

Case 2.  $x \in A$ . We choose  $k \ge \frac{1}{1-g(x)}$ . Then

$$\frac{1_A(x)}{1-g(x)} = \frac{1}{1-g(x)} \le k \implies f_k(x)(1-g(x)) = 1_A(x) = 1,$$

which implies  $f_k(x)(1-g(x)) \to 1$ . This establishes that

$$f_k(1-g)$$
 increases to  $1_A$  on  $[0,1]$ . (2.8)

Similarly,

$$f_k g$$
 increases to  $\frac{1_A}{1-g}g$  on  $[0,1]$ . (2.9)

Note that (2.7) gives

$$\lim_{k \to \infty} \int_0^1 f_k (1-g) \, d\nu = \lim_{k \to \infty} \int_0^1 f_k g \, d\lambda$$

which implies by Monotone Convergence Theorem [73],

$$\int_0^1 \lim_{k \to \infty} f_k (1-g) \, d\nu = \int_0^1 \lim_{k \to \infty} f_k g \, d\lambda$$

Using (2.8) and (2.9), we get

$$\nu(A) = \int_{A} d\nu = \int_{0}^{1} 1_{A} d\nu = \int_{0}^{1} \frac{1_{A}}{1-g} g d\lambda = \int_{A} \frac{g}{1-g} d\lambda,$$

where by using (2.5), for all  $A \in \mathcal{B}$  we get

$$\nu(A) = \int_A h \, d\lambda. \tag{2.10}$$

Finally, we need to show that  $h \in (L^1[0,1], \mathcal{B}, \lambda)$ . Let A = [0,1] in (2.10). Since  $\nu$  is a finite measure, we have

$$\nu([0,1]) = \int_0^1 h \, d\lambda < \infty.$$

Also, since  $h \ge 0$ , we have

$$||h||_1 = \int_0^1 |h| \ d\lambda = \int_0^1 h \ d\lambda < \infty$$

Therefore,  $h \in (L^1[0,1], \mathcal{B}, \lambda)$ .

THEOREM 2.12. If  $f \in L^1[0,1]$  and  $f \ge 0$ , then the measure  $\nu$  defined by

$$\nu(A) = \int_A f \ d\lambda$$

for all  $A \in \mathcal{B}$  is an absolutely continuous measure with respect to  $\lambda$ .

PROOF. By Lemma 2.10, we know that  $\nu$  is a measure. So all we need to show is that  $\nu$  is an absolutely continuous measure with respect to  $\lambda$ . Let  $\lambda(A) = 0$ . Since the integral over a zero measure set equals zero, we have

$$\nu(A) = \int_A f \, d\lambda = 0.$$

Hence,  $\lambda(A) = 0 \implies \nu(A) = 0$ . Thus  $\nu$  is an absolutely continuous measure with respect to  $\lambda$ .

DEFINITION 2.13. A transformation  $S : [0, 1] \rightarrow [0, 1]$  is measurable [45] if for all  $A \in \mathcal{B}$ 

$$S^{-1}(A) \in \mathcal{B}.$$

DEFINITION 2.14. A measurable transformation  $S : [0,1] \rightarrow [0,1]$  is nonsingular [45] if for all  $A \in \mathcal{B}$ 

$$\lambda(A) = 0 \implies \lambda(S^{-1}(A)) = 0.$$

To construct the Frobenius-Perron operator, we need the following theorem.

THEOREM 2.15. Assume that  $S : [0, 1] \to [0, 1]$  be a measurable and nonsingular transformation. Let  $f \in L^1[0, 1]$  to be a nonnegative function. Then

$$\nu(A) = \int_{S^{-1}(A)} f \, d\lambda$$

is a finite measure such that  $\nu \ll \lambda$ .

PROOF. We will start the proof with the following claims.

Claim 1. Let  $A_n$  be disjoint sets in  $\mathcal{B}$ . Then

$$S^{-1}\left(\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} (A_n)\right) = \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} S^{-1}(A_n).$$

Proof. Let

$$x \in S^{-1}\left(\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} (A_n)\right) \iff S(x) \in \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n \iff S(x) \in A_n, \text{ for some } n$$
$$\iff x \in S^{-1}(A_n) \text{ for some } n \iff x \in \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} S^{-1}(A_n)$$

Therefore,

$$S^{-1}\left(\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} (A_n)\right) = \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} S^{-1}(A_n).$$

Claim 2.  $\nu$  is a finite measure.

- ${\rm Proof.} \quad {\rm Let} \ f \in L^1[0,1].$
- (1) Note that

$$\nu(\phi) = \int_{S^{-1}(\phi)} f \, d\lambda = \int_{\phi} f \, d\lambda = 0.$$

Hence,  $\nu(\phi) = 0$ .

(2) Since by assumption  $f \ge 0$ , we have

$$\int_{S^{-1}(A)} f \ d\lambda \ge 0.$$

Therefore,  $\nu(A) \ge 0$ .

(3) Let  $\{A_i\}_{i=1}^{\infty}$  be disjoint sets. Using Claim 1, we have

$$\nu\left(\bigcup_{i=1}^{\infty} A_i\right) = \int_{S^{-1}(\bigcup_{i=1}^{\infty} A_i)} f \, d\lambda = \int_{\bigcup_{i=1}^{\infty} S^{-1}(A_i)} f \, d\lambda$$
$$= \int_0^1 f \mathbb{1}_{\bigcup_{i=1}^{\infty} S^{-1}(A_i)} \, d\lambda = \int_0^1 f \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \mathbb{1}_{S^{-1}(A_i)} \, d\lambda$$
$$= \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \int_{S^{-1}(A_i)} f \, d\lambda = \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \nu(A_i).$$

Hence,

$$\nu(\bigcup_{i=1}^{\infty} A_i) = \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \nu(A_i).$$

Therefore, by (1), (2), and (3)  $\nu$  is a measure. In addition, since f is integrable [61],  $\nu$  is a finite measure.

Next we prove that  $\nu$  is an absolutely continuous measure with respect to  $\lambda$ . Assume that  $\lambda(A) = 0$  for all  $A \in \mathcal{B}$ . Since S is a nonsingular transformation,  $\lambda(S^{-1}(A)) = 0$ . So,

$$\nu(A) = \int_{S^{-1}(A)} f \, d\lambda = 0.$$

Thus,  $\nu(A) = 0$  whenever  $\lambda(A) = 0$  for all  $A \in \mathcal{B}$ . Therefore,  $\nu$  is an absolutely continuous measure with respect to  $\lambda$ .

Since the assumption of  $\nu \ll \mu$  in Theorem 2.15 is fulfilled, by Radon-Nikodym Theorem, there exists a unique nonnegative function  $h \in L^1[0, 1]$  such that

$$\nu(A) = \int_A h \ d\lambda$$

for any  $A \in \mathcal{B}$ . So we have

$$\int_A h \ d\lambda = \int_{S^{-1}(A)} f \ d\lambda.$$

Since h depends on f, denoting h by  $P_S f$ , we have

$$\int_{A} P_{S} f \, d\lambda = \int_{S^{-1}(A)} f \, d\lambda, \qquad (2.11)$$

when  $f \in L^1[0,1]$  and  $f \ge 0$ .

Note that equation (2.11) can be generalize to any  $f \in L^1[0,1]$  as follows. Suppose  $f \in L^1[0,1]$ . We write  $f = f^+ - f^-$ , and we define  $P_S f = P_S f^+ - P_S f^$ for any  $f \in L^1[0,1]$ . Then by the linearity of the integral, the fact that  $f^+ \ge 0$  and  $f^- \ge 0$ , and equation (2.11), we get

$$\int_{A} P_{S} f \, d\lambda = \int_{A} P_{S} f^{+} \, d\lambda - \int_{A} P_{S} f^{-} \, d\lambda$$
$$= \int_{S^{-1}(A)} f^{+} \, d\lambda - \int_{S^{-1}(A)} f^{-} \, d\lambda$$
$$= \int_{S^{-1}(A)} (f^{+} - f^{-}) \, d\lambda = \int_{S^{-1}(A)} f \, d\lambda.$$

Hence for any  $f \in L^1[0,1]$ ,

$$\int_A P_S f \ d\lambda = \int_{S^{-1}(A)} f \ d\lambda.$$

Using the above discussion, we make a formal definition of the Frobenius-Perron operator.

DEFINITION 2.16. Let  $S : [0, 1] \to [0, 1]$  be a measurable and nonsingular transformation. Then the operator  $P_S : L^1[0, 1] \to L^1[0, 1]$  defined (implicitly) by

$$\int_{A} P_{S} f \, d\lambda = \int_{S^{-1}(A)} f \, d\lambda \qquad (2.12)$$

for any  $A \in \mathcal{B}$  is the *Frobenius-Perron* operator associated with transformation S.

If A is a subinterval of [0, 1], Frobenius-Perron operator can be defined explicitly as the following remark shows.

REMARK 2.17. If  $A = [0, x] \subseteq [0, 1]$ , then (2.12) becomes

$$\int_{[0,x]} P_S f \, d\lambda = \int_{S^{-1}([0,x])} f \, d\lambda.$$

By differentiating both sides with respect to x, we get

$$\frac{d}{dx}\int_{[0,x]} P_S f \ d\lambda = \frac{d}{dx}\int_{S^{-1}([0,x])} f \ d\lambda.$$

Then by using the Fundamental Theorem of Calculus [67],  $P_S f(x)$  can be written explicitly as

$$P_S f(x) = \frac{d}{dx} \int_{S^{-1}([0,x])} f(t) \, dt, \ x \in [0,1].$$
(2.13)

We summarize some properties of the Frobenius-Perron operator in the next lemma.

LEMMA 2.18. Let  $P_S$  be a Frobenius-Perron operator. Then we have the following statements:

(a)  $P_S$  is a linear operator; that is,

$$P_S(\alpha_1 f_1 + \alpha_2 f_2) = \alpha_1 P_S f_1 + \alpha_2 P_S f_2$$

for all  $f_1, f_2 \in L^1[0, 1]$  and  $\alpha_1, \alpha_2 \in \mathbb{R}$ .

- (b)  $P_S$  is a positive operator; that is, if  $f \ge 0$ , then  $P_S f \ge 0$ .
- (c)  $P_S$  preserves the integral; that is,  $\int_0^1 P_S f \, d\lambda = \int_0^1 f \, d\lambda$  for any  $f \in L^1[0,1]$ .

#### PROOF.

(a) Let  $f_1, f_2 \in L^1[0, 1]$  and  $\alpha_1, \alpha_2 \in \mathbb{R}$ . Then by the linearity of the integral and the definiton of  $P_S$ , we have

$$\int_{A} P_{S}(\alpha_{1}f_{1} + \alpha_{2}f_{2}) d\lambda = \int_{S^{-1}(A)} (\alpha_{1}f_{1} + \alpha_{2}f_{2}) d\lambda$$
$$= \int_{S^{-1}(A)} \alpha_{1}f_{1} d\lambda + \int_{S^{-1}(A)} \alpha_{2}f_{2} d\lambda$$
$$= \alpha_{1} \int_{S^{-1}(A)} f_{1} d\lambda + \alpha_{2} \int_{S^{-1}(A)} f_{2} d\lambda$$

$$= \alpha_1 \int_A P_S f_1 \, d\lambda + \alpha_2 \int_A P_S f_2 \, d\lambda$$
$$= \int_A (\alpha_1 P_S f_1 + \alpha_2 P_S f_2) \, d\lambda.$$

Hence, for all  $f_1, f_2 \in L^1[0, 1]$  and  $\alpha_1, \alpha_2 \in \mathbb{R}$ ,

$$P_S(\alpha_1 f_1 + \alpha_2 f_2) = \alpha_1 P_S f_1 + \alpha_2 P_S f_2.$$

(b) Let  $f \in L^1[0,1]$  and  $f \ge 0$ . Then

$$\int_{A} P_{S} f \, d\lambda = \int_{S^{-1}(A)} f \, d\lambda \ge 0$$

for any  $A \in \mathcal{B}$ . It follows that  $f \ge 0$  implies  $P_S f \ge 0$ . (c) For any  $f \in L^1[0, 1]$ . Since  $S^{-1}([0, 1]) = [0, 1]$ , because [0, 1] is the whole set, we have

$$\int_0^1 P_S f \, d\lambda = \int_{S^{-1}([0,1])} f \, d\lambda = \int_0^1 f \, d\lambda.$$

REMARK 2.19. Note that Lemma 2.18 tells us that Frobenius-Perron operator is a Markov operator. Therefore, all the properties of Markov operators apply to Frobenius-Perron operators.

DEFINITION 2.20. Consider the measure space  $(L^1[0,1], \mathcal{B}, \lambda)$ . Let  $P_S$  be the Frobenius-Perron operator associated with a measurable and nonsingular transformation  $S : [0,1] \rightarrow [0,1]$ . The function f is a *stationary density* function if f is a density function which is also a fixed point of  $P_S$ ; that is, f is a density function that satisfies  $P_S f = f$ .
DEFINITION 2.21. Let T be a linear operator from  $L^1[0,1]$  to  $L^1[0,1]$ . Then 1-norm of T [57] is defined by

$$||T||_1 = \sup \left\{ \frac{||Tf||_1}{||f||_1} : f \in L^1[0,1] \text{ and } f \neq 0 \right\}.$$

LEMMA 2.22. If  $P_S$  is a Frobenius-Perron operator, then  $||P_S||_1 = 1$ .

PROOF. Note that  $P_S$  is a Markov operator. Then by (4) of Lemma 2.4, we have

$$||P_S f||_1 \leq ||f||_1$$

for any  $f \in L^1[0, 1]$ . In particular, if  $f \ge 0$ , then by (M2) of Definition 2.2, we have  $\|P_S f\|_1 = \|f\|_1$ . Thus, for any  $f \in L^1[0, 1]$ 

$$||P_S||_1 = \sup\left\{\frac{||P_Sf||_1}{||f||_1} : f \in L^1[0,1] \text{ and } f \neq 0\right\} = 1.$$

### 2.3 Koopman Operator

To justify (1.3), we utilize another operator that is called a Koopman operator defined as follows:

DEFINITION 2.23. Let  $(L^1[0,1], \mathcal{B}, \lambda)$  be a measure space,  $S : [0,1] \to [0,1]$  be a measurable and nonsingular transformation, and  $f \in L^{\infty}([0,1])$ , where  $L^{\infty}[0,1]$  is the space of bounded continuous functions [12]. The operator  $K_S : L^{\infty}[0,1] \to L^{\infty}[0,1]$ defined by

$$K_S f(x) = f(S(x)) \tag{2.14}$$

for any  $x \in [0, 1]$  is called a *Koopman* operator associated with S.

Note that the nonsingularity of transformation S assures that Koopman operator is well-defined. To see this, we let  $f_1 = f_2$  almost everywhere with respect to  $\lambda$ . If we define a set  $A = \{x : f_1(S(x)) \neq f_2(S(x))\}$ , then  $S(A) = \{S(x) : f_1(S(x)) \neq f_2(S(x))\}$ . By letting y = S(x), we get  $S(A) = \{y : f_1(y) \neq f_2(y)\}$ . Since by assumption we have  $f_1 = f_2$ , then  $\lambda(S(A)) = 0$ . By the nonsingularity of S, we have  $\lambda(A) = \lambda(S^{-1}(S(A))) = 0$ . Therefore,  $f_1(S(x)) = f_2(S(x))$  almost everywhere with respect to  $\lambda$ . That is,  $K_S f_1(x) = K_S f_2(x)$ . Thus, Koopman operator is well-defined.

LEMMA 2.24. Let  $K_S$  be a Koopman operator associated with S, and  $P_S$  be the Frobenius-Perron operator associated with S. Then for all  $f \in L^1[0, 1]$  and  $g \in L^{\infty}[0, 1]$ , Koopman operator is the adjoint of the the Frobenius-Perron operator; that is,

$$\langle P_S f, g \rangle = \langle f, K_S g \rangle.$$

PROOF. First let  $g = 1_A$ , where  $A \in \mathcal{B}$ . Note that

$$1_{A}(S(x)) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } S(x) \in A \\ 0 & \text{if } S(x) \notin A \end{cases}$$
$$= \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } x \in S^{-1}(A) \\ 0 & \text{if } x \notin S^{-1}(A) \end{cases}$$
$$= 1_{S^{-1}(A)}(x).$$

Thus

$$1_A(S(x)) = 1_{S^{-1}(A)}(x). (2.15)$$

So, using the definition of Frobenius-Perron operator (2.12), the definition of Koopman operator (2.14), and (2.15), we have

$$\langle P_S f, 1_A \rangle = \int_0^1 1_A P_S f \, d\lambda = \int_A P_S f \, d\lambda$$

$$= \int_{S^{-1}(A)} f \, d\lambda = \int_0^1 1_{S^{-1}(A)} f \, d\lambda$$

$$= \int_0^1 1_A(S) f \, d\lambda = \int_0^1 K_S 1_A f \, d\lambda$$

$$= \langle f, K_S 1_A \rangle.$$

It follows that by the linearity of the Lebesgue integral, the statement is true for any simple function,  $g = \sum_{k=1}^{n} a_k I_{A_k}$ , and hence for all  $g \in L^{\infty}[0,1]$  [59].

## 2.4 Invariant Measure

Another concept we need is an invariant measure under a measurable and nonsingular transformation S.

DEFINITION 2.25. Consider the measure space  $(L^1[0,1], \mathcal{B}, \mu)$ . Let  $S : [0,1] \rightarrow [0,1]$  be a measurable and nonsingular transformation. Then S is  $\mu$ -measure preserving if for all  $A \in \mathcal{B}$ 

$$\mu(S^{-1}(A)) = \mu(A). \tag{2.16}$$

If S is  $\mu$ -measure preserving, then we also say  $\mu$  is an *invariant* measure under S [11].

The following theorem gives the connection between an invariant measure and

a stationary density function of  $P_S$ .

THEOREM 2.26. Consider the measure space  $(L^1[0,1], \mathcal{B}, \lambda)$ . Let  $S : [0,1] \rightarrow [0,1]$  be a measurable and nonsingluar transformation, and  $P_S$  be the Frobenius-Perron operator associated with S. Then the probability measure defined by

$$\mu(A) = \int_{A} f^* d\lambda \qquad (2.17)$$

is an invariant probability measure under S if and only if  $f^* \in L^1[0, 1]$  is a stationary density function of  $P_S$ .

PROOF. Let  $f^* \in L^1[0,1]$  be a density function and  $P_S$  be the Frobenius-Perron operator associated S. First, we assume that  $\mu$  is an invariant measure under S; that is by (2.16) for all  $A \in \mathcal{B}$ ,  $\mu(A) = \mu(S^{-1}(A))$ . So by using (2.17) and (2.12), we have

$$\int_A f^* d\lambda = \int_{S^{-1}(A)} f^* d\lambda = \int_A P_S f^* d\lambda.$$

Hence,

$$P_S f^* = f^*$$

for all  $f^* \in L^1[0,1]$ , which means  $f^*$  is a stationary density function of  $P_S$ .

For the other direction, we assume that  $f^*$  is a stationary density function of  $P_S$ ; that is,  $P_S f^* = f^*$ . Note that by (2.17) and the definition of Frobenius-Perron operator (2.12), we have for any  $A \in \mathcal{B}$ 

$$\mu(A) = \int_A f^* d\lambda = \int_A P_S f^* d\lambda$$

$$= \int_{S^{-1}(A)} f^* \, d\lambda = \mu(S^{-1}(A))$$

Hence, for any  $A \in \mathcal{B}$ 

$$\mu(A) = \mu(S^{-1}(A)).$$

Therefore,  $\mu$  is an invariant measure under S.

REMARK 2.27. The importance of computing the stationary density function  $f^*$  of  $P_S$  is shown in Theorem 2.26 because by using  $f^*$ , we can generate the invariant measure under S.

In the following three examples, we illustrate Theorem 2.26. We will show that  $f^*$  is a stationary density of  $P_S$ , and hence if we define measure  $\mu$  by  $\mu(A) = \int_A f^* d\lambda$ , then  $\mu$  is an invariant measure under S for all  $A \in \mathcal{B}$ .

EXAMPLE 2.28. Let

$$S(x) = \begin{cases} \frac{2x}{1-x^2} & 0 \le x \le \sqrt{2} - 1\\ \frac{1-x^2}{2x} & \sqrt{2} - 1 \le x \le 1 \end{cases}$$

and

$$f^*(x) = \frac{4}{\pi(1+x^2)}.$$

PROOF. Let

$$S_1(x) = \frac{2x}{1-x^2}$$
 for  $0 \le x \le \sqrt{2} - 1$  and  $S_2(x) = \frac{1-x^2}{2x}$  for  $\sqrt{2} - 1 \le x \le 1$ .

Then

$$S_1^{-1}(x) = \frac{x}{\sqrt{x^2 + 1} + 1} \text{ for } 0 \le x \le 1;$$
  
$$S_2^{-1}(x) = -x + \sqrt{x^2 + 1} \text{ for } 0 \le x \le 1.$$

Then by the explicit definition of  $P_S$  in (2.13) and the Fundamental Theorem of Calculus, we have

$$P_{S}f^{*}(x) = \frac{d}{dx} \int_{S^{-1}[0,x]} f^{*}(t) dt$$

$$= \int_{0}^{\sqrt{x^{2}+1+1}} f^{*}(t) dt + \int_{-x+\sqrt{x^{2}+1}}^{1} f^{*}(t) dt$$

$$= f^{*} \left(\frac{x}{\sqrt{x^{2}+1}+1}\right) \frac{d}{dx} \left(\frac{x}{\sqrt{x^{2}+1}+1}\right)$$

$$- f^{*} \left(-x+\sqrt{x^{2}+1}\right) \frac{d}{dx} \left(-x+\sqrt{x^{2}+1}\right)$$

$$= \frac{4}{\pi \left(1 + \left(\frac{x}{\sqrt{x^{2}+1}+1}\right)^{2}\right)} \frac{\sqrt{x^{2}+1}+1-x\left(\frac{x}{\sqrt{x^{2}+1}}\right)}{(\sqrt{x^{2}+1}+1)^{2}}$$

$$- \frac{4}{\pi (1+(-x+\sqrt{x^{2}+1})^{2})} \left(-1 + \frac{x}{\sqrt{x^{2}+1}}\right)$$

$$= \frac{4}{\pi \left(\frac{(\sqrt{x^{2}+1}+1)^{2}+x^{2}}{(\sqrt{x^{2}+1}+1)^{2}}\right)} \cdot \frac{\frac{x^{2}+1+\sqrt{x^{2}+1}-x^{2}}{\sqrt{x^{2}+1}+1}$$

$$- \frac{4}{\pi (1+x^{2}-2x\sqrt{x^{2}+1}+x^{2}+1)} \cdot \frac{-\sqrt{x^{2}+1}+x}{\sqrt{x^{2}+1}}$$

$$= \frac{4(\sqrt{x^{2}+1}+1)}{\pi ((\sqrt{x^{2}+1}+1)^{2}+x^{2})\sqrt{x^{2}+1}}$$

$$\begin{aligned} &+ \frac{2}{\pi(x^2 - x\sqrt{x^2 + 1} + 1)} \cdot \frac{\sqrt{x^2 + 1} - x}{\sqrt{x^2 + 1}} \\ &= \frac{4(\sqrt{x^2 + 1} + 1)}{\pi((x^2 + 1 + 2\sqrt{x^2 + 1} + 1 + x^2)\sqrt{x^2 + 1})} \\ &+ \frac{2(\sqrt{x^2 + 1} - x)}{\pi(x^2\sqrt{x^2 + 1} - x^3 - x + \sqrt{x^2 + 1})} \\ &= \frac{2(\sqrt{x^2 + 1} + 1)}{\pi((x^2 + 1)\sqrt{x^2 + 1} + (x^2 + 1))} + \frac{2(\sqrt{x^2 + 1} - x)}{\pi((x^2 + 1)\sqrt{x^2 + 1} - x(x^2 + 1))} \\ &= \frac{2(\sqrt{x^2 + 1} + 1)}{\pi(x^2 + 1)(\sqrt{x^2 + 1} + 1)} + \frac{2(\sqrt{x^2 + 1} - x)}{\pi(x^2 + 1)(\sqrt{x^2 + 1} - x)} \\ &= \frac{2}{\pi(x^2 + 1)} + \frac{2}{\pi(x^2 + 1)} = \frac{4}{\pi(x^2 + 1)} = f^*(x). \end{aligned}$$

Therefore,  $P_S f^* = f^*$ . So  $f^*$  is a stationary density function of  $P_S$ . Thus  $\mu(A) = \int_A f^* d\lambda$  is an invariant measure under S for all  $A \in \mathcal{B}$ .

EXAMPLE 2.29. Let

$$S(x) = \begin{cases} \frac{2x}{1-x} & 0 \le x \le \frac{1}{3} \\ \frac{1-x}{2x} & \frac{1}{3} \le x \le 1, \end{cases}$$

and let

$$f^*(x) = \frac{2}{(1+x)^2}$$

PROOF. Let

$$S_1(x) = \frac{2x}{1-x}$$
 for  $0 \le x \le \frac{1}{3}$  and  $S_2(x) = \frac{1-x}{2x}$  for  $\frac{1}{3} \le x \le 1$ .

Then the inverse images of  $S_1$  and  $S_2$  are

$$S_1^{-1}(x) = \frac{x}{2+x}$$
 for  $0 \le x \le 1$ ;  
 $S_2^{-1}(x) = \frac{1}{2x+1}$  for  $0 \le x \le 1$ .

By (2.13), we have

$$P_{S}f^{*}(x) = \frac{d}{dx} \int_{S^{-1}[0,x]} f^{*}(t) dt$$

$$= \int_{0}^{\frac{x}{2+x}} f^{*}(t) dt + \int_{\frac{1}{2x+1}}^{1} f^{*}(t) dt$$

$$= f^{*}\left(\frac{x}{2+x}\right) \frac{d}{dx}\left(\frac{x}{2+x}\right) - f^{*}\left(\frac{1}{2x+1}\right) \frac{d}{dx}\left(\frac{1}{2x+1}\right)$$

$$= \frac{2}{\left(1+\frac{x}{2+x}\right)^{2}} \frac{2+x-x}{(2+x)^{2}} - \frac{2}{\left(1+\frac{1}{2x+1}\right)^{2}} \frac{-2}{(2x+1)^{2}}$$

$$= \frac{2}{4\left(\frac{1+x}{2+x}\right)^{2}} \frac{2}{(2+x)^{2}} + \frac{2}{4\left(\frac{x+1}{2x+1}\right)^{2}} \frac{2}{(2x+1)^{2}}$$

$$= \frac{1}{(1+x)^{2}} + \frac{1}{(x+1)^{2}} = \frac{2}{(1+x)^{2}} = f^{*}(x).$$

Hence,  $f^*$  is a stationary density function of  $P_S$ . Therefore,  $\mu(A) = \int_A f^* d\lambda$  is an invariant measure under S for all  $A \in \mathcal{B}$ .

EXAMPLE 2.30. Let

$$S(x) = \left(\frac{1}{8} - 2\left|x - \frac{1}{2}\right|^3\right)^{1/3} + \frac{1}{2}$$

and let

$$f^*(x) = 12\left(x - \frac{1}{2}\right)^2.$$

PROOF. The inverse images of S is

$$S_1^{-1}(x) = \frac{1}{2} - \left(\frac{\frac{1}{8} - \left(x - \frac{1}{2}\right)^3}{2}\right)^{1/3}$$
 for  $0 \le x \le \frac{1}{2}$ 

and

$$S_2^{-1}(x) = \frac{1}{2} + \left(\frac{\frac{1}{8} - \left(x - \frac{1}{2}\right)^3}{2}\right)^{1/3} \text{ for } \frac{1}{2} \le x \le 1.$$

By (2.13), we have

$$P_{S}f^{*}(x) = \frac{d}{dx} \int_{S^{-1}[0,x]} f^{*}(t) dt$$

$$= \int_{0}^{\frac{1}{2} - \left(\frac{\frac{1}{8} - \left(x - \frac{1}{2}\right)^{3}}{2}\right)^{1/3}} f^{*}(t) dt + \int_{\frac{1}{2} + \left(\frac{\frac{1}{8} - \left(x - \frac{1}{2}\right)^{3}}{2}\right)^{1/3}} \int_{0}^{1/3} f^{*}(t) dt$$

$$= f^{*}\left(\frac{1}{2} - \left(\frac{\frac{1}{8} - \left(x - \frac{1}{2}\right)^{3}}{2}\right)^{1/3}\right) \frac{d}{dx}\left(\frac{1}{2} - \left(\frac{\frac{1}{8} - \left(x - \frac{1}{2}\right)^{3}}{2}\right)^{1/3}\right)\right)$$

$$- f^{*}\left(\frac{1}{2} + \left(\frac{\frac{1}{8} - \left(x - \frac{1}{2}\right)^{3}}{2}\right)^{1/3} - \frac{1}{2}\right)^{2} \frac{\left(x - \frac{1}{2}\right)^{2}}{\left(2\left(\frac{1}{8} - \left(x - \frac{1}{2}\right)^{3}\right)^{2}\right)^{1/3}}$$

$$- 12\left(\frac{1}{2} + \left(\frac{\frac{1}{8} - \left(x - \frac{1}{2}\right)^{3}}{2}\right)^{1/3} - \frac{1}{2}\right)^{2} \frac{-\left(x - \frac{1}{2}\right)^{2}}{\left(2\left(\frac{1}{8} - \left(x - \frac{1}{2}\right)^{3}\right)^{2}\right)^{1/3}}$$

$$= 6\left(x - \frac{1}{2}\right)^{2} + 6\left(x - \frac{1}{2}\right)^{2}$$

$$= 12\left(x-\frac{1}{2}\right)^2 = f^*(x)$$

Hence,  $f^*$  is a stationary density function of  $P_S$ . Therefore,  $\mu(A) = \int_A f^* d\lambda$  is an invariant measure under S for all  $A \in \mathcal{B}$ .

### 2.5 Ergodic Transformation

To use Ergodic theory, which is important in the existence and uniqueness of the stationary density function of  $P_S$ , we utilize ergodic transformation. However, before we give the definition of an ergodic transformation, we will start with the definition of an invariant set.

DEFINITION 2.31. Consider the measure space  $(L^1[0,1], \mathcal{B}, \lambda)$ . A set  $A \in \mathcal{B}$  is called an *invariant set* under S [11] if it satisfies

$$S^{-1}(A) = A.$$

DEFINITION 2.32. Consider the measure space  $(L^1[0,1], \mathcal{B}, \lambda)$ . The measurable and nonsingular transformation  $S : [0,1] \to [0,1]$  is *ergodic* [68] if for every invariant set under S, for instance  $A \in \mathcal{B}$ , we have

$$\lambda(A) = 0 \text{ or } \lambda(A^c) = 0.$$

In other words, S is *ergodic* if all the invariant sets A are trivial elements of  $\mathcal{B}$ .

The following result can be helpful to check whether the transformation S is ergodic.

LEMMA 2.33. Consider the measure space  $(L^1[0,1], \mathcal{B}, \lambda)$ . Assume that  $S: [0,1] \rightarrow$ 

[0, 1] is a measurable and nonsingluar transformation. Then S is ergodic if and only if for every  $f \in L^1[0, 1]$  that satisfies

$$f(S(x)) = f(x) \tag{2.18}$$

for all  $x \in [0, 1]$  implies that f is a constant function.

PROOF. First we will prove the forward direction, which is if S is ergodic, then f that satisfies f(S(x)) = f(x) is constant, by the way of contradiction. So, we assume that S is ergodic, and f that satisfies f(S(x)) = f(x) is not constant. Then there exists some  $r \in \mathbb{R}$  such that both

$$A = \{x : f(x) \ge r\}$$
 and  $A^c = \{x : f(x) < r\}$ 

have positive measures. Therefore, A and  $A^c$  are nontrivial sets; that is,  $\lambda(A) > 0$ and  $\lambda(A^c) > 0$ . However, A and  $A^c$  are invariant sets under S. This can be seen, using the equation (2.18), as follows:

$$S^{-1}(A) = \{x : S(x) \in A\} = \{x : f(S(x)) \ge r\}$$
$$= \{x : f(x) \ge r\} = A.$$

Similarly,  $S^{-1}(A^c) = A^c$ . Thus, S is not ergodic, and this contradicts the assumption. Therefore, f is a constant function.

For the other direction, suppose that f that satisfies f(S(x)) = f(x) is constant, and S is not ergodic. Then, there exists an invariant set  $A \in \mathcal{B}$  such that  $\lambda(A)$  and  $\lambda(A^c)$  are both positive. Let  $f = 1_A$ . Since A is invariant under S, using (2.15) we have

$$f(S(x)) = 1_A(S(x)) = 1_{S^{-1}(A)}(x) = 1_A(x) = f(x).$$

Since  $\lambda(A)$  and  $\lambda(A^c)$  are both positive, f that satisfies f(S(x)) = f(x) is not constant, which is a contradiction. It follows that S is ergodic.

In Theorem 2.35, which will be stated later, we will prove that the ergodicity of S assures that if there is a stationary density  $f^*$  of  $P_S$ , then  $f^*$  is unique. This result will be used in Section 6.4 to show the uniqueness of the given  $f^*$ . In order to prove this, we need first to prove the following lemma.

LEMMA 2.34. Let  $S : [0,1] \rightarrow [0,1]$  be a measurable and nonsingular transformation, and  $P_S$  be the Frobenius-Perron operator associated with S. Assume that  $f \in L^1[0,1], f \ge 0$ . Then

supp 
$$f \subseteq S^{-1}(\text{supp } P_S f)$$
.

PROOF. Note that since  $f \ge 0$ , by using the definition of Frobenius-Perron operator (2.12), we have

$$P_S f(x) = 0 \text{ for all } x \in A \iff 0 = \int_A P_S f \, d\lambda = \int_{S^{-1}(A)} f \, d\lambda$$
$$\iff f(x) = 0 \text{ for all } x \in S^{-1}(A).$$

So, in summary, for every  $A \in \mathcal{B}$ ,

 $P_S f = 0$  on A if and only if f = 0 on  $S^{-1}(A)$  for any  $A \in \mathcal{B}$ . (2.19)

We specialize this result with

$$A = (\operatorname{supp} P_S f)^c.$$

Note that

$$S^{-1}(A) = S^{-1}((\text{supp } P_S f))^c = (S^{-1}(\text{supp } P_S f))^c.$$
 (2.20)

Suppose  $x \in A = (\text{supp } P_S f)^c$ , then  $x \notin \text{supp } P_S f$ , and hence  $P_S f(x) = 0$ . This means that  $P_S f = 0$  on A. By (2.19), f = 0 on  $S^{-1}(A)$ . So,  $x \in S^{-1}(A)$ , implies f(x) = 0, and hence  $x \notin \text{supp } f$  which implies  $x \in (\text{supp } f)^c$ . So we have  $S^{-1}(A) \subseteq$  $(\text{supp } f)^c$ . Hence supp  $f \subseteq (S^{-1}(A))^c$ , which is, by using (2.20),

$$\operatorname{supp} f \subseteq S^{-1}(\operatorname{supp} P_S f).$$

THEOREM 2.35. Consider the measure space  $(L^1[0,1], \mathcal{B}, \lambda)$ . Let  $S : [0,1] \rightarrow [0,1]$  be a measurable and nonsingluar transformation and  $P_S$  be the Frobenius-Perron operator associated with S. If S is ergodic, then there is at most one stationary density  $f^*$  of  $P_S$ . Further, if there is a unique stationary density  $f^*$  of  $P_S$  and  $f^* > 0$ , then S is ergodic.

PROOF. Assume that S is ergodic. Suppose that there exist two different stationary densities  $f_1$  and  $f_2$  of  $P_S$ ; that is,  $P_S f_1 = f_1$ , and  $P_S f_2 = f_2$ . Let  $g = f_1 - f_2$ . Then by the linearity of  $P_S$ , we have

$$P_S g = P_S(f_1 - f_2) = P_S f_1 - P_S f_2 = f_1 - f_2 = g_2$$

Hence,  $P_S g = g$ . Then by theorem 2.7,  $P_S g^+ = g^+$  and  $Pg^- = g^-$ . Note that the supports of  $g^+$  and  $g^-$  are disjoint by the definition of positive part and negative part of g. Hence, if we define sets A and B by

$$A = \text{supp } g^+ = \{x : g^+(x) > 0\}$$
 and  $B = \text{supp } g^- = \{x : g^-(x) > 0\}$ 

then A and B are both disjoint and both have positive measures for the following reason. Suppose that  $g \ge 0$  or  $g \le 0$ . Since  $g = f_1 - f_2$ , and  $f_1 \ne f_2$ , then g > 0or g < 0. Without loss of generality, we assume that g > 0. So  $f_1 - f_2 > 0$ , then since  $f_1$  and  $f_2$  are both densities,  $0 = \int_0^1 f_1 - \int_0^1 f_2 > 0$ , which is a contradiction. Therefore, A and B are both disjoint and both have positive measures. By using lemma 2.34, it follows that,

$$A = \text{supp } g^+ \subseteq S^{-1}(\text{supp } P_S g^+) = S^{-1}(\text{supp } g^+) = S^{-1}(A).$$
(2.21)

Similarly, we have

$$B \subseteq S^{-1}(B).$$

Therefore,

$$A \subseteq S^{-1}(A)$$
 and  $B \subseteq S^{-1}(B)$ .

Note that  $S^{-1}(A)$  and  $S^{-1}(B)$  are disjoint sets as it stated and shown in the following claim.

Claim 1.  $S^{-1}(A)$  and  $S^{-1}(B)$  are disjoint.

Proof. Assume that  $S^{-1}(A)$  and  $S^{-1}(B)$  are not disjoint. Then there exists

$$x \in S^{-1}(A) \cap S^{-1}(B) \implies x \in S^{-1}(A) \text{ and } x \in S^{-1}(B)$$
  
 $\implies S(x) \in A \text{ and } S(x) \in B$   
 $\implies S(x) \in A \cap B.$ 

However, A and B were proven to be disjoint, which is a contradiction. Hence,  $S^{-1}(A)$  and  $S^{-1}(B)$  are disjoint.

By the same process as (2.21), we have

$$S^{-1}(A) = S^{-1}(\operatorname{supp} g^+) \subseteq S^{-1}(S^{-1}(\operatorname{supp} P_S g^+)) = S^{-2}(\operatorname{supp} g^+) = S^{-2}(A),$$

and similarly  $S^{-1}(B) \subseteq S^{-2}(B)$ , which follows by induction that

$$A \subseteq S^{-1}(A) \subseteq S^{-2}(A) \subseteq \ldots \subseteq S^{-n}(A)$$

and

$$B \subseteq S^{-1}(B) \subseteq S^{-2}(B) \subseteq \ldots \subseteq S^{-n}(B).$$

Note that also by induction on Claim 1, we have

$$S^{-n}(A)$$
 and  $S^{-n}(B)$  are also disjoint. (2.22)

We define

$$\tilde{A} = \bigcup_{n=0}^{\infty} S^{-n}(A)$$
 and  $\tilde{B} = \bigcup_{n=0}^{\infty} S^{-n}(B).$ 

Since A and B have positive measures,  $\tilde{A}$  and  $\tilde{B}$  also have positive measures. Moreover,  $\tilde{A}$  and  $\tilde{B}$  are disjoint as the following claim stated and shown.

Claim 2.  $\tilde{A}$  and  $\tilde{B}$  are disjoint.

Proof. Assume that  $\tilde{A}$  and  $\tilde{B}$  are not disjoint. Then there exists x such that  $x \in \tilde{A} \cap \tilde{B}$ . Therefore,

$$x \in \tilde{A} \text{ and } x \in \tilde{B} \implies x \in \bigcup_{n=0}^{\infty} S^{-n}(A) \text{ and } x \in \bigcup_{n=0}^{\infty} S^{-n}(B)$$

 $\implies x \in S^{-p}(A)$  for some p in  $\mathbb{Z}^+$  and  $x \in S^{-q}(B)$  for some q in  $\mathbb{Z}^+$ .

Let  $r = \max\{p, q\}$ . Then  $x \in S^{-r}(A) \cap S^{-r}(B)$ , which contradicts (2.22). Therefore,  $\tilde{A}$  and  $\tilde{B}$  are disjoint.

Claim 3.  $\tilde{A}$  and  $\tilde{B}$  are invariant sets under S.

Proof. Note that

$$S^{-1}(\tilde{A}) = S^{-1}\left(\bigcup_{n=0}^{\infty} S^{-n}(A)\right) = \bigcup_{n=0}^{\infty} S^{-n-1}(A) = \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} S^{-n}(A).$$

Also, note that

$$\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} S^{-n}(A) = \bigcup_{n=0}^{\infty} S^{-n}(A) \text{ since } S^{0}(A) = A \subseteq \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} S^{-n}(A).$$

Hence

$$S^{-1}(\tilde{A}) = \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} S^{-n}(A) = \bigcup_{n=0}^{\infty} S^{-n}(A) = \tilde{A}.$$

So  $S^{-1}(\tilde{A}) = \tilde{A}$ , and similarly,  $S^{-1}(\tilde{B}) = \tilde{B}$ . Thus  $\tilde{A}$  and  $\tilde{B}$  are invariant sets under S.

So  $\tilde{A}$  and  $\tilde{B}$  are disjoint, invariant sets under S, and both have positive measures, which contradicts the assumption that S is ergodic. Therefore, there is at most one stationary density  $f^*$  of  $P_S$ .

For the second part, suppose that there is a unique stationary density  $f^*$  of  $P_S$  and  $f^*(x) > 0$ . Assume that S is not ergodic. Then there is a nontrivial set, for instance A, that is invariant under S, where nontrivial set means that  $\lambda(A) > 0$  and  $\lambda(A^c) > 0$ . Let  $B = A^c$ . Then  $\lambda(B) > 0$  and B is invariant under S because  $S^{-1}(B) = S^{-1}(A^c) = (S^{-1}(A))^c = A^c = B$ . Note that  $f^*$  can be written as  $f^* =$ 

 $1_A f^* + 1_B f^*$ . Since  $f^*$  is a stationary density of  $P_S$  and by the linearity of  $P_S$ , we have

$$1_A f^* + 1_B f^* = f^* = P_S f^* = P_S (1_A f^* + 1_B f^*) = P_S (1_A f^*) + P_S (1_B f^*).$$

Hence,

$$1_A f^* + 1_B f^* = P_S(1_A f^*) + P_S(1_B f^*)$$

Since  $1_A f^*$  is nonnegative, by (2.19) we have

$$1_A f^* = 0 \text{ on } S^{-1}(B) \iff P_S(1_A f^*) = 0 \text{ on } B.$$

However,  $S^{-1}(B) = B$  and  $1_A f^* = 0$  on B, then  $P_S(1_A f^*) = 0$  on B. Thus

$$1_A f^* = P_S(1_A f^*)$$
 on *B*.

Also, by (2.19), we have

$$1_A f^* = P_S(1_A f^*)$$
 on A.

Therefore,

$$1_A f^* = P_S(1_A f^*)$$
 on  $[0, 1],$ 

which means that  $1_A f^*$  is a stationary function of  $P_S$ . Similarly, we have  $1_B f^*$  is a stationary function of  $P_S$ . We normalize  $1_A f^*$  and  $1_B f^*$  to make them densities of  $P_S$ , where normalization a function, for example g, means that we multiply g by a constant so that  $||g||_1 = 1$  [7, 51]. So we let

$$f_A = \frac{1_A f^*}{\|1_A f^*\|}$$
 and  $f_B = \frac{1_B f^*}{\|1_B f^*\|}$ 

Wherefore,  $f_A$  and  $f_B$  are stationary densities of  $P_S$ ; that is,  $f_A = P_S f_A$  and  $f_B =$ 

 $P_S f_B$ . Accordingly, there are two stationary densities of  $P_S$ , which contradicts the assumption of the unique existence of  $f^*$ . Therefore, S is ergodic.

LEMMA 2.36. Suppose that  $(L^1[0,1], \mathcal{B}, \mu)$  is a measure space and  $S : [0,1] \rightarrow [0,1]$  is a measurable and nonsingular transformation. Assume that  $\mu$  is an invariant measure under S, and  $f \in L^1[0,1]$ . Then for every  $A \in \mathcal{B}$ 

$$\int_{S^{-1}(A)} f(S) \ d\mu = \int_A f \ d\mu$$

PROOF. We start by letting  $f = 1_B$ . Note that by (2.15), we have  $1_B(S) = 1_{S^{-1}(B)}$ . Since  $\mu$  is an invariant measure under S, we have

$$\int_{S^{-1}(A)} 1_B(S) d\mu = \int_0^1 1_{S^{-1}(A)} 1_{S^{-1}(B)} d\mu = \int_0^1 1_{S^{-1}(A \cap B)} d\mu$$
$$= \int_{S^{-1}(A \cap B)} d\mu = \mu(S^{-1}(A \cap B))$$
$$= \mu(A \cap B).$$

On the other hand,

$$\int_{A} 1_{B} d\mu = \int_{0}^{1} 1_{A} 1_{B} d\mu = \int_{0}^{1} 1_{A \cap B} d\mu$$
$$= \int_{A \cap B} d\mu = \mu(A \cap B).$$

Therefore, when  $f = 1_B$ , the theorem is true. Clearly, the result is true for any simple function by the linearity of the integral. Let  $f \in L^1[0,1]$ . Since f can be written as  $f = f^+ - f^-$ , the integral of  $f^+$  and  $f^-$  is given by

$$\int_0^1 f^+ d\mu = \sup_{0 \le s_1 \le f^+} \left\{ \int_0^1 s_1 d\mu : s_1 \text{ is a simple function} \right\},$$

and

$$\int_0^1 f^- d\mu = \sup_{0 \le s_2 \ d\mu \le f^-} \left\{ \int_0^1 s_2 : s_2 \text{ is a simple function} \right\}.$$

So again by the linearity of integral the theorem is true for any  $f \in L^1[0,1]$ .

REMARK 2.37. Under the same assumption of Lemma 2.36, when the integral is taking over the whole domain [0, 1], the result of the theorem becomes

$$\int_0^1 f(S) \ d\mu = \int_0^1 f \ d\mu.$$

DEFINITION 2.38. Let  $S : [0, 1] \to [0, 1]$  be a measurable and nonsingular transformation. The set  $\{S^k(x_0)\}_{k=0}^{\infty}$  is called an *orbit* of S with an initial point  $x_0$  [64].

The following two theorems tell the importance of S being an ergodic transformation.

### Birkhoff's Pointwise Ergodic Theorem. Consider the measure space

 $(L^1[0,1], \mathcal{B}, \mu)$ . Let  $S : [0,1] \to [0,1]$  be a measurable and nonsingular transformation. Let the measure  $\mu$  be an invariant measure under S. If  $f \in L^1[0,1]$ , then there exists  $\tilde{f} \in L^1[0,1]$  such that  $\tilde{f}(S(x)) = \tilde{f}(x)$  and

$$\tilde{f}(x) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} f(S^k(x)).$$

Furthermore, if  $\mu$  is finite measure; that is,  $\mu([0,1]) < \infty$ , then

$$\int_0^1 \tilde{f} d\mu = \int_0^1 f d\mu.$$

(Birkhoff's Pointwise Ergodic Theorem can be found in [2].)

PROOF. We will only prove the last statement under further assumption that f is bounded. Let  $f_n(x) = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} f(S^k(x))$ . Remark 2.37 gives

$$\int_0^1 f_n \, d\mu = \int_0^1 \frac{1}{n} \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} f(S^k) \, d\mu$$
$$= \frac{1}{n} \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \int_0^1 f(S^k) \, d\mu = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \int_0^1 f \, d\mu$$
$$= \frac{1}{n} n \int_0^1 f \, d\mu = \int_0^1 f \, d\mu.$$

Hence,

$$\int_{0}^{1} f_n \, d\mu = \int_{0}^{1} f \, d\mu. \tag{2.23}$$

Since f is bounded, then there exists M > 0 such that  $|f| \le M$ . Consequently,

$$|f_n| = \left| \frac{1}{n} \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} f(S^k(x)) \right|$$
  
$$\leq \frac{1}{n} \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} |f(S^k(x))| \leq \frac{1}{n} \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} M$$
  
$$= \frac{1}{n} n M = M$$

for all n. Note that since  $\mu$  is finite,

$$\int_0^1 M \ d\mu = M\mu([0,1]) < \infty.$$

So, M is integrable. Therefore,  $f_n$  is bounded by an integrable function. Then we can apply the Dominated Convergence Theorem [53] and equation (2.23) to get,

$$\int_{0}^{1} \tilde{f} d\mu = \int_{0}^{1} \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} f(S^{k}) d\mu = \int_{0}^{1} \lim_{n \to \infty} f_{n} d\mu$$
$$= \lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{0}^{1} f_{n} d\mu = \lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{0}^{1} f d\mu = \int_{0}^{1} f d\mu.$$

Hence,

$$\int_0^1 \tilde{f} d\mu = \int_0^1 f d\mu.$$

THEOREM 2.39. Assume that  $S : [0,1] \to [0,1]$  is measurable, nonsingular, and ergodic. Suppose that the corresponding Frobenius-Perron operator has a unique stationary density  $f^*$ . Define the probability measure  $\mu$  such that for every  $A \in \mathcal{B}$ 

$$\mu(A) = \int_A f^* d\lambda. \tag{2.24}$$

Then for any integrable f, the average of f along the orbits of S with initial point  $x_0$  equals the average of f over the space [0, 1]. That is,

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} f(S^k(x)) = \int_0^1 f \, d\mu.$$
(2.25)

PROOF. First, since  $\mu$  is defined as in (2.24), then by Theorem 2.26  $\mu$  is an invariant measure under S. So it follows that, by Birkhoff's Pointwise Ergodic Theorem, there exists  $\tilde{f} \in L^1[0, 1]$  such that  $\tilde{f}(S(x)) = \tilde{f}(x)$ , and

$$\tilde{f}(x) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} f(S^k(x)).$$
(2.26)

Furthermore, since  $\mu$  is a probability measure, it is a finite measure, so Birkhoff's Pointwise Ergodic Theorem gives

$$\int_{0}^{1} \tilde{f} \, d\mu = \int_{0}^{1} f \, d\mu. \tag{2.27}$$

Also, since S is ergodic, by lemma 2.33,  $\tilde{f}$  is constant, and we write this constant as  $\alpha$ . So (2.26) can be written as

$$\alpha = \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} f(S^k(x))$$

for any x. Therefore, equation (2.27) becomes,

$$\int_0^1 f \, d\mu = \int_0^1 \tilde{f} \, d\mu = \int_0^1 \alpha \, d\mu = \alpha \int_0^1 d\mu = \alpha \mu([0,1]) = \alpha.$$

So

$$\alpha = \int_0^1 f \, d\mu.$$

Thus, for any  $x \in [0, 1]$ 

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} f(S^k(x)) = \int_0^1 f \, d\mu.$$

The next corollary verifies equation (1.3), which was observed and mentioned at the end of chapter 1.

COROLLARY 2.40. Assume that  $S : [0,1] \to [0,1]$  is measurable, nonsingular and ergodic. Suppose that  $\mu$  is an invariant probability measure under S defined in (2.24). Then for all  $x \in [0,1]$ , and for any set  $A \in \mathcal{B}$ , the fraction of the number of the points  $\{S^k(x)\}$  in A as  $k \to \infty$  is given by  $\mu(A)$ . That is,

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} 1_A(S^k(x)) = \mu(A).$$

PROOF. Let  $f = 1_A$  in (2.25). Then

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \mathbb{1}_A(S^k(x)) = \int_0^1 \mathbb{1}_A \, d\mu = \int_A \, d\mu = \mu(A).$$

Corollary 2.40 is a promised justification of (1.3), mentioned in Chapter 1. In the following example, we strengthen Example 1.1 given in Chapter 1 using Corollary 2.40 by adding the true values.

EXAMPLE 2.41. Let the transformation S be from Example 2.29, Then  $f^*(x) = \frac{2}{(1+x)^2}$  is the stationary density function of  $P_S$ . Let  $I_j = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{j-1}{10}, \frac{j}{10} \end{bmatrix}$  for j = 1, 2, ..., 10, and  $n = 10^6$ . Then

$$\frac{1}{n} \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} 1_{I_j}(S^k(x)) \approx \mu(I_j) = \int_{I_j} f^* d\lambda = \int_{I_j} \frac{2}{(1+x)^2} d\lambda$$
$$= -\frac{2}{1+x} \Big|_{I_j} = -\frac{2}{1+\frac{j}{10}} + \frac{2}{1+\frac{j-1}{10}} = \frac{20}{(j+10)(j+9)}$$

We can see from Table 2 that the approximated probability distribution values of Table 1 in chapter 1 are very close to the true values.

Moreover, we compute the probability distribution using the formula in equation (1.1) for the initial point  $x_0 = \frac{\pi}{8}$  when  $n = 10^3$ ,  $10^4$ ,  $10^5$ , and  $10^6$ . We present the results in Table 3, which shows that as n gets bigger, the approximated probability distribution values get closer to the true values.

		True Value			
$I_j$	$x_0 = \frac{\pi}{4}$	$x_0 = \frac{\pi}{8}$	$x_0 = \frac{\pi}{16}$	$x_0 = \frac{\pi}{32}$	$\mu(I_j)$
[0, 0.1]	0.1821	0.1826	0.1824	0.1819	0.1818
[0.1, 0.2]	0.1516	0.1515	0.1515	0.1510	0.1515
[0.2, 0.3]	0.1277	0.1277	0.1283	0.1281	0.1282
[0.3, 0.4]	0.1099	0.1104	0.1100	0.1098	0.1099
[0.4, 0.5]	0.0956	0.0948	0.0947	0.0956	0.0952
[0.5, 0.6]	0.0833	0.0834	0.0829	0.0839	0.0833
[0.6, 0.7]	0.0733	0.0730	0.0736	0.0735	0.0735
[0.7, 0.8]	0.0655	0.0653	0.0654	0.0650	0.0654
[0.8, 0.9]	0.0585	0.0583	0.0582	0.0583	0.0585
[0.9,1]	0.0524	0.0529	0.0528	0.0528	0.0526

Table 2: Independence of approximated probability values from initial values

		True Value			
$I_j$	$n = 10^{3}$	$1n = 0^4$	$n = 10^{5}$	$n = 10^{6}$	$\mu(I_j)$
[0, 0.1]	0.2150	0.1865	0.1835	0.1826	0.1818
[0.1, 0.2]	0.1570	0.1487	0.1533	0.1515	0.1515
[0.2, 0.3]	0.1120	0.1280	0.1259	0.1277	0.1282
$[0.3,\!0.4]$	0.1190	0.1110	0.1114	0.1104	0.1099
[0.4, 0.5]	0.0830	0.0934	0.0943	0.0948	0.0952
[0.5, 0.6]	0.0770	0.0830	0.0818	0.0834	0.0833
[0.6, 0.7]	0.0600	0.0731	0.0722	0.0730	0.0735
[0.7, 0.8]	0.0640	0.0667	0.0659	0.0653	0.0654
[0.8, 0.9]	0.0510	0.0565	0.0589	0.0583	0.0585
[0.9,1]	0.0620	0.0531	0.0529	0.0529	0.0526

Table 3: Convergence of approximated probability values

### CHAPTER 3

### SPLINE SPACE

Since this dissertation aims to approximate the unique stationary density function  $f^*$  of the Frobenius-Perron operator associated with S with faster convergence rate than before, we are using a sequence of cubic spline functions. This method works when  $f^*$  is smooth. The reason we are using the cubic spline functions is that they are twice continuously differentiable on [0, 1], where a function g is twice continuously differentiable if g' and g'' exist and g'' is continuous [30]. So, in this chapter, we explain cubic spline functions, but first we explain the constant, linear, and quadratic spline functions. More details about spline functions can be found in the book by Kincaid and Cheney [40].

### 3.1 Spline Functions

A spline function of degree k [75] is a function defined on  $\mathbb{R}$  that is a polynomial of degree at most k locally and of class  $C^{k-1}(\mathbb{R})$  globally; that is, k - 1-times continuously differentiable in the whole domain [33]. We can generate spline functions recursively starting from constant spline functions, which are denoted by  $B_i^0$ ,  $i \in \mathbb{Z}$ , where  $B_i^0 = \mathbb{1}_{[x_i, x_{i+1})}$ . The recursive relation of spline functions of degree k from spline functions of degree k - 1 is given by

$$B_i^k(x) = \frac{x - x_i}{x_{i+k} - x_i} B_i^{k-1}(x) + \frac{x_{i+k+1} - x}{x_{i+k+1} - x_{i+1}} B_{i+1}^{k-1}(x), \quad k \ge 1.$$
(3.1)

We call  $B_i^k$  as spline function of degree k.

Some properties of spline functions are stated in the following lemma.

LEMMA 3.1. (1)  $B_i^k$  is a nonnegative function and the support of  $B_i^k(x)$  is  $(x_i, x_{i+k+1})$  for  $k \ge 0$ .

(2) On each subinterval  $(x_i, x_{i+1})$ ,  $B_i^k$  is a polynomial of degree at most k for  $k \ge 0$ .

(3) 
$$B_i^k \in C^{k-1}(\mathbb{R})$$
 for  $k \ge 1$ .  
(4)  $\sum_{i=-k}^{n-1} B_i^k(x) = 1$  for all  $x \in [0,1]$ 

DEFINITION 3.2. Let [0, 1] be a unit interval. A finite set  $P = \{0 = x_0 < x_1 < \cdots < x_n = 1\}$  is called a *partition* of [0, 1] [42].

DEFINITION 3.3. A set  $\{g_1, g_2, \ldots, g_n\}$  is called *linearly independent* set if the linear combination of  $\{g_1, g_2, \ldots, g_n\}$  has only a trivial solution [34]; that is,

$$a_1g_1 + a_2g_2 + \dots + a_ng_n = 0 \iff a_1 = a_2 = \dots = a_n = 0.$$

For a regular partition  $\{0 = x_0 < x_1 < \cdots < x_n = 1\}$  of [0, 1], where a regular partition means an equally spaced partition, we define  $S^k[x_0, \ldots, x_n]$  to be the set of all spline functions f of degree k whose domain is the unit interval [0, 1]. Note that, the space  $S^k[x_0, \ldots, x_n]$  is a subspace of  $L^1[0, 1]$  and

$$\left\{B_i^k|_{[0,1]}: i = -k, -k+1, \dots, n-1\right\}$$
(3.2)

is a basis for  $S^k[x_0, \ldots, x_n]$ ; that is,  $B_i^k$  is a linearly independent subset of  $S^k[x_0, \ldots, x_n]$ such that each function in  $S^k[x_0, \ldots, x_n]$  can be written as a linear combination of elements of  $B_i^k$  [35]. Consequently, the dimension of  $S^k\{x_0, \ldots, x_n\}$  is k + n.

# 3.2 Linear Spline Functions

Linear spline functions  $B_i^1$ , which used in [24, 25] to approximate  $f^*$  of  $P_S$ , are spline functions of degree one. They are continuous piecewise linear functions. To drive  $B_i^1$ , we use the recursive formula (3.1) with  $B_i^0 = 1_{[x_i, x_{i+1})}$  and  $B_{i+1}^0 = 1_{[x_{i+1}, x_{i+2})}$  as follows:

$$B_{i}^{1}(x) = \left(\frac{x - x_{i}}{x_{i+1} - x_{i}}\right) B_{i}^{0}(x) + \left(\frac{x_{i+2} - x}{x_{i+2} - x_{i+1}}\right) B_{i+1}^{0}(x)$$

$$= \left(\frac{x - x_{i}}{h}\right) B_{i}^{0}(x) + \left(\frac{(2 + i)h - x}{h}\right) B_{i+1}^{0}(x)$$

$$= \left(\frac{x - x_{i}}{h}\right) \mathbf{1}_{[x_{i}, x_{i+1})}(x) + \left(2 - \left(\frac{x - x_{i}}{h}\right)\right) \mathbf{1}_{[x_{i+1}, x_{i+2})}(x)$$

$$= \begin{cases} \frac{x - x_{i}}{h} & x_{i} \le x < x_{i+1} \\ 2 - \frac{x - x_{i}}{h} & x_{i+1} \le x < x_{i+2} \\ 0 & x \notin (x_{i}, x_{i+2}). \end{cases}$$

Let  $y = \frac{x - x_i}{h}$ . Then

$$B_i^1(x) = \begin{cases} y & 0 \le y < 1 \\ 2 - y & 1 \le y < 2 \\ 0 & y \notin (0, 2). \end{cases}$$

So the linear spline function is represented by:

$$B_i^1(x) = L\left(\frac{x-x_i}{h}\right),$$

where

$$L(x) = \begin{cases} x & 0 \le x < 1 \\ 2 - x & 1 \le x < 2 \\ 0 & x \notin (0, 2). \end{cases}$$
(3.3)

# 3.3 Quadratic Spline Functions

Quadratic spline functions are degree two spline functions, denoted by  $B_i^2$ . They are continuous piecewise quadratic functions. In [78],  $B_i^2$  were used to approximate the stationary density  $f^*$  of  $P_S$ . We drive  $B_i^2$  by using equation (3.1) as follows:

$$B_{i}^{2}(x) = \left(\frac{x-x_{i}}{x_{i+2}-x_{i}}\right) B_{i}^{1}(x) + \left(\frac{x_{i+3}-x}{x_{i+3}-x_{i+1}}\right) B_{i+1}^{1}(x)$$
  
$$= \left(\frac{x-x_{i}}{2h}\right) B_{i}^{1}(x) + \left(\frac{(3+i)h-x}{2h}\right) B_{i+1}^{1}(x)$$
  
$$= \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{x-x_{i}}{h}\right) B_{i}^{1}(x) + \frac{1}{2} \left(3 - \left(\frac{x-x_{i}}{h}\right)\right) B_{i+1}^{1}(x).$$

Let  $y = \frac{x - x_i}{h}$ . By using equation (3.3) for  $B_i^1(x)$  and  $B_{i+1}^1(x)$ , we have

$$B_i^2(x) = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{2}y^2 & 0 \le y < 1\\ \frac{1}{2}y(2-y) + \frac{1}{2}(3-y)(y-1) & 1 \le y < 2\\ \frac{1}{2}(3-y)(3-y) & 2 \le y < 3\\ 0 & y \notin (0,3) \end{cases}$$

$$= \begin{cases} \frac{1}{2}y^2 & 0 \le y < 1\\ \frac{3}{4} - \left(y - \frac{3}{2}\right)^2 & 1 \le y < 2\\ \frac{1}{2}\left(y - 3\right)^2 & 2 \le y < 3\\ 0 & y \notin (0, 3). \end{cases}$$

Therefore,

$$B_i^2(x) = Q\left(\frac{x-x_i}{h}\right),$$

where

$$Q(x) = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{2}x^2 & 0 \le x < 1\\ \frac{3}{4} - \left(x - \frac{3}{2}\right)^2 & 1 \le x < 2\\ \frac{1}{2}\left(x - 3\right)^2 & 2 \le x < 3\\ 0 & x \notin (0, 3). \end{cases}$$
(3.4)

# 3.4 Cubic Spline Functions

In this section, we define the cubic spline functions that we use to approximate  $f^*$ , the stationary density function of  $P_S$ .

DEFINITION 3.4. A cubic spline function s for a regular partition  $\{0 = x_0 < x_1 < \cdots < x_n = 1\}$  of [0, 1] is a degree three spline function [63], so it satisfies the following:

- (1) s is at most a cubic polynomial on  $[x_i, x_{i+1}]$  for  $i = 0, 1, \ldots, n-1$ .
- (2)  $s \in C^2[0,1].$

Recall that the collection of all cubic spline functions for the regular partition

 $\{0 = x_0 < x_1 < \cdots < x_n = 1\}$  is denoted by  $S^3[x_0, x_1, \dots, x_n]$ . Among all the cubic spline functions,  $B_i^3$ ,  $i = -3, -2, \dots, n-1$  are the important ones. In Figure 4, we graph  $B_i^3$  for i = -3, 2, 8, and 9 when n = 10 to see the reason why *i* starts at -3 and ends at 9, which is, in general, n-1.



Figure 4:  $B_i^3$  for i = -3, 2, 8 and 9 when n = 10

Using the same approach as the linear spline and quadratic spline functions, we can drive  $B_i^3$ . We use equation (3.1) as follows:

$$B_{i}^{3}(x) = \left(\frac{x-x_{i}}{x_{i+3}-x_{i}}\right) B_{i}^{2}(x) + \left(\frac{x_{i+4}-x}{x_{i+4}-x_{i+1}}\right) B_{i+1}^{2}(x)$$
$$= \left(\frac{x-x_{i}}{3h}\right) B_{i}^{2}(x) + \left(\frac{(4+i)h-x}{3h}\right) B_{i+1}^{2}(x)$$
$$= \frac{1}{3} \left(\frac{x-x_{i}}{h}\right) B_{i}^{2}(x) + \frac{1}{3} \left(4 - \left(\frac{x-x_{i}}{h}\right)\right) B_{i+1}^{2}(x)$$

Let  $y = \frac{x - x_i}{h}$  and use equation (3.4) for  $B_i^2$ , and  $B_{i+1}^2$ , we have

$$B_{i}^{3}(x) = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{3}y\frac{1}{2}y^{2} & 0 \leq y < 1\\ \frac{1}{3}y\left[\frac{3}{4} - \left(y - \frac{3}{2}\right)^{2}\right] + \frac{1}{3}(4 - y)\left[\frac{1}{2}\left(y - 1\right)^{2}\right] & 1 \leq y < 2\\ \frac{1}{3}y\left[\frac{1}{2}(y - 3)^{2}\right] + \frac{1}{3}(4 - y)\left[\frac{3}{4} - \left(y - \frac{5}{2}\right)^{2}\right] & 2 \leq y < 3\\ \frac{1}{3}(4 - y)\left[\frac{1}{2}(y - 4)^{2}\right] & 3 \leq y < 4\\ 0 & y \notin (0, 4) \end{cases}$$

$$= \begin{cases} \frac{1}{6}y^3 & 0 \le y < 1\\ \frac{1}{6}\left[1+3(y-1)+3(y-1)^2-3(y-1)^3\right] & 1 \le y < 2\\ \frac{1}{6}\left[1+3(3-y)+3(3-y)^2-3(3-y)^3\right] & 2 \le y < 3\\ \frac{1}{6}(4-y)^3 & 3 \le y < 4\\ 0 & y \notin (0,4). \end{cases}$$

Hence, the cubic spline is represented by

$$B_i^3(x) = C\left(\frac{x-x_i}{h}\right),$$

where

$$C(x) = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{6}x^3 & 0 \le x < 1\\ \frac{1}{6}\left[1+3(x-1)+3(x-1)^2-3(x-1)^3\right] & 1 \le x < 2\\ \frac{1}{6}\left[1+3(3-x)+3(3-x)^2-3(3-x)^3\right] & 2 \le x < 3\\ \frac{1}{6}(4-x)^3 & 3 \le x < 4\\ 0 & x \notin (0,4). \end{cases}$$
(3.5)

The next lemma states some important properties about the cubic spline functions that is a restating of Lemma 3.1 after being modified to the cubic spline functions. LEMMA 3.5. (1)  $\{B_i^3\}_{i=-3}^{n-1}$  is a basis of  $S^3[x_0, x_1, \dots, x_n]$ .

(2)  $B_i^3$  is a nonnegative function and the support of  $B_i^3(x) = (x_i, x_{i+4})$ . (3)  $\sum_{i=-3}^{n-1} B_i^3(x) = 1$  for any  $x \in [0,1]$  (see Figure 5 for clarification).

In Figure 5,  $B_i^3$  was graphed for i = -3, -2, ..., 9 when n = 10, and the point x = 0.415 was chosen randomly in [0, 1]. It turns out there are only four nonzero cubic spline functions  $B_i^3$  at x = 0.415 with i = 1, 2, 3, 4, and

$$\sum_{i=-3}^{9} B_i^3(0.415) = \sum_{i=1}^{4} B_i^3(0.415)$$
$$= 0.10235417 + 0.64585417 + 0.25122917 + 0.0005625$$



Figure 5: Illustration of Lemma 3.5(3)

# CHAPTER 4

### PROJECTION METHOD

This chapter explains the projection method we are using to approximate  $f^*$ , the unique stationary density function of Frobenius-Perron operator  $P_S$ . Since the projection method uses orthogonal property, we will start with the definition of orthogonal function.

DEFINITION 4.1. Suppose that  $f \in L^1[0,1]$  and  $g \in L^{\infty}[0,1]$ , where  $L^{\infty}[0,1]$  is the space of bounded functions. Then f is *orthogonal* to g if  $\langle f,g \rangle \equiv \int_0^1 f(x)g(x) dx =$ 0, and it is written as  $f \perp g$  [27].

# 4.1 General Projection Method

A projection method is a numerical method that is used to approximate functions using simpler functions [60]. To explain the projection method further, we let W be a finite dimensional subspace, for example  $\dim(W) = m$ , of  $L^1[0,1]$ . Let  $\{\phi_i\}_{i=1}^m$  be a basis of W such that each  $\phi_i \in L^{\infty}[0,1]$ . We define a linear operator  $Q_W: L^1[0,1] \to W$  such that  $f - Q_W f$  is orthogonal to W. If  $f \in L^2[0,1]$ ,  $Q_W f$  is the least squares projection of f onto W [10]. Since  $f - Q_W f$  satisfies the orthogonal property, for all i = 1, 2, ..., m, we have

$$f - Q_W f \perp W \iff f - Q_W f \perp \phi_1, \phi_2, \dots, \phi_m$$
  
 $\iff \langle f - Q_W f, \phi_i \rangle = 0$ 



Figure 6:  $f - Q_W f$  is orthogonal to W

$$\iff \langle f, \phi_i \rangle - \langle Q_W f, \phi_i \rangle = 0$$
$$\iff \langle f, \phi_i \rangle = \langle Q_W f, \phi_i \rangle$$
(4.1)

because  $\langle f - g, h \rangle = \langle f, h \rangle - \langle g, h \rangle$  [20].

Moreover, since  $Q_W f \in W$ ,  $Q_W f$  can be written as a linear combination of a basis of W; that is,

$$Q_W f = \sum_{j=1}^m c_j \phi_j. \tag{4.2}$$

Using equation (4.1) and (4.2), we have

$$\langle f, \phi_i \rangle = \left\langle \sum_{j=1}^m c_j \phi_j, \phi_i \right\rangle = \sum_{j=1}^m c_j \langle \phi_j, \phi_i \rangle$$
 (4.3)

for i = 1, 2, ..., m. Let a matrix  $B \in \mathbb{R}^{m \times m}$  and vector  $b \in \mathbb{R}^m$  be such that

$$b_{ij} = \langle \phi_j, \phi_i \rangle$$
 and  $b_i = \langle f, \phi_i \rangle.$  (4.4)

Then we have

$$b_i = \sum_{j=1}^m c_j b_{ij} = \sum_{j=1}^m b_{ij} c_j$$

for  $i = 1, 2, \ldots, m$ , which can be written as

$$Bc = b. (4.5)$$

So,  $Q_W f = \sum_{j=1}^m c_j \phi_j$  is determined by solving the invertible linear system (4.5).

The fact that B is invertible is justified in Claim 1 and Claim 2; nevertheless, before stating and proving the claims, we define the following terms. We say that a matrix  $A \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$  is a symmetric matrix if  $A^T = A$  [18]; that is  $a_{ij} = a_{ji}$  for  $1 \leq i, j \leq n$ . Moreover, a matrix  $A \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$  is called a *positive definite* matrix if Ais a symmetric matrix and  $x^T A x > 0$  for all  $x \neq 0$  [41].

Claim 1. The matrix B defined in (4.4) is a positive definite matrix.

Proof. (1) Note that B is a symmetric matrix because  $\langle \phi_j, \phi_i \rangle = \langle \phi_i, \phi_j \rangle$  for all  $1 \le i, j \le m$ .

(2) Let  $x \neq 0$ . Then for all  $x \in \mathbb{R}^m$ , we have

$$x^{T}Bx = x_{1}[Bx]_{1} + x_{2}[Bx]_{2} + \dots x_{m}[Bx]_{m}$$
$$= \sum_{i=1}^{m} x_{i}[Bx]_{i} = \sum_{i=1}^{m} x_{i}\left(\sum_{j=1}^{m} b_{ij}x_{j}\right)$$
$$= \sum_{i=1}^{m} \sum_{j=1}^{m} x_{i}x_{j}\langle\phi_{j},\phi_{i}\rangle = \sum_{i=1}^{m} \sum_{j=1}^{m} x_{i}x_{j}\langle\phi_{i},\phi_{j}\rangle$$
$$= \langle \sum_{i=1}^{m} x_{i}\phi_{i}, \sum_{j=1}^{m} x_{j}\phi_{j}\rangle > 0.$$

By (1) and (2), B is a positive definite matrix.

Claim 2. The matrix B is invertible.
Proof. Assume that B is not an invertible matrix. That is, B is a singular matrix (a square matrix whose determine equals zero [70]). Accordingly, B has 0 as its eigenvalue. Therefore, there exists  $x \neq 0 \in \mathbb{R}^m$  such that Bx = 0. Then  $x^T B x = x^T 0 = 0$ . However, this contradicts Claim 1 that B is a positive definite matrix. Hence, B is an invertible matrix.

The operator  $Q_W$  can be used to approximate the stationary density  $f^*$  of the Frobenius-Perron operator  $P_S$ , where  $Q_W P_S$  is defined from  $L^1[0,1]$  to W. If W is chosen properly, see Lemma 4.2, then  $Q_W P_S$  has a unique nonzero function  $f_W$ in W such that

$$(Q_W P_S) f_W = f_W. ag{4.6}$$

By normalization, we may assume that  $||f_W||_1 = 1$ .

We expect that  $f_W$  to be a good approximation to  $f^*$  in  $L^1[0,1]$  for the following reason. By (4.6) we have

$$f_W = (Q_W P_S) f_W = Q_W (P_S f_W) \approx P_S f_W$$

because  $Q_W P_S f_W$  is the least squares approximation of  $P_S f_W$  from W, providing  $P_S f_W \in L^2[0,1]$ . Hence

$$P_S f_W \approx f_W.$$

This means that  $f_W$  is nearly a stationary function of  $P_S$ . Since  $f^*$  is the exact stationary density of  $P_S$ ; that is,  $P_S f^* = f^*$ , we expect that

$$f_W \approx f^*$$
.

We call this method of approximating  $f^*$  as a (least squares) projection method using W. The idea is that a nonzero stationary function  $f_W$  of  $Q_W P_S$ may approximate a stationary density of  $P_S$ .

Suppose that  $\{W_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$  is a sequence of subspaces in  $L^1[0,1]$  such that  $W_1 \subset W_2 \subset \ldots \subset W_n \subset \ldots$ . Suppose that there is a sequence of nonzero stationary functions of  $Q_{W_n}P_S$ ; that is,  $Q_{W_n}P_Sf_{W_n} = f_{W_n}$  with  $\|f_{W_n}\|_1 = 1$  for  $n = 1, 2, \ldots$ . Then we may expect that  $f_{W_n} \to f^*$  in  $L^1[0,1]$ .

### 4.2 Constant Spline Projection Method

The famous Ulam's method in the paper by Ulam [69], proposed as Markov method, turns out to be the constant spline projection method using  $\{S_n^0[x_0, \ldots, x_n]\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$ Ulam considered a sequence of operators  $\{U_n P_S\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$ , where each  $U_n : L^1[0, 1] \rightarrow$  $S_n^0[x_0, \ldots, x_n]$  is defined by

$$U_n f = \sum_{i=1}^n \left[ \frac{1}{\lambda(I_i)} \int_{I_i} f \right] \mathbf{1}_{I_i},$$

where  $I_i = \left[\frac{i-1}{n}, \frac{i}{n}\right]$ . Then Ulam showed that each  $U_n P_S$  has a stationary density  $f_n$ . Especially,  $U_n P_S f_n = f_n$ . Later, Li [47] showed that  $f_n \to f^*$  in  $L^1[0, 1]$  as  $n \to \infty$ .

Recall that from (3.2), for each  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ ,  $\{B_i^0\}_{i=0}^{n-1} = \{1_{I_i}\}$  is a basis of  $S_n^0[x_0, \ldots, x_n]$ . Let  $Q_n^0 : L^1[0, 1] \to S_n^0[x_0, \ldots, x_n]$  be the projection operator onto  $S_n^0[x_0, \ldots, x_n]$ . To show that Ulam's method is a constant spline projection method, it is enough to show that  $U_n = Q_n^0$  for each n. If we write  $Q_n^0 f = \sum_{j=0}^{n-1} c_j 1_{I_j}$ , then by (4.3) for each  $i \in \{0, 2, \ldots, n-1\}$  and  $f \in L^1[0, 1]$ , we have

$$\sum_{j=0}^{n-1} c_j \langle 1_{I_j}, 1_{I_i} \rangle = \langle f, 1_{I_i} \rangle \iff \frac{1}{n} c_i = \langle f, 1_{I_i} \rangle \iff \lambda(I_i) c_i = \langle f, 1_{I_i} \rangle$$

$$\iff c_i = \frac{1}{\lambda(I_i)} \int_0^1 f \mathbf{1}_{I_i} \, d\lambda \iff c_i = \frac{1}{\lambda(I_i)} \int_{I_i} f \, d\lambda$$

So for any  $f \in L^1[0,1]$ , we have

$$Q_n^0 f = \sum_{i=0}^{n-1} c_i 1_{I_i} = \sum_{i=0}^{n-1} \left[ \frac{1}{\lambda(I_i)} \int_{I_i} f \right] 1_{I_i} = U_n f.$$

Consequently,  $Q_n^0 f = U_n f$  for any  $f \in L^1[0, 1]$ . Since this is true for any  $f \in L^1[0, 1]$ , we conclude that  $U_n = Q_n^0$ , as desired.

### 4.3 Linear Spline Projection Method

The linear spline projection method was studied in the papers by Ding and Rhee [24, 25] using sequence of subspaces  $\{S_n^1[x_0, \ldots, x_n]\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$ . Note that for each  $n \in \mathbb{N}, \{B_i^1\}_{i=-1}^{n-1}$  is a basis of  $S_n^1[x_0, \ldots, x_n]$ . Let  $Q_n^1 : L^1[0, 1] \to S_n^1[x_0, \ldots, x_n]$  be the projection operator onto  $S_n^1[x_0, \ldots, x_n]$ . It was shown in [25] that the operator  $Q_n^1 P_S$  has a nonzero stationary function  $f_n$  (by normalization, it was assumed that  $\|f_n\|_1 = 1$ ) such that  $f_n \to f^*$  in  $L^1[0, 1]$ , and the speed of convergence for linear spline projection method is faster than the constant spline projection method.

#### 4.4 Quadratic Spline Projection Method

In Zhou, et al. paper [78], the quadratic spline projection method was studied using the sequence of subspaces  $\{S_n^2[x_0, \ldots, x_n]\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$ . Note that  $\{B_i^2\}_{i=-2}^{n-1}$  is a basis of  $S_n^2[x_0, \ldots, x_n]$  for each  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . The operator  $Q_n^2 : L^1[0, 1] \to S_n^2[x_0, \ldots, x_n]$  was defined to be the projection operator onto  $S_n^2[x_0, \ldots, x_n]$ . It was shown in [78] that the operator  $Q_n^2 P_S$  has a nonzero stationary function  $f_n$  such that  $f_n \to f^*$  in  $L^1[0, 1]$ , and the speed of convergence for quadratic spline projection method is faster than the constant spline and linear spline projection methods.

# 4.5 Cubic Spline Projection Method

As the tittle of this section indicates, we study the cubic spline projection method. For simplicity we write  $B_i^3$  as  $\phi_i$ , where  $i = -3, -2, \ldots, n-1$ , so that  $\{\phi_i\}_{i=-3}^{n-1}$  is a basis for  $S^3[x_0, \ldots, n]$ , and each  $\phi_i \in L^{\infty}[0, 1]$ .

We specialize the general projection method, which was mentioned in Section 4.1, to the cubic spline projection method as follows. We use  $S^3[x_0, \ldots, x_n]$  for Win Section 4.1. Then  $Q_W$  becomes  $Q_{S^3[x_0, \ldots, x_n]}$  and  $f_W$  becomes  $f_{S^3[x_0, \ldots, x_n]}$ . For simplicity of the notation, we will write  $Q_{S^3[x_0, \ldots, x_n]}$  as  $Q_n$  and  $f_{S^3[x_0, \ldots, x_n]}$  as  $f_n$ .

We define  $Q_n : L^1[0,1] \to S^3[x_0,\ldots,x_n]$  such that  $f - Q_n f$  is orthogonal to  $S^3[x_0,\ldots,x_n]$ . Then (4.1) becomes

$$\langle f, \phi_i \rangle = \langle Q_n f, \phi_i \rangle$$

$$(4.7)$$

for  $i = -3, -2, \ldots, n-1$ . Since  $Q_n f \in S^3[x_0, \ldots, x_n]$ ,  $Q_n f$  can be written as linear combination of a basis of  $S^3[x_0, \ldots, x_n]$ ; that is,

$$Q_n f = \sum_{j=-3}^{n-1} c_j \phi_j.$$
 (4.8)

By combining (4.7) and (4.8) we have, for i = -3, -2, ..., n - 1,

$$\langle f, \phi_i \rangle = \sum_{j=-3}^{n-1} c_j \langle \phi_j, \phi_i \rangle.$$
 (4.9)

Let  $B \in \mathbb{R}^{(n+3) \times (n+3)}$  and a vector  $b \in \mathbb{R}^{n+3}$  be such that

$$b_{ij} = \langle \phi_j, \phi_i \rangle$$
 and  $b_i = \langle f, \phi_i \rangle$ . (4.10)

Then

$$b_i = \sum_{j=-3}^{n-1} b_{ij} c_j$$

for  $i = -3, 2, \ldots, n-1$ , which can be written as

$$Bc = b. (4.11)$$

Therefore,  $Q_n f = \sum_{j=-3}^{n-1} c_j \phi_j$  is determined by solving the invertible linear system (4.11).

By specializing the general projection method in Section 4.1 to the Cubic spline projection method, we have the following:

(1) Using the operator  $Q_n: L^1[0,1] \to S^3[x_0,\ldots,x_n]$ , we have

$$Q_n P_S \Big|_{S^3[x_0,...,x_n]} : S^3[x_0,...,x_n] \to S^3[x_0,...,x_n].$$

(2) Let a nonzero function  $f_n \in S^3[x_0, \ldots, n]$  fulfils

$$Q_n P_S f_n = f_n. aga{4.12}$$

The existence of such  $f_n$  will be proven in Lemma 4.2.

- (3) By normalization, we may assume that  $||f_n||_1 = 1$ .
- (4) We expect that  $f_n$  to be a good approximation to  $f^*$  in  $L^1[0,1]$ .

After specializing the projection method to the cubic spline projection method, we establish (2) from above in next lemma.

LEMMA 4.2. There is a nonzero function  $f_n \in S^3[x_0, \ldots, x_n]$  such that  $Q_n P_S f_n = f_n$ .

PROOF. First note that  $Q_n P_S|_{S^3[x_0,\dots,x_n]}$ :  $S^3[x_0,\dots,x_n] \to S^3[x_0,\dots,x_n]$ . For easy

notation we will write  $Q_n P_S$  instead of  $Q_n P_S|_{S^3[x_0,...,x_n]}$ . Let  $\beta = \{\phi_i\}_{i=-3}^{n-1}$  be a basis of  $S^3[x_0,...,x_n]$ . Note that we can write

$$(Q_n P_S)\phi_j = \sum_{k=-3}^{n-1} m_{kj}\phi_k$$

for all j = -3, ..., n - 1. If we let  $M = [m_{kj}]$ , then M is the matrix representation of  $Q_n P_S$  with respect to  $\beta$  [74], so we write  $M = [Q_n P_S]_{\beta}$ . Recall that matrix B is defined by  $b_{ij} = \langle \phi_j, \phi_i \rangle$ . Then

$$\langle (Q_n P_S)\phi_j, \phi_i \rangle = \left\langle \sum_{k=-3}^{n-1} m_{kj}\phi_k, \phi_i \right\rangle = \sum_{k=-3}^{n-1} m_{kj} \left\langle \phi_k, \phi_i \right\rangle$$
$$= \sum_{k=-3}^{n-1} m_{kj}b_{ik} = \sum_{k=-3}^{n-1} b_{ik}m_{kj} = [BM]_{ij}.$$

On the other hand, using (4.7), we have

$$\langle (Q_n P_S)\phi_j, \phi_i \rangle = \langle Q_n(P_S\phi_j), \phi_i \rangle = \langle P_S\phi_j, \phi_i \rangle$$

If we define a matrix  $A \in \mathbb{R}^{(n+3) \times (n+3)}$  by

$$a_{ij} = \langle P_S \phi_j, \phi_i \rangle, \tag{4.13}$$

then we have

$$\langle (Q_n P_S)\phi_j, \phi_i \rangle = \langle P_S \phi_j, \phi_i \rangle = a_{ij}$$

So BM = A, and hence  $M = B^{-1}A$ .

Suppose that there exists a nonzero  $f_n \in S^3[x_0, \ldots, x_n]$  such that  $Q_n P_S f_n = f_n$ . We write  $f_n = \sum_{j=-3}^{n-1} d_j \phi_j$ , where  $d = [d_{-3}, \ldots, d_{n-1}]^T$ . So d is the coordinate vector of  $f_n$  with respect to  $\beta$  [17]. Note that

$$(Q_n P_S)f_n = f_n \iff [(Q_n P_S)f_n]_{\beta} = [f_n]_{\beta} \iff [Q_n P_S]_{\beta}[f_n]_{\beta} = [f_n]_{\beta}$$

$$\iff Md = d, \text{ where } d \neq 0$$
$$\iff (B^{-1}A)d = d \iff Ad = Bd$$
$$\iff (A - B)d = 0.$$

(The equality  $[(Q_n P_S)f_n]_{\beta} = [Q_n P_S]_{\beta} [f_n]_{\beta}$  can be found in [29]). So showing that the existence of nonzero  $f_n$  such that  $Q_n P_S f_n = f_n$  is equivalent to showing (A-B)d = 0 with  $d \neq 0$ , which is again equivalent to showing that A - B has 0 as eigenvalue. So, we need to prove that 0 is an eigenvalue of A - B.

Let  $e^T = [1, ..., 1]$  and  $e_j = [0, ..., 0, 1, 0, ..., 0]^T$ , where 1 is in the  $j^{th}$  position. The sum of entries of column j, for j = -3, ..., n-1, of A - B can be obtained by

$$[e^{T}(A-B)]e_{j} = \sum_{i=-3}^{n-1} (a_{ij} - b_{ij}) = \sum_{i=-3}^{n-1} [\langle P_{S}\phi_{j}, \phi_{i} \rangle - \langle \phi_{j}, \phi_{i} \rangle]$$

$$= \langle P_{S}\phi_{j}, \sum_{i=-3}^{n-1} \phi_{i} \rangle - \langle \phi_{j}, \sum_{i=-3}^{n-1} \phi_{i} \rangle = \langle P_{S}\phi_{j}, 1 \rangle - \langle \phi_{j}, 1 \rangle$$

$$= \int_{[0,1]} P_{S}\phi_{j} \cdot 1 \ d\lambda - \langle \phi_{j}, 1 \rangle = \int_{[0,1]} P_{S}\phi_{j} \ d\lambda - \langle \phi_{j}, 1 \rangle$$

$$= \int_{S^{-1}[0,1]} \phi_{j} \ d\lambda - \langle \phi_{j}, 1 \rangle = \int_{[0,1]} \phi_{j} \cdot 1 \ d\lambda - \langle \phi_{j}, 1 \rangle$$

$$= \langle \phi_{j}, 1 \rangle - \langle \phi_{j}, 1 \rangle = 0.$$

(We use the fact that  $\sum_{i=-3}^{n-1} \phi_i = 1$  for all  $x \in [0,1]$ ). So

$$e^{T}(A-B) = 0^{T} \implies (A^{T}-B^{T})e = 0.$$

Therefore, 0 is the eigenvalue of  $A^T - B^T$ , and hence 0 is the eigenvalue of A - B. Thus there is a nonzero vector  $d \in \mathbb{R}^{n+3}$  such that (A - B)d = 0. So, using that nonzero vector d,  $f_n = \sum_{j=-3}^{n-1} d_j \phi_j$  is a nonzero function in  $S^3[x_0, \ldots, x_n]$  such that  $Q_n P_S f_n = f_n$ .

Lemma 4.2 assures that  $f_n = \sum_{j=-3}^{n-1} d_j \phi_j$  is a nonzero stationary function of  $Q_n P_S$ . However, we can not prove the nonnegativity of  $f_n$ , and here is the argument behind this assertion. If  $Q_n$  is a Markov operator, then by assuming that the dimension of eigenspace of A - B associated with eigenvalue 0 is one [37], we can show that  $f_n \geq 0$  as follows. Suppose that  $f_n^+$  and  $f_n^-$  are nonzero functions. Since  $Q_n$  is a Markov operator,  $Q_n P_S$  is also a Markov operator. Moreover, since  $Q_n P_S f_n = f_n$ , by Theorem 2.7 we have,  $Q_n P_S(f_n^+) = f_n^+$  and  $Q_n P_S(f_n^-) = f_n^-$ . This implies that the dimension of the eigenspace of A - B associated with the 0 eigenvalue is at least two. This contradicts the assumption that the dimension of the eigenspace of A - B associated with the 0 eigenvalue is one. Therefore,  $f_n^+ = 0$  or  $f_n^- = 0$ , which implies that  $f_n$  is nonnegative or  $-f_n$  is nonnegative. So we may assume that  $f_n$  is nonnegative. However,  $Q_n$  is not a Markov operator as the next example shows. Consider  $Q_4 : L^1[0, 1] \to S^3[x_0, \ldots, x_4]$ . We find  $Q_4 f$  with  $f(x) = x^4$ . If we solve the corresponding system, Bc = b, where  $b_{ij} = \langle \phi_j, \phi_i \rangle$  and  $b_i = \langle f, \phi_i \rangle$  for  $-3 \leq i, j \leq 3$ , it can be shown that

$$Q_4 f = \sum_{j=-3}^3 c_j \phi_j,$$

where

$$c = [-0.0049, 0.0018, -0.0026, 0.0328, 0.2474, 0.8768, 2.2451]^T.$$

Figure 7 shows the graph of  $f(x) = x^4$  and  $Q_4 f(x)$ , where  $x \in [0, 0.18]$ , and Figure 8 shows the zoomed in of Figure 7 into the interval [0, 0.02], which clearly shows that there is a small interval near zero on which  $Q_4 f$  is negative. This shows that  $Q_n$  is not a Markov operator, and hence,  $f_n$  can not be assured to be a nonnegative function.



Figure 7: The graphs of  $f(x) = x^4$  and  $Q_4 f$  on the interval [0, 0.18]

From the above example, we note that in general,  $Q_n f$  is not necessarily be nonnegative when f is a nonnegative function. Furthermore, we note that every  $c_j \ge$ 0 is a sufficient condition for  $Q_n f$  to be nonnegative but not a necessary condition. For instance, consider  $f(x) = x^2$  with n = 4. Using MATLAB, we get  $Q_4 f$  is nonnegative in the whole domain [0, 1], but not all  $c_j$  are nonnegative. In fact, we have

 $\boldsymbol{c} = [0.0417, -0.0208, 0.0417, 0.2292, 0.5417, 0.9792, 1.5417]^T,$ 



Figure 8: The graphs of  $f(x) = x^4$  and  $Q_4 f$  on the interval [0, 0.02]

where  $c_2 < 0$ .

Because typically,  $f_n \approx f^*$ , so if  $f^* > 0$ , we expect that  $f_n > 0$  at least when n is large enough. In fact, in our numerical experiments in Chapter 6, it will be observed that every  $d_j \ge 0$ , and hence  $f_n$  is nonnegative. In that case since  $\phi_j \ge 0$  for all j, we can normalize  $f_n$  as follows:

$$\begin{split} \|f_n\|_1 &= \int_0^1 |f_n(x)| \, dx = \int_0^1 \left| \sum_{j=-3}^{n-1} d_j \phi_j(x) \right| \, dx \\ &= \int_0^1 \sum_{j=-3}^{n-1} d_j \phi_j(x) \, dx = \sum_{j=-3}^{n-1} d_j \int_0^1 \phi_j(x) \, dx = \sum_{j=-3}^{n-1} d_j \, \|\phi_j\|_1 \\ &= d_{-3} \, \|\phi_{-3}\|_1 + d_{-2} \, \|\phi_{-2}\|_1 + \dots + d_{n-1} \|\phi_{n-1}\|_1 \\ &= \frac{h}{24} d_{-3} + \frac{h}{2} d_{-2} + \frac{23h}{24} d_{-1} + h d_0 + \dots + h d_{n-4} + \frac{23h}{24} d_{n-3} \\ &+ \frac{h}{2} d_{n-2} + \frac{h}{24} d_{n-1} = hs, \end{split}$$

where

$$s = \frac{d_{-3}}{24} + \frac{d_{-2}}{2} + \frac{23d_{-1}}{24} + d_0 + \dots + d_{n-4} + \frac{23d_{n-3}}{24} + \frac{d_{n-2}}{2} + \frac{d_{n-1}}{24}.$$

Here we use the facts that

$$\|\phi_{-3}\|_{1} = \|\phi_{n-1}\|_{1} = \frac{h}{24}, \qquad \|\phi_{-2}\|_{1} = \|\phi_{n-2}\|_{1} = \frac{h}{2},$$
$$\|\phi_{-1}\|_{1} = \|\phi_{n-3}\|_{1} = \frac{23h}{24}, \qquad \|\phi_{i}\|_{1} = h \text{ for } i = 0, 1, \dots, n-4.$$

Since  $||f_n||_1 = hs$ , we have

$$\left\|\frac{f_n}{hs}\right\|_1 = 1.$$

By calling  $\frac{f_n}{hs}$  again as  $f_n$ , we have  $||f_n||_1 = 1$ .

# CHAPTER 5

# CONVERGENCE ANALYSIS OF CUBIC SPLINE PROJECTION METHOD

The objective of this chapter is to show that  $\{f_n\}$  converges to  $f^*$  in  $L^1[0,1]$ ; that is,  $\lim_{n\to\infty} f_n = f^*$  in  $L^1[0,1]$ . Recall that  $Q_n P_S f_n = f_n$ , by (4.12), and  $f^*$  is the unique stationary density function of the Frobenius-Perron operator  $P_S$  associated with a measurable and nonsingular transformation S.

To achieve our goal of showing  $\{f_n\} \to f^*$  in  $L^1[0, 1]$ , we organize this chapter as follows. In Section 5.1, we find a uniform upper bound of  $\{||Q_n||_1\}$  for  $n \ge 8$ . In Section 5.2 we show that  $\{Q_n f\}$  converges to f for any  $f \in L^1[0, 1]$  as  $n \to \infty$ . In Section 5.3 we find that the total variation of  $\{Q_n f\}$  is bounded by some positive constant times the total variation of f uniformly for  $n \ge 8$  and any  $f \in L^1[0, 1]$ . In Section 5.4 we find a uniform bound of  $\{\bigvee_0^1 f_n\}$ . Finally in section 5.5 we show that  $\{f_n\}$  converges to  $f^*$  in  $L^1[0, 1]$ .

# 5.1 Uniform Boundedness of $\{Q_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$

Our goal in this section is to find an upper bound of  $||Q_n||_1$  for any  $n \ge 8$ . Recall that for any  $f \in L^1[0,1]$  and for  $i = -3, -2, \ldots, n-1$ , we have

$$\langle Q_n f, \phi_i \rangle = \langle f, \phi_i \rangle,$$

which, by (4.9), is equivalent to

$$\sum_{j=-3}^{n-1} \langle \phi_j, \phi_i \rangle c_j = \langle f, \phi_i \rangle$$

since  $Q_n f = \sum_{j=-3}^{n-1} c_j \phi_j$ . Also recall that by (4.11), the coefficients  $c = [c_{-3}, \ldots, c_{n-1}]^T$ can be found by solving the invertible linear system  $B_n c = b$ . In (4.11) we wrote Binstead of  $B_n$ , but due to the dependence of B on n, we write  $B_n$  instead of B from now on. For definitions of  $B_n$  and b, see (4.10). By calculating the inner products of  $B_n = \langle \phi_j, \phi_i \rangle$  for  $-3 \leq i, j \leq n-1$ , we find matrix  $B_n$  as follows:

$$B_n = \frac{h}{5040} \begin{bmatrix} 20 & 129 & 60 & 1 & \dots \\ 129 & 1208 & 1062 & 120 & 1 & \dots \\ 60 & 1062 & 2396 & 1191 & 120 & 1 & \dots \\ 1 & 120 & 1191 & 2416 & 1191 & 120 & 1 & \dots \\ 0 & 1 & 120 & 1191 & 2416 & 1191 & 120 & 1 & \dots \\ & \ddots \\ & \cdots & 1 & 120 & 1191 & 2416 & 1191 & 120 & 1 & 0 \\ & & \cdots & 1 & 120 & 1191 & 2416 & 1191 & 120 & 1 \\ & & & \cdots & 1 & 120 & 1191 & 2416 & 1191 & 120 & 1 \\ & & & \cdots & 1 & 120 & 1191 & 2396 & 1062 & 60 \\ & & & & \cdots & 1 & 120 & 1062 & 1208 & 129 \\ & & & & \cdots & 1 & 60 & 129 & 20 \end{bmatrix}$$

,

where  $h = \frac{1}{n}$ .

In the following, we give two examples of finding entries of  $B_n$  by showing how to find  $b_{-3,-3} = \langle \phi_{-3}, \phi_{-3} \rangle$  and  $b_{-3,-2} = \langle \phi_{-3}, \phi_{-2} \rangle$ . Note that by (3.5),

$$\phi_{-3}(x) = \frac{1}{6} \left( 4 - \frac{x - (-3h)}{h} \right)^3.$$

So,

$$b_{-3,-3} = \langle \phi_{-3}, \phi_{-3} \rangle = \int_0^1 (\phi_{-3}(x))^2 \, dx = \int_0^h \left[ \frac{1}{6} \left( 4 - \frac{x - (-3h)}{h} \right)^3 \right]^2 \, dx$$
$$= \int_0^h \frac{1}{36} \left( 1 - \frac{x}{h} \right)^6 \, dx = \frac{h}{36} \int_0^1 (1 - t)^6 \, dt = \frac{h}{252} = \frac{h}{5040} \cdot 20.$$

For  $b_{-3,-2}$ , again by (3.5), we have

$$\phi_{-2}(x) = \frac{1}{6} \left( 1 + 3\left(3 - \frac{x - (-2h)}{h}\right) + 3\left(3 - \frac{x - (-2h)}{h}\right)^2 - 3\left(3 - \frac{x - (-2h)}{h}\right)^3 \right).$$

So,

$$b_{-3,-2} = \langle \phi_{-3}, \phi_{-2} \rangle = \int_0^1 \phi_{-3}(x)\phi_{-2}(x) dx$$
  

$$= \int_0^h \left[ \frac{1}{6} \left( 4 - \frac{x - (-3h)}{h} \right)^3 \right] \left[ \frac{1}{6} \left( 1 + 3 \left( 3 - \frac{x - (-2h)}{h} \right) \right)$$
  

$$+ 3 \left( 3 - \frac{x - (-2h)}{h} \right)^2 - 3 \left( 3 - \frac{x - (-2h)}{h} \right)^3 \right) dx$$
  

$$= \frac{1}{36} \int_0^h \left( 1 - \frac{x}{h} \right)^3 \left( 1 + 3 \left( 1 - \frac{x}{h} \right) + 3 \left( 1 - \frac{x}{h} \right)^2 - 3 \left( 1 - \frac{x}{h} \right)^3 \right) dx$$
  

$$= \frac{h}{36} \int_0^1 (1 - t)^3 \left( 1 + 3 (1 - t) + 3 (1 - t)^2 - 3 (1 - t)^3 \right) dt$$
  

$$= \frac{43h}{1680} = \frac{h}{5040} \cdot 129.$$

For simplicity, we define a matrix  $\widehat{B}_n \in \mathbb{R}^{(n+3)\times(n+3)}$  and vector  $\hat{b} \in \mathbb{R}^{n+3}$  such that

$$\hat{B}_n = \frac{5040}{h} B_n$$
 and  $\hat{b} = \frac{5040}{h} b.$  (5.1)

Then

$$B_n c = b \iff \widehat{B}_n c = \hat{b}.$$

Therefore,

$$c = \widehat{B}_n^{-1}\widehat{b},$$

and  $\widehat{B}_n$  is given by

	20	129	60	1						
-	129	1208	1062	120	1					
	60	1062	2396	1191	120	1				
	1	120	1191	2416	1191	120	1			
	0	1	120	1191	2416	1191	120	1		
$\widehat{B}_n =$		·	·	·	·	·	·	·		
			1	120	1191	2416	1191	120	1	0
				1	120	1191	2416	1191	120	1
					1	120	1191	2396	1062	60
						1	120	1062	1208	129
	_						1	60	129	20

Note that  $\widehat{B}_n$  is a band-matrix with band-width three, where bandwidth is the smallest nonnegative integer, for example k, such that  $b_{ij} = 0$  for |i - j| > k [48].

Since our goal is to find an upper bound of  $||Q_n||_1$ , first we need to find an upper bound of  $||\widehat{B}_n^{-1}||_1$ , where  $||\cdot||_1$  is defined as follows:

DEFINITION 5.1. The 1-norm of a matrix  $L \in \mathbb{R}^{m \times m}$  is the maximum of column sum of  $|l_{ij}|$  for  $1 \le j \le m$  [65]. Namely,

$$||L||_1 = \max_{1 \le j \le m} \sum_{i=1}^m |l_{ij}|.$$

We use MATLAB to find the information given in Table 4. As we can see from

n = 8	$\ \widehat{B}_8^{-1}\ _1 = 0.355436$
n = 16	$\ \widehat{B}_{16}^{-1}\ _1 = 0.351039$
n = 32	$\ \widehat{B}_{32}^{-1}\ _1 = 0.351003$
n = 64	$\ \widehat{B}_{64}^{-1}\ _1 = 0.351010$
n = 128	$\ \widehat{B}_{128}^{-1}\ _1 = 0.351010$

Table 4: 1-norm of  $\widehat{B}_n^{-1}$ 

Table 4,

$$\left\|\widehat{B}_n^{-1}\right\|_1 \le 0.36 \text{ for all } n \ge 8.$$

In the following lemma, we prove the uniform boundedness of  $||Q_n||_1$ .

THEOREM 5.2.  $||Q_n||_1 \le 1815$  uniformly for any  $n \ge 8$ .

PROOF. One can show that  $\|\phi_i\|_1 \leq h$  for all  $i = -3, -2, \ldots, n-1$ . Recall that  $Q_n f = \sum_{i=-3}^{n-1} c_i \phi_i$ . If  $n \geq 8$ , and by (3) of Lemma 3.5 and properties of 1-norm [36], we have

$$\|Q_n f\|_1 = \left\|\sum_{i=-3}^{n-1} c_i \phi_i\right\|_1 \le \sum_{i=-3}^{n-1} |c_i| \|\phi_i\|_1 \le \sum_{i=-3}^{n-1} |c_i| h$$

$$= h \|c\|_{1} = h \|\widehat{B}_{n}^{-1}\widehat{b}\|_{1} = h \cdot \frac{5040}{h} \|\widehat{B}_{n}^{-1}\|_{1} \|b\|_{1}$$

$$\leq 5040(0.36)\|b\|_{1} = 1815\|b\|_{1} = 1815 \sum_{i=-3}^{n-1} |\langle f, \phi_{i} \rangle|$$

$$= 1815 \sum_{i=-3}^{n-1} \left|\int_{0}^{1} f \cdot \phi_{i}(x) dx\right| \leq 1815 \sum_{i=-3}^{n-1} \int_{0}^{1} |f \cdot \phi_{i}(x)| dx$$

$$= 1815 \sum_{i=-3}^{n-1} \int_{0}^{1} |f| \cdot |\phi_{i}(x)| dx = 1815 \sum_{i=-3}^{n-1} \int_{0}^{1} |f| \cdot \phi_{i}(x) dx$$

$$= 1815 \sum_{i=-3}^{n-1} \langle |f|, \phi_{i} \rangle = 1815 \left\langle |f|, \sum_{i=-3}^{n-1} \phi_{i} \right\rangle$$

$$= 1815 \langle |f|, 1 \rangle = 1815 \|f\|_{1},$$

(since  $\left|\int_{a}^{b} f(x) dx\right| \leq \int_{a}^{b} |f(x)| dx$  [52]). Hence,

$$||Q_n f||_1 \leq 1815 ||f||_1 \implies \frac{||Q_n f||_1}{||f||_1} \leq 1815.$$

Thus,

$$\|Q_n\|_1 \leq 1815 \text{ for all } n \geq 8.$$

# 5.2 Convergence of $\{Q_n f\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$ to f

This section shows that  $\{Q_n f\}$  converges to f in  $L^1[0, 1]$ . For this purpose, we first need to define a clamped spline function.

DEFINITION 5.3. A clamped spline function  $s_n$  in  $S^3[x_0, \ldots, x_n]$  of a given function g is a cubic spline function  $s_n$  in  $S^3[x_0, \ldots, x_n]$  [13] that satisfies the following conditions:

(1) 
$$s(x_i) = g(x_i)$$
 for  $i = 0, 1, ..., n$ .  
(2)  $s'(x_0) = g'(x_0)$  and  $s'(x_n) = g'(x_n)$ 

THEOREM 5.4. For any  $f \in L^{1}[0, 1]$ ,  $\lim_{n \to \infty} ||Q_{n}f - f||_{1} = 0$ .

PROOF. Let  $f \in L^1[0,1]$ . We need to show that for any  $\epsilon > 0$ , we can find  $N \in \mathbb{N}$  such that  $\|Q_n f - f\|_1 < \epsilon$  whenever n > N [55]. Since  $C^4[0,1]$  is dense in  $L^1[0,1]$  [19], then for all  $f \in L^1[0,1]$ , there exists  $g \in C^4[0,1]$  such that

$$\|g - f\|_1 \leq \frac{1}{3632}\epsilon$$

It is a well-known fact, from [9], that for each n, we have  $s_n \in S^3[x_0, \ldots, x_n]$  of g, where  $s_n$  is a clamped spline function, such that

$$\max_{x \in [0,1]} |g(x) - s_n(x)| \le \frac{5}{384n^4} \max_{x \in [0,1]} |g^{(4)}(x)|.$$

We use Hölder's inequality [72] and the fact that  $Q_n g$  is the least squares approximation to g from  $S^3[x_0, \ldots, x_n]$  to get

$$\begin{aligned} \|Q_n g - g\|_1 &\leq \|Q_n g - g\|_2 \|1\|_2 &= \|Q_n g - g\|_2 &\leq \|s_n - g\|_2 \\ &= \left[\int_0^1 |g(x) - s_n(x)|^2 dx\right]^{1/2} \leq \left[\int_0^1 \left[\max_{x \in [0,1]} |g(x) - s_n(x)|\right]^2 dx\right]^{1/2} \\ &= \max_{x \in [0,1]} |g(x) - s_n(x)| \leq \frac{5}{384n^4} \max_{x \in [0,1]} |g^{(4)}(x)| \,. \end{aligned}$$

So we can choose N big enough so that

$$\left\|Q_ng - g\right\|_1 < \frac{\epsilon}{2}$$

whenever n > N. Accordingly, if n > N we have

$$\begin{aligned} \|Q_n f - f\|_1 &= \|Q_n f - Q_n g + Q_n g - g + g - f\|_1 \\ &\leq \|Q_n f - Q_n g\|_1 + \|Q_n g - g\|_1 + \|g - f\|_1 \\ &\leq \|Q_n\|_1 \|f - g\|_1 + \|Q_n g - g\|_1 + \|g - f\|_1 \\ &= (\|Q_n\|_1 + 1) \|f - g\|_1 + \|Q_n g - g\|_1 \\ &\leq (1815 + 1) \|f - g\|_1 + \|Q_n g - g\|_1 \\ &\leq \frac{1816\epsilon}{3632} + \frac{\epsilon}{2} = \epsilon . \end{aligned}$$

# 5.3 Uniform Boundedness of the Total Variation of $\{Q_n f\}$ by the Total Variation of f

In this section, we find a uniform bound of the total variation of  $\{Q_n f\}$  in terms of the total variation of f when  $f \in BV[a, b]$ , where the bounded variation space BV[a, b] is the space of functions whose total variation is bounded [31]. We divide the process of finding a uniformly upper bound of  $\bigvee_0^1 Q_n f$  in terms of  $\bigvee_0^1 f$ into three steps illustrated in Subsections 5.3.2, 5.3.3 and 5.3.4. Nevertheless, first, we start with the definition of total variation of a function f, then provide some important properties of the total variation of functions in Subsection 5.3.1.

DEFINITION 5.5. Let  $P : a = x_0 < x_1 < \cdots < x_n = b$  be a partition of [a, b]. The *total variation* of a real-valued function on an interval  $[a, b] \subset \mathbb{R}$  is defined by

$$\bigvee_{a}^{b} f = \sup_{P} \left\{ \sum_{i=0}^{n} |f(x_{i+1}) - f(x_{i})| \right\},$$
(5.2)

where the supremum is taken over all partitions P of [a, b] [16].

# 5.3.1 Properties of Total Variation of functions

Before we state the properties of total variation of functions, we first need to introduce Riemann sum and an important result about Riemann integral [6].

DEFINITION 5.6. Let  $f : [a, b] \to \mathbb{R}$  be a bounded function. If  $P : a = x_0 < x_1 < \cdots < x_n = b$  is a partition of [a, b], and if  $c_1, c_2, \ldots, c_n$  are numbers such that  $x_{i-1} \leq c_i \leq x_i$  for  $i = 1, 2, \ldots, n$ , then the sum

$$R(P, f) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} f(c_i)(x_i - x_{i-1})$$

is called a *Riemann sum* for f corresponding to the partition P and the intermediate points  $c_i$ .

DEFINITION 5.7. Let  $P: a = x_0 < x_1 < \cdots < x_n = b$  be a partition of [a, b]. Then the norm of partition P is the width of the largest subinterval of P [62]; that is, for  $i = 1, 2, \ldots, n$ 

$$||P|| = \max(x_i - x_{i-1}).$$

LEMMA 5.8. Let  $f : [a, b] \to R$  be Riemann integrable on [a, b]. Then, if  $\epsilon > 0$  is given, then there is a  $\delta > 0$  such that if P is any partition of [a, b] such that  $||P|| < \delta$ , and if R(P, f) is any Riemann sum for f corresponding to partition P and

any intermediate points  $c_i$ , then

$$\left| R(P,f) - \int_{a}^{b} f(x) \, dx \right| < \epsilon.$$

PROOF. For the proof and more details, see the book by Bartle and Sherbert [6].

The following lemma states some of the important properties of total variation of functions (this lemma is found in [26]).

LEMMA 5.9. (1) If f is a monotonic function on [a, b], then

$$\bigvee_{a}^{b} f = |f(a) - f(b)|,$$

where f is called a *monotonic* function if f is an increasing or decreasing function on [a, b] [58].

(2) Let  $f_1, f_2, \ldots, f_n$  be functions of bounded variation on [a, b]. Then the summation of  $f_i$  is of bounded variation and

$$\bigvee_{a}^{b} (f_1 + \dots + f_n) \leq \bigvee_{a}^{b} f_1 + \dots + \bigvee_{a}^{b} f_n.$$

(3) Let g: [s,t] → [a, b] be a monotonic function on [s,t] and f be a function of bounded variation on [a, b], then the composition function f ∘ g is a function of bounded variation on [s,t], and

$$\bigvee_{s}^{t} f \circ g \leq \bigvee_{a}^{b} f.$$

(4) Let f be a function of bounded variation on [a, b] and let  $a = a_0 < a_1 < \cdots < a_m = b$ . Then f is a function of bounded variation on  $[a_{i-1}, a_i]$  for

 $i = 1, \ldots, m$  and

$$\bigvee_{a_0}^{a_1} f + \dots + \bigvee_{a_{m-1}}^{a_m} f = \bigvee_a^b f.$$

(5) Let f be monotonic and continuously differentiable on [a, b]. Then

$$\bigvee_{a}^{b} f = \int_{a}^{b} |f'(x)| dx.$$

(6) If f is a function of bounded variation on [a, b], and g is continuously differentiable on [a, b], then the product function fg is a function of bounded variation on [a, b], and

$$\bigvee_{a}^{b} fg \leq \left( \sup_{x \in [a,b]} |g(x)| \right) \bigvee_{a}^{b} f + \int_{a}^{b} |f(x)g'(x)| dx.$$

PROOF. (1) Let f be a monotonic function, and  $P: a = x_0 < x_1 < \cdots < x_n = b$ be a partition of [a, b]. We divide the proof into two cases.

Case 1. Let f be an increasing function, then

$$f(x_{i-1}) \leq f(x_i)$$
 whenever  $x_{i-1} < x_i$ .

By the definition of total variation of f over P in (5.2), we have

$$\bigvee_{a}^{b} f = \sup_{P} \left\{ \sum_{i=1}^{n} |f(x_{i}) - f(x_{i-1})| \right\} = \sup_{P} \left\{ \sum_{i=1}^{n} f(x_{i}) - f(x_{i-1}) \right\}$$
$$= \sup_{P} \left\{ f(b) - f(a) \right\} = f(b) - f(b).$$

Case 2. If f is decreasing, similarly we have

$$\bigvee_{a}^{b} f = f(a) - f(b).$$

Hence, if f is a monotonic function, we have

$$\bigvee_{a}^{b} f = |f(a) - f(b)|.$$

(2) Suppose that  $f_1, f_2, \ldots, f_n$  are functions of bounded variation on [a, b], and P:  $a = x_0 < x_1 < \cdots < x_n = b$  is a partition of [a, b]. Then

$$\begin{split} \bigvee_{a}^{b}(f_{1}+\dots+f_{n}) &= \sup_{P} \left\{ \sum_{i=1}^{n} |(f_{1}+\dots+f_{n})(x_{i})-(f_{1}+\dots+f_{n})(x_{i-1})| \right\} \\ &= \sup_{P} \left\{ \sum_{i=1}^{n} |(f_{1}(x_{i})+\dots+f_{n}(x_{i}))-(f_{1}(x_{i-1})+\dots+f_{n}(x_{i-1}))| \right\} \\ &= \sup_{P} \left\{ \sum_{i=1}^{n} |(f_{1}(x_{i})-f_{1}(x_{i-1}))+\dots+(f_{n}(x_{i})-f_{n}(x_{i-1}))| \right\} \\ &\leq \sup_{P} \left\{ \sum_{i=1}^{n} |f_{1}(x_{i})-f_{1}(x_{i-1})|+\dots+|f_{n}(x_{i})-f_{n}(x_{i-1})| \right\} \\ &\leq \sup_{P} \left\{ \sum_{i=1}^{n} |f_{1}(x_{i})-f_{1}(x_{i-1})| \right\} +\dots + \sup_{P} \left\{ \sum_{i=1}^{n} |f_{n}(x_{i})-f_{n}(x_{i-1})| \right\} \\ &= \bigvee_{a}^{b} f_{1}+\dots \bigvee_{a}^{b} f_{n}. \end{split}$$

Therefore,

$$\bigvee_{a}^{b} (f_1 + \dots + f_n) = \bigvee_{a}^{b} f_1 + \dots \bigvee_{a}^{b} f_n.$$

(3) Let f be a function of bounded variation on [a, b], and  $g : [s, t] \to [a, b]$  be an increasing function on [s, t]. Let  $\{s = x_0 < x_1 < \cdots < x_n = t\}$  be a partition of

$$[s,t]. \text{ Then } \{a < g(x_0) < g(x_1) < \dots < g(x_n) < b\} \text{ is a partition of } [a,b]. \text{ So}$$
$$\sum_{i=1}^n |(f \circ g)(x_i) - (f \circ g)(x_{i-1})| \leq \sum_{i=1}^n |(f \circ g)(x_i)) - (f \circ g)(x_{i-1}))|$$
$$+ |(f \circ g)(x_0)) - f(a)| + |f(b) - (f \circ g)(x_n))|$$
$$\leq \bigvee_a^b f.$$

Hence,

$$\bigvee_{s}^{t} f \circ g \leq \bigvee_{a}^{b} f.$$

Similarly, we can prove the same result when g is decreasing.

(4) Let f be a function of bounded variation on [a, b] and let  $a = a_0 < a_1 < \cdots < a_m = b$ . We will prove the statement if a < c < b, which by induction the statement will be true for any finite number of subintervals.

Let  $P: a = x_0 < \cdots < x_n = b$  be a partition of [a, b], and  $c \in [a, b]$  such that  $c = x_m$  for some 0 < m < n. Assume that the partition  $P': a = x_0 < \cdots < c = x_m < \cdots < x_n = b$ . Note that,  $P \subseteq P'$ . Then  $\sum_{i=1}^n |f(x_i) - f(x_{i-1})|$ over partition P is less than or equal  $\sum_{i=1}^n |f(x_i) - f(x_{i-1})|$  over partition P'. Let  $P'_1: a = x_0 < \cdots < x_m = c$  be a partition of [a, c], and  $P'_2: c = x_m < \cdots < x_n = b$ be a partition of [c, b]. Then we can write

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} |f(x_i) - f(x_{i-1})| = \sum_{i=1}^{m} |f(x_i) - f(x_{i-1})| + \sum_{i=m+1}^{n} |f(x_i) - f(x_{i-1})|.$$

Therefore, we have

$$\bigvee_{a}^{b} f = \sup_{P} \left\{ \sum_{i=1}^{n} |f(x_{i}) - f(x_{i-1})| \right\} \leq \sup_{P'} \left\{ \sum_{i=1}^{n} |f(x_{i}) - f(x_{i-1})| \right\}$$

$$= \sup_{P'} \left\{ \sum_{i=1}^{m} |f(x_i) - f(x_{i-1})| + \sum_{i=m+1}^{n} |f(x_i) - f(x_{i-1})| \right\}$$
  
$$\leq \sup_{P'_1} \left\{ \sum_{i=1}^{m} |f(x_i) - f(x_{i-1})| \right\} + \sup_{P'_2} \left\{ \sum_{i=m+1}^{n} |f(x_i) - f(x_{i-1})| \right\}$$
  
$$= \bigvee_{a}^{c} f + \bigvee_{c}^{b} f.$$

Thus,

$$\bigvee_{a}^{b} f \leq \bigvee_{a}^{c} f + \bigvee_{c}^{b} f.$$
(5.3)

To prove the other inequality, let  $P_1 : a = x_0 < \cdots < x_m = c$ , and  $P_2 : c = x_m < \cdots < x_n = b$  be all the partitions of [a, c] and [c, b], respectively, such that for some  $\varepsilon > 0$ , we have

$$\bigvee_{a}^{c} f - \frac{\epsilon}{2} < \sum_{i=1}^{m} |f(x_{i}) - f(x_{i-1})|$$

and

$$\bigvee_{c}^{b} f - \frac{\epsilon}{2} < \sum_{i=m+1}^{n} |f(x_{i}) - f(x_{i-1})|.$$

Then

$$\bigvee_{a}^{c} f + \bigvee_{c}^{b} f - \epsilon < \sum_{i=1}^{m} |f(x_{i}) - f(x_{i-1})| + \sum_{i=m+1}^{n} |f(x_{i}) - f(x_{i-1})|$$

$$= \sum_{i=1}^{n} |f(x_{i}) - f(x_{i-1})| \leq \sup_{p} \left\{ \sum_{i=1}^{n} |f(x_{i}) - f(x_{i-1})| \right\}$$

$$= \bigvee_{a}^{b} f.$$

Thus,

$$\bigvee_{a}^{c} f + \bigvee_{c}^{b} f - \epsilon < \bigvee_{a}^{b} f.$$

Since  $\epsilon$  was arbitrary,

$$\bigvee_{a}^{c} f + \bigvee_{c}^{b} f \leq \bigvee_{a}^{b} f.$$
(5.4)

Therefore, by (5.3) and (5.4), we have

$$\bigvee_{a}^{c} f + \bigvee_{c}^{b} f = \bigvee_{a}^{b} f,$$

which follows by induction

$$\bigvee_{a_0}^{a_1} f + \dots + \bigvee_{a_{n-1}}^{a_n} f = \bigvee_{a}^{b} f.$$

(5) Let g be a monotonic and continuously differentiable function on [a, b], and  $P: a = x_0 < x_1 < \cdots < x_n = b$  be a partition of [a, b]. Note that, using the Fundamental Theorem of Calculus, we have

$$\bigvee_{a}^{b} f = \sup_{P} \left\{ \sum_{i=1}^{n} |f(x_{i}) - f(x_{i-1})| \right\} = \sup_{P} \left\{ \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left| \int_{x_{i-1}}^{x_{i}} f'(x) \, dx \right| \right\}$$
$$\leq \sup_{P} \left\{ \sum_{i=1}^{n} \int_{x_{i-1}}^{x_{i}} |f'(x)| \, dx \right\} = \sup_{P} \left\{ \int_{a}^{b} |f'(x)| \, dx \right\}$$
$$= \int_{a}^{b} |f'(x)| \, dx.$$

Therefore, for any partition of [a, b], we have

$$\bigvee_{a}^{b} f \leq \int_{a}^{b} |f'(x)|.$$
(5.5)

On the other hand, let  $\epsilon > 0$ . Then by Lemma 5.8, there exists  $\delta > 0$  such

that if a partition  $P : a = x_0 < x_1 < \cdots < x_n = b$  of [a, b] satisfies  $||P|| < \delta$ , then

$$\left|\sum_{i=1}^{n} |f'(\tilde{c}_i)| (x_i - x_{i-1}) - \int_a^b |f'(x)| \, dx\right| < \epsilon, \tag{5.6}$$

where  $\tilde{c}_i$  is any point in  $[x_{i-1}, x_i]$  for i = 1, 2, ..., n. Note that since  $f \in C^1[a, b]$ , by the Mean Value Theorem, which for example can be found in [50], we have

$$|f(x_i) - f(x_{i-1})| = |f'(c_i)|(x_i - x_{i-1})|$$

for some  $c_i \in [x_{i-1}, x_i]$ . Since (5.6) is valid with  $\tilde{c}_i = c_i$ , we have

$$\left|\sum_{i=1}^{n} |f'(c_i)| (x_i - x_{i-1}) - \int_a^b |f'(x)| \, dx\right| < \epsilon.$$
(5.7)

Therefore, using (5.7), we have

$$\int_{a}^{b} |f'(x)| dx \leq \sum_{k=1}^{n} |f'(c_k)| (x_i - x_{i-1}) + \epsilon,$$

which follows from Mean Value Theorem

$$\int_{a}^{b} |f'(x)| \, dx \leq \sum_{k=1}^{n} |f(x_{i}) - f(x_{i-1})| + \epsilon.$$

By taking the supremum for both side over partition P, we have,

$$\int_{a}^{b} |f'(x)| dx \leq \sup_{\|P\| < \delta} \left\{ \sum_{k=1}^{n} |f(x_{i}) - f(x_{i-1})| \right\} + \epsilon$$
$$\leq \sup_{P} \left\{ \sum_{k=1}^{n} |f(x_{i}) - f(x_{i-1})| \right\} + \epsilon$$
$$= \bigvee_{a}^{b} f + \epsilon.$$

Since  $\epsilon$  was arbitrary,

$$\int_{a}^{b} |f'(x)| dx \leq \bigvee_{a}^{b} f.$$
(5.8)

Thus by (5.5) and (5.8), it follows that

$$\bigvee_{a}^{b} f = \int_{a}^{b} |f'(x)| dx$$

(6) Let f be a function of bounded variation on [a, b], and g be a continuously differentiable function on [a, b]. Let f and g be in  $C^1[a, b]$ . Then using (5), we get

$$\begin{split} \bigvee_{a}^{b} fg &= \int_{a}^{b} |(fg)'| \ dx &= \int_{a}^{b} |f'g + fg'| \ dx \\ &\leq \int_{a}^{b} |f'g| \ dx + \int_{a}^{b} |fg'| \ dx \\ &\leq \sup_{x \in [a,b]} |g(x)| \int_{a}^{b} |f'| \ dx + \int_{a}^{b} |fg'| \ dx \\ &= \sup_{x \in [a,b]} |g(x)| \bigvee_{a}^{b} f \ dx + \int_{a}^{b} |fg'| \ dx. \end{split}$$

Since the space of  $C^1$ -functions is dense in the space of bounded variation functions, the result is still true when f is a function of bounded variation.

# 5.3.2 Finding an Upper Bound of $\bigvee_{0}^{1} Q_n f$ in terms of $\sum_{i=-2}^{n-1} |c_i - c_{i-1}|$ .

As the title of this subsection says, we will find an upper bound of  $\bigvee_{0}^{1} Q_{n} f$ in terms of  $\sum_{i=-2}^{n-1} |c_{i} - c_{i-1}|$ , which will be provided in Lemma 5.10, where  $Q_{n} f = \sum_{i=-3}^{n-1} c_{i} \phi_{i}(x)$ . Before we prove Lemma 5.10, we give the idea of the proof.

Since  $Q_n f \in S^3[x_0, \ldots, n]$ , which is a  $C^2$ -function,  $Q_n f$  is a  $C^1$ -function. So we can compute  $\bigvee_0^1 Q_n f$  by using (5) of Lemma 5.9 as follows:

$$\bigvee_{0}^{1} Q_{n} f = \int_{0}^{1} \left| (Q_{n} f)'(x) \right| dx = \int_{0}^{1} \left| \sum_{i=-3}^{n-1} c_{i} \phi_{i}'(x) \right| dx, \quad (5.9)$$

where  $\phi'_i$  is given by

$$\phi_i^{'}(x) = rac{1}{h}C^{'}\left(rac{x-x_i}{h}
ight)$$

and

$$C'(x) = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{2}x^2 & 0 \le x \le 1\\ \frac{1}{6}[3+6(x-1)-9(x-1)^2] & 1 \le x \le 2\\ \frac{1}{6}[-3-6(3-x)+9(3-x)^2] & 2 \le x \le 3\\ -\frac{1}{2}(4-x)^2 & 3 \le x \le 4\\ 0 & x \notin (0,4) \end{cases}$$

$$= \begin{cases} \frac{1}{2}x^2 & 0 \le x \le 1\\ \frac{1}{2} + (x-1) - \frac{3}{2}(x-1)^2 & 1 \le x \le 2\\ -\frac{1}{2} + (x-3) + \frac{3}{2}(x-3)^2 & 2 \le x \le 3\\ -\frac{1}{2}(x-4)^2 & 3 \le x \le 4\\ 0 & x \notin (0,4). \end{cases}$$

Using (5.9), we are going to prove Lemma 5.10 next.

LEMMA 5.10. For any  $f \in L^1[0, 1]$ ,

$$\bigvee_{0}^{1} Q_{n} f \leq \frac{8}{3} \sum_{i=-2}^{n-1} |c_{i} - c_{i-1}|.$$

PROOF. Note that by (5.9), we have

$$\begin{split} \bigvee_{0}^{1} Q_{n}f &= \int_{0}^{1} \left| (Q_{n}f)'(x) \, dx \right| = \sum_{i=0}^{n-1} \int_{x_{i}}^{x_{i+1}} \left| (Q_{n}f)'(x) \right| \, dx \\ &= \sum_{i=0}^{n-1} \int_{x_{i}}^{x_{i+1}} \left| \sum_{j=-3}^{n-1} c_{j}\phi_{j}'(x) \right| \, dx \\ &= \sum_{i=0}^{n-1} \int_{x_{i}}^{x_{i+1}} \left| c_{i-3}\phi_{i-3}'(x) + c_{i-2}\phi_{i-2}'(x) + c_{i-1}\phi_{i-1}'(x) + c_{i}\phi_{i}'(x) \right| \, dx \\ &= \sum_{i=0}^{n-1} \frac{1}{h} \int_{x_{i}}^{x_{i+1}} \left| c_{i-3}C'\left(\frac{x - x_{i-3}}{h}\right) + c_{i-2}C'\left(\frac{x - x_{i-2}}{h}\right) \right| \, dx \\ &= \sum_{i=0}^{n-1} \frac{1}{h} \int_{x_{i}}^{x_{i+1}} \left| c_{i-3}\left(-\frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{x - x_{i-3}}{h} - 4\right)^{2}\right) \right| \, dx \\ &= \sum_{i=0}^{n-1} \frac{1}{h} \int_{x_{i}}^{x_{i+1}} \left| c_{i-3}\left(-\frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{x - x_{i-3}}{h} - 4\right)^{2}\right) \right| \, dx \\ &+ c_{i-2}\left(-\frac{1}{2} + \left(\frac{x - x_{i-1}}{h} - 1\right) - \frac{3}{2}\left(\frac{x - x_{i-1}}{h} - 1\right)^{2}\right) \\ &+ c_{i}\left(\frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{x - x_{i}}{h}\right)^{2}\right) \right| \, dx. \end{split}$$

Let  $t = \frac{x-i}{h}$ . Then the above integral becomes

$$= \sum_{i=0}^{n-1} \frac{1}{h} \int_0^1 \left| \left( -\frac{1}{2} (t-1)^2 c_{i-3} - \frac{1}{2} c_{i-2} + (t-1) c_{i-2} + \frac{3}{2} (t-1)^2 c_{i-2} + \frac{1}{2} c_{i-1} + t c_{i-1} - \frac{3}{2} t^2 c_{i-1} + \frac{1}{2} t^2 c_i \right) h dt \right|$$

$$\begin{split} &= \sum_{i=0}^{n-1} \int_0^1 \left[ \left| \frac{1}{2} \left( c_i - 3c_{i-1} + 3c_{i-2} - c_{i-3} \right) t^2 + \left( c_{i-1} - 2c_{i-2} + c_{i-3} \right) t \right. \\ &+ \left. \frac{1}{2} \left( c_{i-1} - c_{i-3} \right) \right| \right] dt \\ &\leq \left. \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=0}^{n-1} \int_0^1 \left[ \left| c_i - 3c_{i-1} + 3c_{i-2} - c_{i-3} \right| t^2 + 2 \left| c_{i-1} - 2c_{i-2} + c_{i-3} \right| t \right. \\ &+ \left| c_{i-1} - c_{i-3} \right| \right] dt \\ &= \left. \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=0}^{n-1} \left[ \frac{1}{3} \left| c_i - 3c_{i-1} + 3c_{i-2} - c_{i-3} \right| + \left| c_{i-1} - 2c_{i-2} + c_{i-3} \right| \right. \\ &+ \left| c_{i-1} - c_{i-3} \right| \right] \\ &\leq \left. \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=0}^{n-1} \left[ \frac{1}{3} \left( \left| c_i - c_{i-1} \right| + 2 \left| c_{i-1} - c_{i-2} \right| + \left| c_{i-2} - c_{i-3} \right| \right) + \left| c_{i-1} - c_{i-2} \right| \right. \\ &+ \left| c_{i-2} - c_{i-3} \right| + \left| c_{i-1} - c_{i-2} \right| + \left| c_{i-2} - c_{i-3} \right| \right] \\ &= \left. \sum_{i=0}^{n-1} \left[ \frac{1}{6} \left| c_i - c_{i-1} \right| + \frac{4}{3} \left| c_{i-1} - c_{i-2} \right| + \frac{7}{6} \left| c_{i-2} - c_{i-3} \right| \right] \right] \\ &\leq \left. \sum_{i=-2}^{n-1} \left( \frac{1}{6} + \frac{4}{3} + \frac{7}{6} \right) \left| c_i - c_{i-1} \right| \\ &= \left. \frac{8}{3} \sum_{i=-2}^{n-1} \left| c_i - c_{i-1} \right| \right|. \end{split}$$

Hence,

$$\bigvee_{0}^{1} Q_{n} f \leq \frac{8}{3} \sum_{i=-2}^{n-1} \left| c_{i} - c_{i-1} \right|.$$

The next step is to find an upper bound of  $\sum_{i=-2}^{n-1} |c_i - c_{i-1}|$ . One way to do so is by constructing a nonsingular matrix  $\widetilde{B}_n \in \mathbb{R}^{(n+2)\times(n+2)}$  and vector  $\tilde{b} \in \mathbb{R}^{n+2}$ such that

$$\widetilde{B}_n \widetilde{c} = \widetilde{b}, \tag{5.10}$$

where

$$\tilde{c} = [c_{-2} - c_{-3}, c_{-1} - c_{-2}, \dots, c_{n-1} - c_{n-2}]^T$$

 $\widetilde{B}_n = [\widetilde{b}_{ij}]_{i,j=-2}^{n-1}$  is a band-matrix with band-width three, and

$$\tilde{b}_{-2} \begin{vmatrix} \tilde{b}_{-1} \\ \tilde{b}_{-1} \\ \tilde{b}_{0} \\ \tilde{b}_{1} \\ \vdots \\ \tilde{b}_{n-4} \\ \tilde{b}_{n-3} \\ \tilde{b}_{n-2} \\ \tilde{b}_{n-1} \end{vmatrix} = \begin{cases} \beta_{1}\hat{b}_{-2} + \beta_{2}\hat{b}_{-3} \\ \beta_{3}\hat{b}_{-1} + \beta_{4}\hat{b}_{-2} + \beta_{5}\hat{b}_{-3} \\ \beta_{6}\hat{b}_{0} + \beta_{7}\hat{b}_{-1} + \beta_{8}\hat{b}_{-2} + \beta_{9}\hat{b}_{-3} \\ \gamma_{1}\hat{b}_{1} + \gamma_{0}\hat{b}_{0} \\ \vdots \\ \gamma_{n-4}\hat{b}_{n-4} + \gamma_{n-5}\hat{b}_{n-5} \\ \delta_{1}\hat{b}_{n-1} + \delta_{2}\hat{b}_{n-2} + \delta_{3}\hat{b}_{n-3} + \delta_{4}\hat{b}_{n-4} \\ \delta_{5}\hat{b}_{n-1} + \delta_{6}\hat{b}_{n-2} + \delta_{7}\hat{b}_{n-3} \\ \delta_{8}\hat{b}_{n-1} + \delta_{9}\hat{b}_{n-2} \end{cases}$$

Both  $\widetilde{B}_n$  and  $\widetilde{b}$  are to be determined in the next subsection.

5.3.3 Finding an Upper Bound of 
$$\sum_{i=-2}^{n-1} |c_i - c_{i-1}|$$
 in terms of  $\|\tilde{b}\|_1$ 

We determine  $\tilde{B}_n$  and  $\tilde{b}$  as follows. Note that the first equation of  $\tilde{B}_n \tilde{c} = \tilde{b}$ and the first two equations of  $\hat{B}_n c = \hat{b}$  give

$$\begin{split} \tilde{b}_{-2,-2}(c_{-2}-c_{-3}) &+ \tilde{b}_{-2,-1}(c_{-1}-c_{-2}) + \tilde{b}_{-2,0}(c_0-c_{-1}) + \tilde{b}_{-2,1}(c_1-c_0) \\ &= \beta_1 \hat{b}_{-2} + \beta_2 \hat{b}_{-3} \\ &= \beta_1 (129c_{-3} + 1208c_{-2} + 1062c_{-1} + 120c_0 + c_1) + \beta_2 (20c_{-3} + 129c_{-2} + 60c_{-1} + c_0) \\ &= (129\beta_1 + 20\beta_2)c_{-3} + (1208\beta_1 + 129\beta_2)c_{-2} + (1062\beta_1 + 60\beta_2)c_{-1} \\ &+ (120\beta_1 + \beta_2)c_0 + \beta_1 c_1. \end{split}$$

The left hand side of the above equation can be written as

$$-\tilde{b}_{-2,-2}c_{-3} + (\tilde{b}_{-2,-2} - \tilde{b}_{-2,-1})c_{-2} + (\tilde{b}_{-2,-1} - \tilde{b}_{-2,0})c_{-1} + (\tilde{b}_{-2,0} - \tilde{b}_{-2,1})c_{0} + \tilde{b}_{-2,1}c_{1},$$

 $\mathbf{SO}$ 

$$\begin{split} -\tilde{b}_{-2,-2} &= 129\beta_1 + 20\beta_2, \\ \tilde{b}_{-2,-2} - \tilde{b}_{-2,-1} &= 1208\beta_1 + 129\beta_2, \\ \tilde{b}_{-2,-1} - \tilde{b}_{-2,0} &= 1062\beta_1 + 60\beta_2, \\ \tilde{b}_{-2,0} - \tilde{b}_{-2,1} &= 120\beta_1 + \beta_2, \\ \tilde{b}_{-2,1} &= \beta_1. \end{split}$$

By setting  $\tilde{b}_{-2,1} = \beta_1 = 1$ , then solving the remaining top four equations for  $\tilde{b}_{-2,-2}, \tilde{b}_{-2,-1}, \tilde{b}_{-2,0}$ , and  $\beta_2$ , we obtain

$$\tilde{b}_{-2,-2} = 111, \ \tilde{b}_{-2,-1} = 451, \ \tilde{b}_{-2,0} = 109, \ \beta_2 = -12.$$

Continuing to use the similar technique gives us

	111	451	109	1						
	178	1403	1071	119	1					
	435	3956	4557	1429	122	1				
	1	120	1191	2416	1191	120	1			
	0	1	120	1191	2416	1191	120	1		
$\widetilde{B}_n =$		·	·	·	·	·	·	·		
			1	120	1191	2416	1191	120	1	0
				1	120	1191	2416	1191	120	1
					1	122	1429	4557	3956	435
						1	119	1071	1403	178
	_						1	109	451	111

and

$$\tilde{b} = \begin{bmatrix} \hat{b}_{-2} - 12\hat{b}_{-3} \\ \hat{b}_{-1} - 2\hat{b}_{-2} + \hat{b}_{-3} \\ \hat{b}_{0} + \hat{b}_{-1} - 4\hat{b}_{-2} + \hat{b}_{-3} \\ \hat{b}_{1} - \hat{b}_{0} \\ \vdots \\ \hat{b}_{n-4} - \hat{b}_{n-5} \\ -\hat{b}_{n-1} + 4\hat{b}_{n-2} - \hat{b}_{n-3} - \hat{b}_{n-4} \\ -\hat{b}_{n-1} + 2\hat{b}_{n-2} - \hat{b}_{n-3} \\ 12\hat{b}_{n-1} - \hat{b}_{n-2} \end{bmatrix}.$$
(5.11)

Since our goal is to find an upper bound of  $\sum_{i=-2}^{n-1} |c_i - c_{i-1}| = \sum_{i=-2}^{n-1} |\tilde{c}_i|$ , we write  $\tilde{B}_n \tilde{c} = \tilde{b}$  as  $\tilde{c} = \tilde{B}_n^{-1} \tilde{b}$ . It turns out that  $\|\tilde{B}_n^{-1}\|_1$  is uniformly bounded. In fact, MATLAB gives the following results:

Table 5: 1-norm of  $\widetilde{B}_n^{-1}$ 

n = 8	$\ \widetilde{B}_8^{-1}\ _1 = 0.042578$
n = 16	$\ \widetilde{B}_{16}^{-1}\ _1 = 0.041892$
n = 32	$\ \widetilde{B}_{32}^{-1}\ _1 = 0.041887$
n = 64	$\ \widetilde{B}_{64}^{-1}\ _1 = 0.041869$
n = 128	$\ \widetilde{B}_{128}^{-1}\ _1 = 0.041869$

Hence, for  $n \ge 8$ 

$$\|\widetilde{B}_n^{-1}\|_1 \le 0.043. \tag{5.12}$$

So, for  $n \ge 8$ ,

$$\sum_{i=-2}^{n-1} |c_i - c_{i-1}| = \sum_{i=-2}^{n-1} |\tilde{c}_i| = \|\tilde{c}\|_1$$
$$= \|\tilde{B}_n^{-1}\tilde{b}\|_1 \leq \|\tilde{B}_n^{-1}\|_1\|\tilde{b}\|_1$$
$$\leq 0.043\|\tilde{b}\|_1.$$

Therefore,

$$\sum_{i=-2}^{n-1} |c_i - c_{i-1}| = 0.043 \|\tilde{b}\|_1 \text{ for } n \ge 8.$$

# 5.3.4 Finding an Upper Bound of $\|\tilde{b}\|_1$ in terms of $\bigvee_0^1 f$

In this subsection we find an upper bound of  $\|\tilde{b}\|_1$  in terms of the total variation of f, which is done in the following lemma, where  $\tilde{b} \in \mathbb{R}^{n+2}$  is defined in (5.11) in the previous subsection.

LEMMA 5.11. For  $f \in L^1[0,1]$ 

$$\|\tilde{b}\|_1 \leq 37254 \bigvee_0^1 f.$$

PROOF. Note that by (5.1) and (5.11),  $\|\tilde{b}\|_1$  is expressed as follows:

$$\|\tilde{b}\|_{1} = \left|\hat{b}_{-2} - 12\hat{b}_{-3}\right| + \left|\hat{b}_{-1} - 2\hat{b}_{-2} + \hat{b}_{-3}\right| + \left|\hat{b}_{0} + \hat{b}_{-1} - 4\hat{b}_{-2} + \hat{b}_{-3}\right|$$
$$+ \sum_{i=0}^{n-5} \left| \hat{b}_{i+1} - \hat{b}_i \right| + \left| \hat{b}_{n-1} - 4\hat{b}_{n-2} + \hat{b}_{n-3} + \hat{b}_{n-4} \right|$$

$$+ \left| \hat{b}_{n-1} - 2\hat{b}_{n-2} + \hat{b}_{n-3} \right| + \left| 12\hat{b}_{n-1} - \hat{b}_{n-2} \right|$$

$$= \frac{5040}{h} \Big[ \left| b_{-2} - 12b_{-3} \right| + \left| b_{-1} - 2b_{-2} + b_{-3} \right| + \left| b_0 + b_{-1} - 4b_{-2} + b_{-3} \right|$$

$$+ \sum_{i=0}^{n-5} \left| b_{i+1} - b_i \right| + \left| b_{n-1} - 4b_{n-2} + b_{n-3} + b_{n-4} \right|$$

$$+ \left| b_{n-1} - 2b_{n-2} + b_{n-3} \right| + \left| 12b_{n-1} - b_{n-2} \right| \Big].$$

To find an upper bound of  $\|\tilde{b}\|_1$ , it is sufficient to find an upper bound of each term in the above expression. We first find an upper bound of the general term  $\|b_{i+1}-b_i\|_1$  for i = 0, 1, ..., n-5. Note that  $(x_i, x_{i+5})$  is the support of  $\phi_{i+1}(x)-\phi_i(x)$ . So  $|b_{i+1}-b_i|$  can be written as

$$\begin{aligned} |b_{i+1} - b_i| &= \left| \int_0^1 f(x) \left[ \phi_{i+1}(x) - \phi_i(x) \right] dx \right| \\ &= \left| \int_{ih}^{(i+5)h} f(x) \left[ \phi_{i+1}(x) - \phi_i(x) \right] dx \right|. \end{aligned}$$

Recall that  $\|\phi_i\|_1 = h$  for i = 0, 1, ..., n - 4. Then for i = 0, 1, ..., n - 5,

$$\int_0^1 [\phi_{i+1}(x) - \phi_i(x)] dx = \int_0^1 \phi_{i+1}(x) dx - \int_0^1 \phi_i(x) dx$$
$$= \|\phi_{i+1}\|_1 - \|\phi_i\|_1 = h - h = 0$$

If we choose a constant, for example f(ih), in support of  $\phi_{i+1}(x) - \phi_i(x)$ , then

$$\int_{ih}^{(i+5)h} f(ih) \left[\phi_{i+1}(x) - \phi_i(x)\right] dx = f(ih) \int_{ih}^{(i+5)h} \left[\phi_{i+1}(x) - \phi_i(x)\right] dx = 0.$$

Therefore,

$$\begin{aligned} |b_{i+1} - b_i| &= \left| \int_{ih}^{(i+5)h} f(x) \left( \phi_{i+1}(x) - \phi_i(x) \right) dx \right| \\ &- \int_{ih}^{(i+5)h} f(ih) \left( \phi_{i+1}(x) - \phi_i(x) \right) dx \right| \\ &= \left| \int_{ih}^{(i+5)h} \left( f(x) - f(ih) \right) \left( \phi_{i+1}(x) - \phi_i(x) \right) dx \right| \\ &\leq \int_{ih}^{(i+5)h} |f(x) - f(ih)| \cdot |\phi_{i+1}(x) - \phi_i(x)| dx \\ &\leq \int_{ih}^{(i+5)h} \left( \bigvee_{ih}^{(i+5)h} f \right) |\phi_{i+1}(x) - \phi_i(x)| dx. \end{aligned}$$

By symmetry the zero of  $|\phi_{i+1} - \phi_i|$  that lies in [ih, (i+5)h] is  $\frac{(2i+5)h}{2}$ , which is the intersection point of  $\phi_{i+1} - \phi_i$  as Figure 9 shows.



Figure 9: Intersection point between  $\phi_{i+1} - \phi_i$  for i = 0, ..., n-5

Therefore, the expressions of  $|\phi_{i+1}(x) - \phi_i(x)|$  are the following:

$$|\phi_{i+1}(x) - \phi_i(x)| = \begin{cases} \phi_i(x) & [ih, (i+1)h] \\ \phi_i(x) - \phi_{i+1}(x) & [(i+1)h, (i+2)h] \\ \phi_i(x) - \phi_{i+1}(x) & [(i+2)h, (i+\frac{5}{2})h] \\ \phi_{i+1}(x) - \phi_i(x) & [(i+2)h, (i+3)h] \\ \phi_{i+1}(x) - \phi_i(x) & [(i+3)h, (i+4)h] \\ \phi_{i+1}(x) & [(i+4)h, (i+5)h]. \end{cases}$$

By using (3.5), we calculate  $\int_{ih}^{(i+5)h} |\phi_{i+1}(x) - \phi_i(x)| dx$  over 6 subintervals specified above as follows:

Over the first and last subintervals, we have

$$\int_{ih}^{(i+1)h} \phi_i(x) \, dx = \int_{ih}^{(i+1)h} C\left(\frac{x-x_i}{h}\right) \, dx = h \int_0^1 C(t) \, dt$$
$$= h \int_0^1 \frac{1}{6} t^3 \, dt = \frac{h}{24}$$

and

$$\int_{(i+4)h}^{(i+5)h} \phi_{i+1}(x) \, dx = \int_{(i+4)h}^{(i+5)h} C\left(\frac{x-x_{i+1}}{h}\right) \, dx = h \int_{4}^{5} C(t-1) \, dt$$
$$= h \int_{4}^{5} \frac{1}{6} (5-t)^3 \, dt = \frac{h}{24}.$$

Over the second interval, we have

$$\int_{(i+1)h}^{(i+2)h} (\phi_i(x) - \phi_{i+1}(x)) dx = \int_{(i+1)h}^{(i+2)h} \left( C\left(\frac{x - x_i}{h}\right) - C\left(\frac{x - x_{i+1}}{h}\right) \right) dx$$
$$= h \int_1^2 (C(t) - C(t-1)) dt$$

$$= h \int_{1}^{2} \frac{1}{6} \left( 1 + 3(t-1) + 3(t-1)^{2} - 3(t-1)^{3} - (t-1)^{3} \right) dt$$
$$= h \frac{1}{6} \left[ t + \frac{3}{2}(t-1)^{2} + (t-1)^{3} - (t-1)^{4} \right]_{1}^{2}$$
$$= \frac{5h}{12}.$$

Over the third subinterval, we have

$$\begin{split} \int_{(i+2)h}^{(i+\frac{5}{2})h} (\phi_i(x) - \phi_{i+1}(x)) \, dx &= \int_{(i+2)h}^{(i+\frac{5}{2})h} \left( C\left(\frac{x-x_i}{h}\right) - C\left(\frac{x-x_{i+1}}{h}\right) \right) \, dx \\ &= h \int_2^{\frac{5}{2}} \left[ C(t) - C(t-1) \right] \, dt \\ &= h \int_2^{\frac{5}{2}} \frac{1}{6} \left[ 1 + 3(3-t) + 3(3-t)^2 - 3(3-t)^3 \right. \\ &- 1 - 3(t-2) - 3(t-2)^2 + 3(t-2)^3 \right] \, dt \\ &= \frac{9h}{64}. \end{split}$$

Over the fourth subinterval, we have

$$\int_{(i+\frac{5}{2})h}^{(i+3)h} (\phi_{i+1}(x) - \phi_i(x)) dx = \int_{(i+\frac{5}{2})h}^{(i+3)h} \left( C\left(\frac{x - x_{i+1}}{h}\right) - C\left(\frac{x - x_i}{h}\right) \right) dx$$
$$= h \int_{\frac{5}{2}}^3 (C(t-1) - C(t)) dt$$
$$= h \int_{\frac{5}{2}}^3 \frac{1}{6} \left[ 1 + 3(t-2) + 3(t-2)^2 - 3(t-2)^3 \right]$$

$$- 1 - 3(3 - t) - 3(3 - t)^{2} + 3(3 - t)^{3} dt$$
$$= \frac{9h}{64}.$$

Finally, over the fifth subinterval, we have

$$\int_{(i+3)h}^{(i+4)h} (\phi_{i+1}(x) - \phi_i(x)) dx = \int_{(i+3)h}^{(i+4)h} \left( C\left(\frac{x - x_{i+1}}{h}\right) - C\left(\frac{x - x_i}{h}\right) \right) dx$$
$$= h \int_3^4 \left( C(t-1) - C(t) \right) dt$$
$$= h \int_3^4 \frac{1}{6} \left[ 1 + 3(4-t) + 3(4-t)^2 - 3(4-t)^3 - (4-t)^3 \right] dt = \frac{5h}{12}.$$

Therefore,

$$|b_{i+1} - b_i| \leq \bigvee_{ih}^{(i+5)h} f\left[\frac{h}{24} + \frac{5h}{12} + \frac{9h}{64} + \frac{9h}{64} + \frac{5h}{12} + \frac{h}{24}\right]$$
$$= \frac{115}{96}h \bigvee_{ih}^{(i+5)h} f \text{ for } i = 0, 1, \dots, n-5.$$

Using the same technique, one can show that

$$|b_{-2} - 12b_{-3}| \le \frac{2h}{5} \bigvee_{0}^{2h} f \quad \text{and} \quad |12b_{n-1} - b_{n-2}| \le \frac{2h}{5} \bigvee_{1-2h}^{1}$$
$$|b_{-1} - 2b_{-2} + b_{-3}| \le \frac{19h}{20} \bigvee_{0}^{3h} f \quad \text{and} \quad |b_{n-1} - 2b_{n-2} + b_{n-3}| \le \frac{19h}{20} \bigvee_{1-3h}^{1} f$$
$$|b_{0} + b_{-1} - 4b_{-2} + b_{-3}| \le \frac{13h}{5} \bigvee_{0}^{4h} f \quad \text{and} \quad |b_{n-1} - 4b_{n-2} + b_{n-3} + b_{n-4}| \le \frac{13h}{5} \bigvee_{1-4h}^{1} f.$$

Therefore,

$$\begin{split} \|\tilde{b}\|_{1} &\leq \frac{5040}{h} \left[ \frac{2}{5} h \bigvee_{0}^{2h} f + \frac{19}{20} h \bigvee_{0}^{3h} f + \frac{13}{5} h \bigvee_{0}^{4h} f \right. \\ &+ \sum_{i=0}^{n-5} \frac{115}{96} h \bigvee_{ih}^{(i+5)h} f + \frac{13}{5} h \bigvee_{1-4h}^{1} f + \frac{19}{20} h \bigvee_{1-3h}^{1} f + \frac{2}{5} h \bigvee_{1-2h}^{1} \right] \\ &\leq 2016 \bigvee_{0}^{x_{2}} f + 4788 \bigvee_{0}^{x_{3}} f + 13104 \bigvee_{0}^{x_{4}} f \\ &+ \sum_{i=0}^{n-5} 6037.5 \bigvee_{ih}^{(i+5)h} f + 13104 \bigvee_{x_{n-4}}^{x_{n}} f + 4788 \bigvee_{x_{n-3}}^{x_{n}} f + 2016 \bigvee_{x_{n-2}}^{x_{n}} f \\ &\leq 25946 \bigvee_{0}^{x_{1}} f + 31983 \bigvee_{x_{1}}^{x_{2}} f + 36005 \bigvee_{x_{2}}^{x_{3}} f + 37254 \bigvee_{x_{3}}^{x_{4}} f + \sum_{i=5}^{n-4} 30188 \bigvee_{x_{i-1}}^{x_{i}} f \\ &+ 37254 \bigvee_{x_{n-4}}^{x_{n-3}} f + 36005 \bigvee_{x_{n-3}}^{x_{n-2}} f + 31983 \bigvee_{x_{n-2}}^{x_{n-1}} f + 25946 \bigvee_{x_{n-1}}^{x_{n}} f \\ &\leq 37254 \bigvee_{0}^{1} f \end{split}$$

Hence,

$$\|\tilde{b}\|_1 \leq 37254 \bigvee_0^1 f.$$

Once we found that  $\|\tilde{b}\|_1$  is bounded by  $37254 \bigvee_0^1 f$ , we are ready to find a uniform upper bound of the total variation of  $Q_n f$  in terms of the total variation of f.

THEOREM 5.12. Let  $f \in BV[0,1]$ . Then for  $n \ge 8$  we have,

$$\bigvee_{0}^{1} Q_n f \leq 4272 \bigvee_{0}^{1} f.$$

PROOF. Let  $f \in BV[0, 1]$ . By Lemma 5.10, equation (5.12), and Lemma 5.11, we have

Therefore, for  $n \ge 8$ 

5.4 Uniform Boundedness of Total Variation of  $\{f_n\}$ 

This section is about finding a uniform upper bound of the total variation of  $f_n$  for  $n \ge 8$ . To do that, we need Yorke's inequality and Lasota-York inequality; more details can be found in the book by Ding and Zhou [26] and the book by Lasota and Yorke [46].

**Yorke's Inequality.** Let f be a function of bounded variation on [a, b], which is contained in [0, 1]. Then we have

$$\bigvee_{0}^{1} f \mathbb{1}_{[a,b]} \leq 2 \bigvee_{a}^{b} f + \frac{2}{b-a} \int_{a}^{b} |f(x)| dx.$$
 (5.13)

PROOF. First of all we need to prove the following claim.

Claim. There exists  $c \in [a, b]$  such that

$$|f(c)| \leq \frac{1}{b-a} \int_a^b |f(x)| \, dx.$$

Proof. We prove the claim by way of contradiction. Suppose that for all  $x \in [a, b]$ , we have

$$|f(x)| > \frac{1}{b-a} \int_{a}^{b} |f(x)| dx.$$

Let  $v = \int_{a}^{b} |f(x)| dx$ . Then

$$|f(x)| > \frac{1}{b-a}v.$$

Integrate both side with respect to x, we get

$$\int_{a}^{b} |f(x)| \, dx > \frac{1}{b-a} \int_{a}^{b} v \, dx = \frac{1}{b-a} \, v \int_{a}^{b} \, dx = \frac{1}{b-a} \, v \, (b-a) = v.$$

Thus,

$$\int_a^b |f(x)| \ dx > \int_a^b |f(x)| \ dx,$$

which is a contradiction. Hence, there exists  $c \in [a, b]$  such that

$$|f(c)| \leq \frac{1}{b-a} \int_a^b |f(x)| \, dx.$$

	L
	L
	L

Note that

$$\bigvee_{0}^{1} f \mathbb{1}_{[a,b]} = \bigvee_{a}^{b} f + |f(a)| + |f(b)|.$$

By using (1) and (4) of Lemma 5.9 and the claim, we get

$$\bigvee_{0}^{1} f \mathbb{1}_{[a,b]} = \bigvee_{a}^{b} f + |f(a)| + |f(b)|$$

$$= \bigvee_{a}^{b} f + |f(a) - f(c) + f(c)| + |f(b) - f(c) + f(c)|$$

$$\leq \bigvee_{a}^{b} f + |f(a) - f(c)| + |f(b) - f(c)| + 2|f(c)|$$

$$\leq \bigvee_{a}^{b} f + \bigvee_{a}^{c} f + \bigvee_{c}^{b} f + 2\frac{1}{b-a} \int_{a}^{b} |f(x)| dx$$

$$= \bigvee_{a}^{b} f + \bigvee_{a}^{b} f + 2\frac{1}{b-a} \int_{a}^{b} |f(x)| dx$$

$$= 2 \bigvee_{a}^{b} f + \frac{2}{b-a} \int_{a}^{b} |f(x)| dx.$$

**Lasota-Yorke inequality.** Let  $f \in BV[0,1]$  be a density function. Let  $S : [0,1] \rightarrow [0,1]$  be a map that satisfies the following conditions:

- (1) There is a partition  $0 = a_0 < a_1 < \cdots < a_r = 1$  of the interval [0, 1] such that for  $i = 1, 2, \ldots, r$ , the restriction  $S|_{(a_{i-1}, a_i)}$  of S to the open interval  $(a_{i-1}, a_i)$  can be extended to the closed interval  $[a_{i-1}, a_i]$  as a  $C^2$ -function.
- (2) Assume that

$$s_1 \equiv \inf \{ |S'(x)| \colon x \in [0,1] / \{a_1, a_2, \dots, a_{r-1}\} \} > 0.$$

(3) Let  $s_2$  be defined by

$$s_2 = \sup \left\{ \frac{|S''(x)|}{[S'(x)]^2} : x \in [0,1] / \{a_1, a_2, \dots, a_{r-1}\} \right\}.$$

Then

$$\bigvee_{0}^{1} Pf \leq \alpha \bigvee_{0}^{1} f + \beta \|f\|_{1},$$

where

$$\alpha = \frac{2}{s_1}$$
 and  $\beta = \max_{i=1,\dots,n} 2\left[s_2 + \frac{1}{\lambda(I_i)}\right]$ .

PROOF. Let  $S_i = S|_{(a_{i-1},a_i)}$ ,  $g_i = S_i^{-1}$ , and  $I_i = S((a_{i-1},a_i))$  for i = 1, 2, ..., n. Let's denote

$$\Delta_{i}(x) = \begin{cases} (a_{i-1}, g_{i}(x)) & x \in I_{i}, \ g_{i}'(x) > 0\\ (g_{i}(x), a_{i}) & x \in I_{i}, \ g_{i}'(x) < 0\\ (a_{i-1}, a_{i}) \text{ or } \phi & x \notin I_{i}. \end{cases}$$

Then for  $x \in [0,1]$ ,

$$S^{-1}((0,x)) = \bigcup_{i=1}^{n} \Delta_i(x).$$

Using the explicit definition of Frobenius-Perron operator in equation (2.13) and the fact that  $\Delta_i$  is disjoint, we have

$$Pf = \frac{d}{dx} \int_{S^{-1}((0,x)} f(t) dt = \frac{d}{dx} \int_{\bigcup_{i=1}^{n} \Delta_i(x)} f(t) dt$$
$$= \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{d}{dx} \int_{\Delta_i(x)} f(t) dt.$$

The Fundamental Theorem of Calculus, where F'(x) = f(x), gives

$$\frac{d}{dx} \int_{\Delta_i(x)} f(t) dt = \begin{cases} \frac{d}{dx} \int_{a_{i-1}}^{g_i(x)} f(t) dt & x \in I_i, \ g'_i(x) > 0 \\ \frac{d}{dx} \int_{g_i(x)}^{a_i} f(t) dt & x \in I_i, \ g'_i(x) < 0 \\ \frac{d}{dx} \int_{a_{i-1}}^{a_i} f(t) dt & x \notin I_i \end{cases}$$

$$= \begin{cases} \frac{d}{dx} \left[ F(g_i(x)) - F(a_{i-1}) \right] & x \in I_i, \ g'_i(x) > 0 \\ \frac{d}{dx} \left[ F(a_i) - F(g_i(x)) \right] & x \in I_i, \ g'_i(x) < 0 \\ 0 & x \notin I_i \end{cases}$$
$$= \begin{cases} g'_i(x) f(g_i(x)) & x \in I_i, \ g'_i(x) > 0 \\ -g'_i(x) f(g_i(x)) & x \in I_i, \ g'_i(x) < 0 \\ 0 & x \notin I_i. \end{cases}$$

Then

$$Pf = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sigma_i(x) f(g_i(x)) \mathbf{1}_{I_i}(x), \qquad (5.14)$$

where  $\sigma_i(x) = |g'_i(x)|$ . Note that by (2) for all  $x \in I_i$ , we have

$$\sigma_i(x) = |g'_i(x)| = \frac{1}{|S'(g_i(x))|} \le \frac{1}{s_1}.$$
(5.15)

Case 1. If  $g_i'(x) > 0$ , then  $\sigma_i(x) = g_i'(x) = \frac{1}{S'(g_i(x))}$ . So

$$|\sigma'_{i}(x)| = \left| \left[ \frac{1}{S'(g_{i}(x))} \right]' \right| = \left| \frac{-S''(g_{i}(x))g'_{i}(x)}{[S'(g_{i}(x))]^{2}} \right|.$$

Case 2. If  $g'_i(x) < 0$ , then  $\sigma_i(x) = -g'_i(x) = -\frac{1}{S'(g_i(x))}$ . So

$$|\sigma'_i(x)| = \left| \left[ -\frac{1}{S'(g_i(x))} \right]' \right| = \left| \left[ \frac{1}{S'(g_i(x))} \right]' \right| = \left| \frac{-S''(g_i(x))g'_i(x)}{[S'(g_i(x))]^2} \right|.$$

Thus by (3), for all  $x \in I_i$ ,

$$|\sigma_i'(x)| = \left| \frac{-S''(g_i(x))g_i'(x)}{[S'(g_i(x))]^2} \right| \le s_2 \sigma_i(x).$$
(5.16)

Let  $f \in BV[0,1]$  be a density function. Then by (5.13), (5.14), (5.15), (5.16) and (2), (3), (4), and (6) of Lemma 5.9, we have

$$\begin{split} \bigvee_{0}^{1} Pf &= \bigvee_{0}^{1} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sigma_{i}(x)(f \circ g_{i}) \mathbf{1}_{I_{i}} \\ &\leq \sum_{i=1}^{n} \bigvee_{0}^{1} \sigma_{i}(x)(f \circ g_{i}) + \frac{2}{\lambda(I_{i})} \int_{I_{i}} \sigma_{i}(f \circ g_{i}) dx \\ &\leq \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left[ 2 \bigvee_{I_{i}} \sigma_{i}(f \circ g_{i}) + \frac{2}{\lambda(I_{i})} \int_{I_{i}} \sigma_{i}(f \circ g_{i}) dx \right] \\ &\leq 2 \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left[ \left( \sup_{x \in I_{i}} \sigma_{i} \right) \bigvee_{I_{i}} (f \circ g_{i}) + \int_{I_{i}} |\sigma_{i}'| (f \circ g_{i}) dx \right] + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{2}{\lambda(I_{i})} \int_{I_{i}} \sigma_{i}(f \circ g_{i}) dx \\ &\leq 2 \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left[ \frac{1}{s_{1}} \bigvee_{I_{i}} (f \circ g_{i}) + \int_{I_{i}} s_{2} \sigma_{i}(f \circ g_{i}) dx \right] + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{2}{\lambda(I_{i})} \int_{I_{i}} \sigma_{i}(f \circ g_{i}) dx \\ &= \frac{2}{s_{1}} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \bigvee_{I_{i}} (f \circ g_{i}) + 2 \sum_{i=1}^{n} \int_{I_{i}} s_{2} \sigma_{i}(f \circ g_{i}) dx + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{2}{\lambda(I_{i})} \int_{I_{i}} \sigma_{i}(f \circ g_{i}) dx \\ &= \frac{2}{s_{1}} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \bigvee_{I_{i}} (f \circ g_{i}) + 2 \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left[ s_{2} + \frac{1}{\lambda(I_{i})} \right] \int_{I_{i}} \sigma_{i}(f \circ g_{i}) dx \\ &\leq \frac{2}{s_{1}} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{a_{i-1}}^{a} f + 2 \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left[ s_{2} + \frac{1}{\lambda(I_{i})} \right] \int_{I_{i}} \sigma_{i}(f \circ g_{i}) dx \\ &= \frac{2}{s_{1}} \bigvee_{0}^{1} f + 2 \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left[ s_{2} + \frac{1}{\lambda(I_{i})} \right] \int_{a_{i-1}}^{a_{i}} f(y) dy \\ &= \alpha \bigvee_{0}^{1} f + \beta \sum_{i=1}^{n} \int_{a_{i-1}}^{a_{i}} f(y) dy \leq \alpha \bigvee_{0}^{1} f + \beta \int_{0}^{1} f(y) dy \\ &= \alpha \bigvee_{0}^{1} f + \beta ||f||_{1} = \alpha \bigvee_{0}^{1} f + \beta, \end{split}$$

where 
$$\alpha = \frac{2}{s_1}$$
 and  $\beta = \max_{i=1,\dots,n} 2\left[s_2 + \frac{1}{\lambda(I_i)}\right]$ .

From now on, we assume that the map S satisfies all the assumptions in the Lasota-Yorke inequality. Then, there exist two positive constants  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  such that for all density functions f of bounded variation we have,

$$\bigvee_{0}^{1} Pf \leq \alpha \bigvee_{0}^{1} f + \beta.$$
(5.17)

THEOREM 5.13. Suppose that  $\{f_n\} \in S^3[x_0, \ldots, x_n]$ . Then total variation of  $\{f_n\}$  is uniformly bounded by  $\frac{4272\beta}{1-4272\alpha}$  for  $n \ge 8$ .

PROOF. we can find the bounded variation of  $f_n$  by using (4.12), Theorem 5.12, and the Lasota-Yorke inequality (5.17) as follows:

$$\bigvee_{0}^{1} f_{n} = \bigvee_{0}^{1} (Q_{n}P_{S})f_{n} = \bigvee_{0}^{1} Q_{n}(P_{S}f_{n})$$

$$\leq 4272 \bigvee_{0}^{1} P_{S}f_{n} \leq 4272 \left(\alpha \bigvee_{0}^{1} f_{n} + \beta\right)$$

$$= 4272\alpha \bigvee_{0}^{1} f_{n} + 4272\beta,$$

which implies

$$(1 - 4272\alpha) \bigvee_{0}^{1} f_n \leq 4272\beta.$$

So, suppose  $\alpha < \frac{1}{4272}$ . Then, for  $n \ge 8$ 

$$\bigvee_{0}^{1} f_n \leq \frac{4272\beta}{1-4272\alpha},$$

which is a uniform bound of the total variation of sequence of  $\{f_n\}$ .

## 5.5 Convergence of $\{f_n\}$ to $f^*$

In this section, we gather all the results that have been established to finally show that the sequence  $\{f_n\}$  converges to  $f^*$ , the unique stationary density function of the Frobenius-Perron operator  $P_S$  associated with a measurable and nonsingular transformation S. However, to prove the convergence of  $\{f_n\}$  to  $f^*$ , we need Helly's Lemma, whose statement and proof are found, for example, in the paper by Kreuzer [43].

**Helly's Lemma.** Let  $\{f_n\} \in BV[0,1]$  be a sequence of functions. If

- (1)  $||f_n||_1 \leq M_1$  for any n
- (2)  $\bigvee_0^1 f_n \leq M_2$  for any n,

then there exists  $g \in L^1[0,1]$  and a subsequence  $\{f_{n_k}\}$  of  $\{f_n\}$  such that  $\{f_{n_k}\} \to g$ as  $k \to \infty$  in  $L^1[0,1]$  and  $\bigvee_0^1 g \leq M_2$ .

The following theorem proves the convergence of  $\{f_n\}$  to  $f^*$  in  $L^1[0,1]$  space.

THEOREM 5.14. Let S fulfills the Lasota-Yorke conditions. If  $\alpha < \frac{1}{4272}$ , then the sequence  $\{f_n\}$  converges to  $f^*$ , the unique stationary density of  $P_S$ .

PROOF. Since  $||f_n||_1 = 1$  and  $\bigvee_0^1 f_n \leq \frac{4272\beta}{1-4272\alpha}$  for  $n \geq 8$ , we can use Helly's lemma. So the sequence  $\{f_n\}$  has a subsequence  $\{f_{n_k}\}$  that converges to some  $g \in L^1[0, 1]$ such that  $||g||_1 = 1$ . We want to show that  $g = f^*$ ; namely, g is a stationary density function of  $P_S$ . Note that by (4.12),  $f_{n_k} = Q_{n_k} P_S f_{n_k}$ , and hence  $||f_{n_k} - Q_{n_k} P_S f_{n_k}||_1 =$ 0. By using Theorem 5.2 and Theorem 5.4, we have the following:

$$\begin{split} \|g - P_{S}g\|_{1} &= \|g - f_{n_{k}} + f_{n_{k}} - Q_{n_{k}}P_{S}f_{n_{k}} + Q_{n_{k}}P_{S}f_{n_{k}} - Q_{n_{k}}P_{S}g + Q_{n_{k}}P_{S}g - P_{S}g\|_{1} \\ &\leq \|g - f_{n_{k}}\|_{1} + \|f_{n_{k}} - Q_{n_{k}}P_{S}f_{n_{k}}\|_{1} + \|Q_{n_{k}}P_{S}f_{n_{k}} - Q_{n_{k}}P_{S}g\|_{1} \\ &+ \|Q_{n_{k}}P_{S}g - P_{S}g\|_{1} \\ &\leq \|g - f_{n_{k}}\|_{1} + \|Q_{n_{k}}\|_{1}\|P_{S}\|_{1}\|f_{n_{k}} - g\|_{1} + \|Q_{n_{k}}P_{S}g - P_{S}g\|_{1} \\ &\leq \|g - f_{n_{k}}\|_{1} + \|815\|\|f_{n_{k}} - g\|_{1} + \|Q_{n_{k}}P_{S}g - P_{S}g\|_{1} \\ &\leq \|g - f_{n_{k}}\|_{1} + \|815\|\|f_{n_{k}} - g\|_{1} + \|Q_{n_{k}}P_{S}g - P_{S}g\|_{1} \\ &= 1816\|g - f_{n_{k}}\|_{1} + \|Q_{n_{k}}P_{S}g - P_{S}g\|_{1}. \end{split}$$

Therefore as  $k \to \infty$ , we have  $P_S g = g$ , then by Theorem 2.7,  $P_S g^+ = g^+$  and  $P_S g^- = g^-$ , which means that  $g^+$  and  $g^-$  are two stationary function of  $P_S$  unless  $g \ge 0$  or  $g \le 0$ . Since we assumed that  $P_S$  has the unique stationary density  $f^*$ , it follows that  $g \ge 0$  or  $g \le 0$ . If we choose  $\{f_{n_k}\}$  such that

$$\int f_{n_k}^+ d\lambda \geq \int f_{n_k}^- d\lambda,$$

since  $\{f_{n_k}\} \to g$  as  $k \to \infty$  in  $L^1[0,1]$ , we have  $g \ge 0$ . It follows that  $f^* = g$  and hence  $\{f_{n_k}\} \to f^*$  in  $L^1[0,1]$ .

The next goal is to show that  $f_n \to f^*$ . Suppose that  $\{f_n\}$  does not converge to  $f^*$ . Then there exists  $\epsilon > 0$  and a subsequence  $\{f_{l_k}\}$  of  $\{f_n\}$  [5] such that

$$||f_{l_k} - f^*||_1 \ge \epsilon$$
 (5.18)

for all k. Since  $\{f_{l_k}\}$  also fulfils the conditions of Helly's Lemma,  $\{f_{l_k}\}$  has a subsequence, for instance  $\{f_{l_{k_j}}\}$ , such that  $f_{l_{k_j}} \to h$  in  $L^1[0,1]$  for some  $h \in L^1[0,1]$ . Therefore, by the same argument as above, we can show that  $h = f^*$ , so  $f_{l_{k_j}} \to f^*$ . However, (5.18) tells us that  $f_{l_{k_j}} \not\rightarrow f^*$ , which is a contradiction. So we conclude that  $f_n \rightarrow f^*$  in  $L^1[0, 1]$ .

### CHAPTER 6

#### NUMERICAL RESULTS

This chapter gives numerical results of the cubic spline projection method we use in this dissertation. We compare the results with the linear spline and quadratic spline projection methods from the papers [25, 78], respectively. In Section 6.1 we cover Gaussian quadrature with three points that we use for numerical integrations. For more accurate results, we use composite Gaussian quadrature with three points iteratively. In Section 6.2 we discuss how to compute the entries of matrix A, where  $a_{ij} = \langle P_S \phi_j, \phi_i \rangle$  defined in (4.13). In section 6.3 we show how to compute the errors  $e_n = ||f_n - f^*||_1$ . Finally, in Section 6.4 we present numerical experimental results.

#### 6.1 Gaussian Quadrature

For the computation of the entries of matrix A defined in (4.13) and the errors  $e_n = ||f_n - f^*||_1$ , we need to compute the integrals of certain functions over certain intervals, which is the core computation problem. We do this numerically using Gaussian quadrature with three points, which is summarized in the following. If  $f \in C^6[a, b]$ , then

$$\int_{a}^{b} f(x) \, dx = \frac{5}{18} (b-a) f\left(\frac{a+b}{2} - \frac{b-a}{2}\sqrt{\frac{3}{5}}\right) + \frac{8}{18} (b-a) f\left(\frac{a+b}{2}\right) \\ + \frac{5}{18} (b-a) f\left(\frac{a+b}{2} + \frac{b-a}{2}\sqrt{\frac{3}{5}}\right) + \frac{(b-a)^{7}}{2016000} f^{(6)}(\xi),$$

where  $a < \xi < b$ . More details can be found in [13, 39]. Note that the Gaussian

quadrature with three points will be integrated exactly if the integrand is a polynomial of degree at most 5. We denote

$$G(f, a, b) = \frac{5}{18}(b-a)f\left(\frac{a+b}{2} - \frac{b-a}{2}\sqrt{\frac{3}{5}}\right) + \frac{8}{18}(b-a)f\left(\frac{a+b}{2}\right) + \frac{5}{18}(b-a)f\left(\frac{a+b}{2} + \frac{b-a}{2}\sqrt{\frac{3}{5}}\right),$$

so that G(f, a, b) is a basic Gaussian quadrature with three points.

For more accurate results, we consider a composite Gaussian quadrature with three points using  $2^m$  subintervals of [a, b], which is denoted by

$$G(f, a, b, 2^m) = \sum_{i=1}^{2^m} G\left(f, a + (i-1)\frac{b-a}{2^m}, a + i\frac{b-a}{2^m}\right).$$

We use composite Gaussian quadratures iteratively with three points as follows. We compute from m = 0, which is the basic Gaussian quadrature with three points on [a, b]. Then we compute for m = 1, which is a composite Gaussian quadrature with three points in two subintervals,  $[a, \frac{a+b}{2}]$  and  $[\frac{a+b}{2}, b]$ . We keep this process until the difference between the current iteration value,  $G(f, a, b, 2^m)$ , and the previous iteration value,  $G(f, a, b, 2^{m-1})$ , in absolute value, is less than the given tolerance; that is

$$|G(f, a, b, 2^m) - G(f, a, b, 2^{m-1})| <$$
tolerance.

Then we accept the current iteration value,  $G(f, a, b, 2^m)$ , as accurate enough approximation to  $\int_a^b f(x) dx$ .

#### 6.2 Computing the Entries of Matrix A

We need to compute the entries of matrix A, which are defined by  $a_{ij} = \langle P_S \phi_j, \phi_i \rangle$  for  $-3 \leq i, j, \leq n-1$  (see (4.13)). But there are some computational issues in computing  $a_{ij}$ , which will be illustrated in the following example. Let

$$S(x) = \begin{cases} \frac{2x}{1-x} & 0 \le x \le \frac{1}{3} \\ \frac{1-x}{2x} & \frac{1}{3} \le x \le 1. \end{cases}$$

We will compute  $a_{3,-2}$  when n = 4. Note that, by Lemma 2.24, we have

$$a_{3,-2} = \langle P_S \phi_{-2}, \phi_3 \rangle = \langle \phi_{-2}, K_S \phi_3 \rangle = \langle \phi_{-2}, \phi_3 \circ S \rangle$$
  
=  $\int_0^1 \phi_3(S(x)) \phi_{-2}(x) \, dx = \int_{\mathrm{supp}(\phi_{-2})} \phi_3(S(x)) \phi_{-2}(x) \, dx$   
=  $\int_0^{\frac{1}{2}} \phi_3(S(x)) \phi_{-2}(x) \, dx$ 

because support of  $\phi_{-2}$  is  $(0, \frac{1}{2})$ .

We divide the interval  $(0, \frac{1}{2})$  into the subintervals  $(0, \frac{1}{4}]$  and  $[\frac{1}{4}, \frac{1}{2})$  since on each subinterval,  $(0, \frac{1}{4}]$  and  $[\frac{1}{4}, \frac{1}{2})$ ,  $\phi_{-2}$  is a polynomial of degree at most three due to the assumption that n = 4. However, there is still an issue of accuracy since the subinterval  $[\frac{1}{4}, \frac{1}{2})$  contains the point  $\frac{1}{3}$ , which is a non-smooth point of the mapping S. Therefore, we carry out the numerical integration by dividing the support of  $\phi_{-2}$ into  $(0, \frac{1}{4}]$ ,  $[\frac{1}{4}, \frac{1}{3}]$ , and  $[\frac{1}{3}, \frac{1}{2})$ .

We further improve the efficiency of the integral by looking at  $\phi_3(S(x))$  closely. First of all, we write

$$S_1(x) = \frac{2x}{1-x}, \ 0 \le x \le \frac{1}{3}$$
 and  $S_2(x) = \frac{1-x}{2x}, \ \frac{1}{3} \le x \le 1.$ 

Note first,

$$S\left(\left[0,\frac{1}{4}\right]\right) \cap \operatorname{supp}(\phi_3) = S_1\left(\left[0,\frac{1}{4}\right]\right) \cap \operatorname{supp}(\phi_3) = \left[0,\frac{2}{3}\right] \cap \left[\frac{3}{4},1\right] = \emptyset$$

Second,

$$S\left(\left[\frac{1}{4},\frac{1}{3}\right]\right) \cap \operatorname{supp}(\phi_3) = S_1\left(\left[\frac{1}{4},\frac{1}{3}\right]\right) \cap \operatorname{supp}(\phi_3) = \left[\frac{2}{3},1\right] \cap \left[\frac{3}{4},1\right] = \left[\frac{3}{4},1\right].$$

Third,

$$S\left(\left[\frac{1}{3},\frac{1}{2}\right]\right) \cap \operatorname{supp}(\phi_3) = S_2\left(\left[\frac{1}{3},\frac{1}{2}\right]\right) \cap \operatorname{supp}(\phi_3) = \left[\frac{1}{2},1\right] \cap \left[\frac{3}{4},1\right] = \left[\frac{3}{4},1\right]$$

After that we refine the subintervals  $\left[\frac{1}{4}, \frac{1}{3}\right]$  and  $\left[\frac{1}{3}, \frac{1}{2}\right]$  as follows:

$$\left[S_1^{-1}\left(\frac{3}{4}\right), S_1^{-1}(1)\right] = \left[\frac{3}{11}, \frac{1}{3}\right]$$

and

$$\left[S_2^{-1}(1), S_2^{-1}\left(\frac{3}{4}\right)\right] = \left[\frac{1}{3}, \frac{2}{5}\right],$$

See Figure 10 for more clarification, where (a), (b), (c) show the overlapping area of support of  $\phi_3$  with the intervals  $\left[0, \frac{1}{4}\right]$ ,  $\left[\frac{1}{4}, \frac{1}{3}\right]$ , and  $\left[\frac{1}{3}, \frac{1}{2}\right]$ . So  $a_{3,-2}$  can be computed in the following way:

$$a_{3,-2} = \int_0^{\frac{1}{4}} \phi_3(S(x))\phi_{-2}(x) \, dx + \int_{\frac{1}{4}}^{\frac{1}{3}} \phi_3(S(x))\phi_{-2}(x) \, dx + \int_{\frac{1}{3}}^{\frac{1}{2}} \phi_3(S(x))\phi_{-2}(x) \, dx$$
$$= \int_{\frac{3}{11}}^{\frac{1}{3}} \phi_3(S(x))\phi_{-2}(x) \, dx + \int_{\frac{1}{3}}^{\frac{2}{5}} \phi_3(S(x))\phi_{-2}(x) \, dx.$$

This gives not only more efficient but also more accurate numerical integration because we avoid  $\frac{1}{3}$ , which is the non-smooth point of S. We compute  $a_{ij}$  for every n using this idea.



Figure 10: Efficient and accurate computations of  $a_{3,-2}$ 

# 6.3 Computing the errors $e_n = ||f_n - f^*||_1$

We compute the errors  $e_n$  under  $L^1$ -norm using the following formula:

$$e_n = ||f_n - f^*||_1 = \int_0^1 |f_n(x) - f^*(x)| dx$$
$$= \sum_{i=1}^n \int_{x_{i-1}}^{x_i} |f_n(x) - f^*(x)| dx.$$

However, if the equation  $f_n(x) = f^*(x)$  has solutions in the interval  $(x_{i-1}, x_i)$ , a numerical integral  $\int_{x_{i-1}}^{x_i} |f_n(x) - f^*(x)|$  may not be accurate. So, if there are  $y_1, \ldots, y_k$ , which are solutions of the equation  $f_n(x) = f^*(x)$  on the interval  $(x_{i-1}, x_i)$ , then we divide the integral  $\int_{x_{i-1}}^{x_i} |f_n(x) - f^*(x)|$  as follows:

$$\int_{x_{i-1}}^{x_i} |f_n(x) - f^*(x)| \, dx = \int_{x_{i-1}}^{y_1} |f_n(x) - f^*(x)| \, dx + \sum_{l=1}^{k-1} \int_{y_l}^{y_{l+1}} |f_n(x) - f^*(x)| \, dx$$
$$+ \int_{y_k}^{x_i} |f_n(x) - f^*(x)| \, dx,$$

where  $f_n$  denotes the approximation to  $f_1^*$  from  $S^3[x_0, \ldots, x_n]$ . We apply numerical integration for each integral; nevertheless, the question is how to compute  $y_1, \ldots, y_k$ . We illustrate this question with two cases: Case 1.  $f_1^*(x) = \frac{4}{\pi(1+x^2)}$ ; Case 2.  $f_2^*(x) = \frac{2}{(1+x)^2}$ .

We start with  $f_1^*(x) = \frac{4}{\pi(1+x^2)}$ , and we discuss how to find solutions of  $f_n(x) - f^*(x)$  on  $(x_{i-1}, x_i)$ ,  $1 \le i \le n$ . Note that, on  $(x_{i-1}, x_i)$ ,  $1 \le i \le n$ , we can write

$$0 = f_n(x) - f_1^*(x) = a_3 x^3 + a_2 x^2 + a_1 x + a_0 - \frac{4}{\pi(1+x^2)}.$$

So we have

$$a_{3}x^{3} + a_{2}x^{2} + a_{1}x + a_{0} - \frac{4}{\pi(1+x^{2})} = 0$$
  
$$\iff a_{3}x^{3}(1+x^{2}) + a_{2}x^{2}(1+x^{2}) + a_{1}x(1+x^{2}) + a_{0}(1+x^{2}) - \frac{4}{\pi} = 0$$
  
$$\iff a_{3}x^{5} + a_{2}x^{4} + (a_{3}+a_{1})x^{3} + (a_{2}+a_{0})x^{2} + a_{1}x + \left(a_{0} - \frac{4}{\pi}\right) = 0.$$

By assuming  $a_3 \neq 0$ , which is the generic case, we have

$$x^{5} + \frac{a_{2}}{a_{3}}x^{4} + \frac{a_{3} + a_{1}}{a_{3}}x^{3} + \frac{a_{2} + a_{0}}{a_{3}}x^{2} + \frac{a_{1}}{a_{3}}x + \frac{a_{0} - \frac{4}{\pi}}{a_{3}} = 0.$$
(6.1)

Therefore, the companion matrix  $C_1$  for (6.1) is

$$C_{1} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & -\frac{a_{0} - \frac{4}{\pi}}{a_{3}} \\ 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & -\frac{a_{1}}{a_{3}} \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 & -\frac{a_{2} + a_{0}}{a_{3}} \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 & -\frac{a_{3} + a_{1}}{a_{3}} \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 & -\frac{a_{2}}{a_{3}} \end{bmatrix}$$

The definition and more details about companion matrix can be found in [14].

Note that it is well-known that the eigenvalues of  $C_1$  are the zeros of (6.1), the associated monic polynomial, [14]. Suppose that  $y_1, \ldots, y_k$  are the eigenvalues of  $C_1$  that are contained in  $(x_{i-1}, x_i)$  for some k. Note that the range of k is between 0 and 5.

Next, for 
$$f_2^*(x) = \frac{2}{(1+x)^2}$$
, we have  
 $f_n(x) - f_2^*(x) = b_3 x^3 + b_2 x^2 + b_1 x + b_0 - \frac{2}{(1+x)^2} = 0.$ 

Therefore, we have

$$b_3 x^3 + b_2 x^2 + b_1 x + b_0 - \frac{2}{(1+x)^2} = 0$$
  
$$\iff b_3 x^3 (x^2 + 2x + 1) + b_2 x^2 (x^2 + 2x + 1) + b_1 x (x^2 + 2x + 1) + b_0 (x^2 + 2x + 1) - 2 = 0.$$

By assuming  $b_3 \neq 0$ ,

$$x^{5} + \frac{2b_{3} + b_{2}}{b_{3}}x^{4} + \frac{b_{3} + 2b_{2} + b_{1}}{b_{3}}x^{3} + \frac{b_{2} + 2b_{1} + b_{0}}{b_{3}}x^{2} + \frac{b_{1} + 2b_{0}}{b_{3}}x + \frac{b_{0} - 2}{b_{3}} = 0.$$
(6.2)

Hence, the companion matrix  $C_2$  for (6.2) is

$$C_{2} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & -\frac{b_{0}-2}{b_{3}} \\ 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & -\frac{b_{1}+2b_{0}}{b_{3}} \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 & -\frac{b_{2}+2b_{1}+b_{0}}{b_{3}} \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 & -\frac{b_{3}+2b_{2}+b_{1}}{b_{3}} \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 & -\frac{2b_{3}+b_{2}}{b_{3}} \end{bmatrix}$$

•

To find the companion matrices, we need to fine the expressions of  $a_0, a_1, a_2$ and  $a_3$  in the case of  $S_1$  and  $b_0, b_1, b_2$  and  $b_3$  in the case of  $S_2$ . Note that, in the interval  $(x_{i-1}, x_i), i = 1, 2, ..., n, f_n$  can be written as

$$f_n(x) = d_{i-4}\phi_{i-4}(x) + d_{i-3}\phi_{i-3}(x) + d_{i-2}\phi_{i-2}(x) + d_{i-1}\phi_{i-1}(x)$$
$$= d_{i-4}\frac{1}{6}\left(4 - \frac{x - (i-4)h}{h}\right)^3 + d_{i-3}\frac{1}{6}\left(1 + 3\left(3 - \frac{x - (i-3)h}{h}\right)$$
$$+ 3\left(3 - \frac{x - (i-3)h}{h}\right)^2 - 3\left(3 - \frac{x - (i-3)h}{h}\right)^3\right)$$

$$\begin{split} &+ d_{i-2} \frac{1}{6} \left( 1 + 3 \left( \frac{x - (i-2)h}{h} - 1 \right) + 3 \left( \frac{x - (i-2)h}{h} - 1 \right)^2 \right. \\ &- 3 \left( \frac{x - (i-2)h}{h} - 1 \right)^3 \right) + d_{i-1} \frac{1}{6} \left( \frac{x - (i-1)h}{h} \right)^3 \\ &= \frac{1}{6} d_{i-4} \left( \frac{-x + ih}{h} \right)^3 + \frac{1}{6} d_{i-3} \left( 1 - 3 \left( \frac{x - ih}{h} \right) + 3 \left( \frac{x - ih}{h} \right)^2 + 3 \left( \frac{x - ih}{h} \right)^3 \right) \\ &+ \frac{1}{6} d_{i-2} \left( 1 + 3 \left( \frac{x - (i-1)h}{h} \right) + 3 \left( \frac{x - (i-1)h}{h} \right)^2 - 3 \left( \frac{x - (i-1)h}{h} \right)^3 \right) \\ &+ d_{i-1} \frac{1}{6} \left( \frac{x - (i-1)h}{h} \right)^3 \\ &+ \frac{1}{6h^3} (-d_{i-4} + 3d_{i-3} - 3d_{i-2} + d_{i-1}) x^3 \\ &+ \frac{1}{2h^2} (d_{i-4}i + d_{i-3}(1 - 3i) + d_{i-2}(3i - 2) - d_{i-1}(i-1)) x^2 \\ &+ \frac{1}{2h} (-d_{i-4}i^2 + d_{i-3}(i-1)(3i+1) + d_{i-2}(4 - 3i)i + d_{i-1}(i-1)^2) x \\ &+ \frac{1}{6} (d_{i-4}i^3 + d_{i-3}(1 + 3i + 3i^2 - 3i^3) + d_{i-2}(3i^3 - 6i^2 + 4) - d_{i-1}(i-1)^3). \end{split}$$

So

$$a_{3} = \frac{1}{6h^{3}}(-d_{i-4} + 3d_{i-3} - 3d_{i-2} + d_{i-1}),$$

$$a_{2} = \frac{1}{2h^{2}}(d_{i-4}i + d_{i-3}(1 - 3i) + d_{i-2}(3i - 2) - d_{i-1}(i - 1)),$$

$$a_{1} = \frac{1}{2h}(-d_{i-4}i^{2} + d_{i-3}(i - 1)(3i + 1) + d_{i-2}(4 - 3i)i + d_{i-1}(i - 1)^{2}),$$

$$a_{0} = \frac{1}{6}(d_{i-4}i^{3} + d_{i-3}(1 + 3i + 3i^{2} - 3i^{3}) + d_{i-2}(3i^{3} - 6i^{2} + 4) - d_{i-1}(i - 1)^{3}).$$

Note that,  $b_0, b_1, b_2$  and  $b_3$  allows the same expression as  $a_0, a_1, a_2$  and  $a_3$ , but the vector  $d = (d_{-3}, d_{-2}, \dots, d_{n-1})^T$  for  $f_n$  has been changed accordingly.

### 6.4 Numerical Results

In this section, we provide numerical experimental results for the cubic spline projection method, and we compare the results with those of the linear spline projection method [25] and the quadratic spline projection method [78]. The test transformation mappings are given by:

$$S_{1}(x) = \begin{cases} \frac{2x}{1-x^{2}} & 0 \le x \le \sqrt{2} - 1\\ \frac{1-x^{2}}{2x} & \sqrt{2} - 1 \le x \le 1, \end{cases}$$
$$S_{2}(x) = \begin{cases} \frac{2x}{1-x} & 0 \le x \le \frac{1}{3}\\ \frac{1-x}{2x} & \frac{1}{3} \le x \le 1, \end{cases}$$
$$S_{3}(x) = \left(\frac{1}{8} - 2\left|x - \frac{1}{2}\right|^{3}\right)^{1/3} + \frac{1}{2}.$$

It is well-known that the unique stationary densities of the above transformations are given by

$$f_1^*(x) = \frac{4}{\pi(1+x^2)},$$
  

$$f_2^*(x) = \frac{2}{(1+x)^2},$$
  

$$f_3^*(x) = 12\left(x - \frac{1}{2}\right)^2,$$

respectively. For the numerical experiments, we use  $n = 2^k$ , where  $k = 2, 3, \ldots, 8$ .

The uniqueness of the above stationary densities of Frobenius-Perron associated with transformations S can be shown using Theorem 2.35 as follows. Note that transformations  $S_1$ ,  $S_2$ , and  $S_3$  can be easily proven to be ergodic transformations by showing that  $\mu(A) = 0$  or  $\mu(A) = 1$  for any invariant  $A \in \mathcal{B}$ . Recall from Examples 2.28, 2.29, and 2.30 that  $f_1^*$ ,  $f_2^*$ , and  $f_3^*$  were proven to be stationary density functions of Frobenius-Perron operator. This implies by Theorem 2.35 that  $f_1^*$ ,  $f_2^*$ , and  $f_3^*$  are unique stationary density functions of Frobenius-Perron operator associated with  $S_1$ ,  $S_2$ , and  $S_3$ , respectively.

We use MATLAB to test the cubic spline projection method of approximating  $f^*$ , and we observe the following. In the case of  $f_1^*$  and  $f_2^*$ , the numerical results in Table 6 and Table 8, respectively, show that the cubic spline projection method performed well and gave much smaller errors than the linear spline and quadratic spline projection methods for all *n*-values. In addition, Table 7 and 9 show the ratios of  $e_4/e_8, \ldots, e_{128}/e_{256}$  for  $f_1^*$  and  $f_2^*$ , respectively. We can see from Table 7 and Table 9 that the errors of the cubic spline projection method is of order  $O(1/n^4)$ .

On the other hand, in the case of  $f_3^*$ , since  $f_3^*$  is a polynomial of degree 2, it is in the quadratic and cubic spline space for any n. For that reason, we have  $f_n = f_3^*$  for any n when we use the quadratic spline and cubic spline projection methods. However,  $f_n$  is not  $f_3^*$  when we use constant spline and linear spline projection methods. Table 10 shows errors of  $f_3^*$  for the constant spline and linear spline projection methods, and Table 11 shows the ratios of two consecutive errors of constant spline and linear spline projection methods for  $f_3^*$ .

n	Constant-SPM	Linear-SPM	Quadratic-SPM	Cubic-SPM
4	$5.3  imes 10^{-2}$	$2.7  imes 10^{-3}$	$5.1  imes 10^{-4}$	$4.6  imes 10^{-5}$
8	$2.4 \times 10^{-2}$	$6.5  imes 10^{-4}$	$4.9  imes 10^{-5}$	$3.1 \times 10^{-6}$
16	$1.2 \times 10^{-2}$	$1.7 \times 10^{-4}$	$6.2 \times 10^{-6}$	$1.9 \times 10^{-7}$
32	$5.5 \times 10^{-3}$	$4.3 \times 10^{-5}$	$7.3  imes 10^{-7}$	$1.1 \times 10^{-8}$
64	$2.7 \times 10^{-3}$	$1.1 \times 10^{-5}$	$8.4 \times 10^{-8}$	$7.1 \times 10^{-10}$
128	$1.3 \times 10^{-3}$	$2.7 \times 10^{-6}$	$1.0 \times 10^{-8}$	$4.5 \times 10^{-11}$
256	$6.6  imes 10^{-4}$	$6.4 \times 10^{-7}$	$1.3 \times 10^{-9}$	$2.8 \times 10^{-12}$

Table 6: Error  $e_n$  comparison for  $f_1^*$ 

Table 7: Ratio comparison for  $f_1^*$ 

	Constant-SPM	Linear-SPM	Quadratic-SPM	Cubic-SPM
$e_4/e_8$	1.26	4.15	10.41	14.83
$e_8/e_{16}$	3.5	3.82	7.9	16.32
$e_{16}/e_{32}$	2.18	3.95	8.49	17.27
$e_{32}/e_{64}$	2.04	3.9	8.69	15.49
$e_{64}/e_{128}$	2.08	4.07	8.4	15.78
$e_{128}/e_{256}$	1.97	4.22	7.96	16.07

n	Constant-SPM	Linear-SPM	Quadratic-SPM	Cubic-SPM
4	$1.0 \times 10^{-1}$	$7.7  imes 10^{-3}$	$9.6  imes 10^{-4}$	$9.7  imes 10^{-5}$
8	$5.1 \times 10^{-2}$	$1.9 \times 10^{-3}$	$1.3  imes 10^{-4}$	$8.9 \times 10^{-6}$
16	$2.6 \times 10^{-2}$	$5.4 \times 10^{-4}$	$1.9 \times 10^{-5}$	$7.2 \times 10^{-7}$
32	$1.3 \times 10^{-2}$	$1.4 \times 10^{-4}$	$2.2 \times 10^{-6}$	$5.1 \times 10^{-8}$
64	$6.6 \times 10^{-3}$	$3.6 \times 10^{-5}$	$3.0 \times 10^{-7}$	$3.1 \times 10^{-9}$
128	$3.3 \times 10^{-3}$	$8.5 \times 10^{-6}$	$3.8 \times 10^{-8}$	$2.0 \times 10^{-10}$
256	$1.6  imes 10^{-3}$	$2.2 \times 10^{-6}$	$4.6 \times 10^{-9}$	$1.3 \times 10^{-11}$

Table 8: Error  $e_n$  comparison for  $f_2^*$ 

Table 9: Ratio comparison for  $f_2^*$ 

n	Constant-SPM	Linear-SPM	Quadratic-SPM	Cubic-SPM
$e_4/e_8$	1.96	4.05	7.38	10.90
$e_8/e_{16}$	1.96	3.52	6.84	12.36
$e_{16}/e_{32}$	2	3.86	8.63	14.12
$e_{32}/e_{64}$	1.97	3.89	7.33	16.45
$e_{64}/e_{128}$	2	4.24	7.89	15.50
$e_{128}/e_{256}$	2.06	3.86	8.26	16.67

n	Constant-SPM	Linear-SPM
4	$4.4 \times 10^{-1}$	$5.3  imes 10^{-2}$
8	$2.2 \times 10^{-1}$	$1.4 \times 10^{-2}$
16	$1.0 \times 10^{-1}$	$3.2 \times 10^{-3}$
32	$5.3 \times 10^{-2}$	$8.9 \times 10^{-4}$
64	$2.6 \times 10^{-2}$	$2.1 \times 10^{-4}$
128	$1.3  imes 10^{-2}$	$5.2 \times 10^{-5}$
256	$6.5  imes 10^{-3}$	$1.3 \times 10^{-5}$

Table 10: Error  $e_n$  comparison for  $f_3^*$ 

Table 11: Ratio comparison for  $f_3^*$ 

n	Constant-SPM	Linear-SPM		
$e_{4}/e_{8}$	2.00	3.79		
$e_8/e_{16}$	2.20	4.38		
$e_{16}/e_{32}$	1.89	3.60		
$e_{32}/e_{64}$	2.04	4.24		
$e_{64}/e_{128}$	2.00	4.04		
$e_{128}/e_{256}$	2.00	4.00		

#### CHAPTER 7

#### CONCLUSION AND FUTURE WORK

In this dissertation, we used the idea of the projection method to develop a numerical method using cubic spline functions to approximate the unique stationary density functions  $f^*$  of the Frobenius-Perron operators  $P_S$  associated with a measurable and nonsingular transformation S (when the stationary density function is smooth). We aimed to improve the convergence rate of the linear spline and quadratic spline projection methods from the papers [24, 78], respectively. We succeed in achieving our goal to have a faster convergence rate due to the fact that cubic spline functions are more smooth than linear spline and quadratic spline functions. We proved the existence of a nonzero sequence of cubic spline functions  $f_n$ that converges to  $f^*$  in  $L^1$ -norm.

We also devised ways to compute the entries of matrix A and the errors between  $f_n$  and  $f^*$  more accurately. That was achieved by dividing the domains of integrals into proper subintervals when we compute  $a_{ij} = \langle P_S \phi_j, \phi_i \rangle$ , entries of matrix A, and the errors  $e_n = ||f_n - f^*||_1$ . This resulted in not only more accurate but also more efficient results.

The numerical experiments showed that the cubic spline projection method has a faster convergence rate compared to the linear spline and quadratic spline projection methods. In fact, the numerical experiments indicated that the cubic spline projection method has a convergence rate of order four compared to order two of the linear spline projection method and order three of the quadratic spline projection method under the  $L^1$ -norm. If the stationary density function is a polynomial of degree at most three, then it is in the cubic spline space for any n. So, the method can compute it precisely no matter what n may be.

There are three possible areas for future works related to the cubic spline projection method. First, the proposed projection method can be used for the density computation of more general Markov operators that appear in many applied problems such as stochastic analysis and random maps [38]. The linear spline projection method for random maps is already done in [3]. Meanwhile, we are working on the quadratic spline projection method for random maps and planning to apply the cubic spline projection method to the random maps. Second, one can consider approximating the stationary density functions using even higher-order splines such as quartic or quintic spline functions. Third, one can justify the convergence rate that was observed from the numerical experimental results theoretically.  $\label{eq:appendix} \mbox{APPENDIX} \mbox{A MATLAB CODE FOR } f_2^*$ 

```
function CSP=cubic_sp(n,tol)
A=int_csp_A(n,tol);
B=int_csp_B(n);
d=vec_d_csp(n,A,B);
CSP=csp_err(d,tol);
end
%%%% matrix B=< \phi_j, \phi_i > %%%%
function B=int_csp_B(n)
h=1/n;
B=zeros(n+3);
B(1,1)=20*h/5040; B(n+3,n+3)=20*h/5040;
B(2,2)=1208*h/5040; B(n+2,n+2)=1208*h/5040;
B(3,3)=2396*h/5040; B(n+1,n+1)=2396*h/5040;
B(1,2) = (129/5040) *h; B(2,1) = (129/5040) *h;
B(n+2, n+3) = (129/5040) *h; B(n+3, n+2) = (129/5040) *h; 
B(1,3) = (60/5040) *h; B(3,1) = (60/5040) *h; 
B(n+1, n+3) = (60/5040) *h; B(n+3, n+1) = (60/5040) *h;
B(2,3) = (1062/5040) *h; B(3,2) = (1062/5040) *h;
B(n+1, n+2) = (1062/5040) *h; B(n+2, n+1) = (1062/5040) *h;
for t=2:n
     B(t,t+2) = 120 * h / 5040;
     B(t+2,t) = 120 * h / 5040;
end
for t=3:n
     B(t+1,t)=1191*h/5040;
     B(t,t+1)=1191*h/5040;
end
for t=4:n
    B(t,t) = (2416/5040) *h;
end
for t=1:n
    B(t,t+3)=h/5040;
     B(t+3,t)=h/5040;
end
end
%%%% matrix A=< P_S\phi_j, \phi_i > %%%%%
function A=int_csp_A(n,tol)
A=zeros(n+3);
h= 1/n; p=1/3;
for i=-3:n-1
     for j=-3:n-1
         k=ceil(p/h);
         if j<k-4
              aj=(j)*h; bj=(j+1)*h;
              A(i+4,j+4)=A(i+4,j+4)+int_j_a(aj,bj,i,j,n,tol);
              aj=(j+1)*h; bj=(j+2)*h;
              A(i+4, j+4)=A(i+4, j+4)+int_j_a(aj, bj, i, j, n, tol);
              aj=(j+2)*h; bj=(j+3)*h;
              A(i+4,j+4)=A(i+4,j+4)+int_j_a(aj,bj,i,j,n,tol);
              aj=(j+3)*h; bj=(j+4)*h;
              A(i+4,j+4)=A(i+4,j+4)+int_j_a(aj,bj,i,j,n,tol);
         elseif j==k-4
              aj=(j)*h; bj=(j+1)*h;
              A(i+4, j+4) = A(i+4, j+4) + int_j_a(aj, bj, i, j, n, tol);
              aj=(j+1)*h; bj=(j+2)*h;
              A(i+4, j+4) = A(i+4, j+4) + int_j a(aj, bj, i, j, n, tol);
              aj=(j+2)*h; bj=(j+3)*h;
```

A(i+4, j+4) = A(i+4, j+4) + int\_j\_a(aj, bj, i, j, n, tol); aj=(j+3)\*h; pj=p; A(i+4,j+4)=A(i+4,j+4)+int\_j\_a(aj,pj,i,j,n,tol); pj=p; bj=(j+4)\*h; A(i+4, j+4) = A(i+4, j+4) + int\_j\_b(pj, bj, i, j, n, tol); elseif j==k-3 aj=(j)\*h; bj=(j+1)\*h; A(i+4,j+4)=A(i+4,j+4)+int\_j\_a(aj,bj,i,j,n,tol); aj=(j+1)\*h; bj=(j+2)\*h;  $A(i+4, j+4) = A(i+4, j+4) + int_j a(aj, bj, i, j, n, tol);$ aj=(j+2)\*h; pj=p; A(i+4,j+4)=A(i+4,j+4)+int\_j\_a(aj,pj,i,j,n,tol); pj=p; bj=(j+3)\*h; Ā(i+4,j+4)=A(i+4,j+4)+int\_j\_b(pj,bj,i,j,n,tol); aj=(j+3)\*h; bj=(j+4)\*h; A(i+4,j+4)=A(i+4,j+4)+int\_j\_b(aj,bj,i,j,n,tol); elseif j==k-2 aj=(j)\*h; bj=(j+1)\*h; A(i+4,j+4)=A(i+4,j+4)+int\_j\_a(aj,bj,i,j,n,tol); aj=(j+1)\*h; pj=p;  $A(i+4, j+4) = A(i+4, j+4) + int_j a(aj, pj, i, j, n, tol);$ pj=p; bj=(j+2)\*h; Â(i+4,j+4)=A(i+4,j+4)+int\_j\_b(pj,bj,i,j,n,tol); aj=(j+2)\*h; bj=(j+3)\*h; A(i+4,j+4)=A(i+4,j+4)+int\_j\_b(aj,bj,i,j,n,tol); aj=(j+3)\*h; bj=(j+4)\*h; A(i+4,j+4)=A(i+4,j+4)+int\_j\_b(aj,bj,i,j,n,tol); elseif j==k-1 aj=(j)\*h; pj=p; A(i+4, j+4) = A(i+4, j+4) + int\_j\_a(aj, pj, i, j, n, tol); pj=p; bj=(j+1)\*h;  $A(i+4, j+4) = A(i+4, j+4) + int_j b(p_j, b_j, i, j, n, tol);$ aj=(j+1)\*h; bj=(j+2)\*h; A(i+4,j+4)=A(i+4,j+4)+int\_j\_b(aj,bj,i,j,n,tol); aj=(j+2)\*h; bj=(j+3)\*h; A(i+4,j+4)=A(i+4,j+4)+int\_j\_b(aj,bj,i,j,n,tol); aj=(j+3)\*h; bj=(j+4)\*h; A(i+4, j+4) = A(i+4, j+4) + int\_j\_b(aj, bj, i, j, n, tol); else aj=(j)\*h; bj=(j+1)\*h; A(i+4,j+4)=A(i+4,j+4)+int\_j\_b(aj,bj,i,j,n,tol); aj=(j+1)\*h; bj=(j+2)\*h; A(i+4, j+4) = A(i+4, j+4) + int\_j\_b(aj, bj, i, j, n, tol); aj=(j+2)\*h; bj=(j+3)\*h; A(i+4, j+4) = A(i+4, j+4) + int\_j\_b(aj, bj, i, j, n, tol); aj=(j+3)\*h; bj=(j+4)\*h; A(i+4, j+4) = A(i+4, j+4) + int\_j\_b(aj, bj, i, j, n, tol); end end end end %%%% increasing part of S %%%% function iv=int\_j\_a(aj,bj,i,j,n,tol) if aj<0 iv=0: return

```
end
r1=2*aj/(1-aj); r2=2*bj/(1-bj);
h=1/n;
if i==-3
    ai=0; bi=h;
    aa=max(r1,ai); bb=min(r2,bi);
    if aa < bb
        inv_s1=aa/(aa+2); inv_s2=bb/(bb+2);
        iv=ite_comp_gq3(inv_s1, inv_s2, i, j, n, tol);
    else
        iv=0;
    end
elseif i==-2
    ai=0; bi=h;
    aa=max(r1,ai); bb=min(r2,bi);
    if aa < bb
        inv_s1=aa/(aa+2); inv_s2=bb/(bb+2);
        iv1=ite_comp_gq3(inv_s1, inv_s2, i, j, n, tol);
    else
        iv1=0;
    end
    ai=h; bi=2*h;
    aa=max(r1,ai); bb=min(r2,bi);
    if aa < bb
        inv_s1=aa/(aa+2); inv_s2=bb/(bb+2);
        iv2=ite_comp_gq3(inv_s1, inv_s2, i, j, n, tol);
    else
        iv2=0;
    end
    iv=iv1+iv2;
elseif i==-1
    ai=0; bi=h;
    aa=max(r1,ai); bb=min(r2,bi);
    if aa < bb
        inv_s1=aa/(aa+2); inv_s2=bb/(bb+2);
        ivl=ite_comp_gq3(inv_s1, inv_s2, i, j, n, tol);
    else
        iv1=0;
    end
    ai=h; bi=2*h;
    aa=max(r1,ai); bb=min(r2,bi);
    if aa < bb
        inv_s1=aa/(aa+2); inv_s2=bb/(bb+2);
        iv2=ite_comp_gq3(inv_s1, inv_s2, i, j, n, tol);
    else
        iv2=0;
    end
    ai=2*h; bi=3*h;
    aa=max(r1,ai); bb=min(r2,bi);
    if aa < bb
        inv_s1=aa/(aa+2); inv_s2=bb/(bb+2);
        iv3=ite_comp_gq3(inv_s1, inv_s2, i, j, n, tol);
    else
        iv3=0;
    end
    iv=iv1+iv2+iv3;
```
```
elseif i==n-1
    ai=(n-1)*h; bi=(n)*h;
    aa=max(r1,ai); bb=min(r2,bi);
    if aa < bb
        inv_s1=aa/(aa+2); inv_s2=bb/(bb+2);
        iv=ite_comp_gq3(inv_s1, inv_s2, i, j, n, tol);
    else
        iv=0;
    end
elseif i==n-2
    ai=(n-2)*h; bi=(n-1)*h;
    aa=max(r1,ai); bb=min(r2,bi);
    if aa < bb
        inv_s1=aa/(aa+2); inv_s2=bb/(bb+2);
        iv1=ite_comp_gq3(inv_s1, inv_s2, i, j, n, tol);
    else
        iv1=0;
    end
    ai=(n-1)*h; bi=(n)*h;
    aa=max(r1,ai); bb=min(r2,bi);
    if aa < bb
        inv_s1=aa/(aa+2); inv_s2=bb/(bb+2);
        iv2=ite_comp_gq3(inv_s1, inv_s2, i, j, n, tol);
    else
        iv2=0;
    end
    iv=iv1+iv2;
elseif i==n-3
    ai=(n-3)*h; bi=(n-2)*h;
    aa=max(r1,ai); bb=min(r2,bi);
    if aa < bb
        inv_s1=aa/(aa+2); inv_s2=bb/(bb+2);
        iv1=ite_comp_gq3(inv_s1, inv_s2, i, j, n, tol);
    else
        iv1=0;
    end
    ai=(n-2)*h; bi=(n-1)*h;
    aa=max(r1,ai); bb=min(r2,bi);
    if aa < bb
        inv_s1=aa/(aa+2); inv_s2=bb/(bb+2);
        iv2=ite_comp_gg3(inv_s1, inv_s2, i, j, n, tol);
    else
        iv2=0;
    end
    ai=(n-1)*h; bi=n*h;
    aa=max(r1,ai); bb=min(r2,bi);
    if aa < bb
        inv_s1=aa/(aa+2); inv_s2=bb/(bb+2);
        iv3=ite_comp_gq3(inv_s1, inv_s2, i, j, n, tol);
    else
        iv3=0;
    end
    iv=iv1+iv2+iv3;
else
    ai=(i) *h; bi=(i+1) *h;
    aa=max(r1,ai); bb=min(r2,bi);
```

```
if aa < bb
         inv_s1=aa/(aa+2); inv_s2=bb/(bb+2);
        iv1=ite_comp_gq3(inv_s1, inv_s2, i, j, n, tol);
    else
        iv1=0;
    end
    ai=(i+1)*h; bi=(i+2)*h;
    aa=max(r1,ai); bb=min(r2,bi);
    if aa < bb</pre>
         inv_s1=aa/(aa+2); inv_s2=bb/(bb+2);
        iv2=ite_comp_gq3(inv_s1, inv_s2, i, j, n, tol);
    else
        iv2=0;
    end
    ai=(i+2)*h; bi=(i+3)*h;
    aa=max(r1,ai); bb=min(r2,bi);
    if aa < bb
        inv_s1=aa/(aa+2); inv_s2=bb/(bb+2);
        iv3=ite_comp_gq3(inv_s1, inv_s2, i, j, n, tol);
    else
        iv3=0;
    end
    ai=(i+3)*h; bi=(i+4)*h;
    aa=max(r1,ai); bb=min(r2,bi);
    if aa < bb</pre>
         inv_s1=aa/(aa+2); inv_s2=bb/(bb+2);
        iv4=ite_comp_gq3(inv_s1, inv_s2, i, j, n, tol);
    else
        iv4=0;
    end
    iv=iv1+iv2+iv3+iv4;
end
end
%%%% decreasing part of S %%%%
function iv=int_j_b(aj,bj,i,j,n,tol)
if bj>1
    iv=0;
    return
end
r1=(1-bj)/(2*bj); r2=(1-aj)/(2*aj);
h=1/n;
if i==-3
    ai=0; bi=h;
    aa=max(r1,ai); bb=min(r2,bi);
    if aa < bb</pre>
         inv_s1=1/(2*bb+1); inv_s2=1/(2*aa+1);
        iv=ite_comp_gq3(inv_s1, inv_s2, i, j, n, tol);
    else
        iv=0;
    end
elseif i==-2
    ai=0; bi=h;
    aa=max(r1,ai); bb=min(r2,bi);
    if aa < bb
         inv_s1=1/(2*bb+1); inv_s2=1/(2*aa+1);
         iv1=ite_comp_gq3(inv_s1, inv_s2, i, j, n, tol);
```

```
else
        iv1=0;
    end
    ai=h; bi=2*h;
    aa=max(r1,ai); bb=min(r2,bi);
    if aa < bb
        inv_s1=1/(2*bb+1); inv_s2=1/(2*aa+1);
        iv2=ite_comp_gq3(inv_s1, inv_s2, i, j, n, tol);
    else
        iv2=0;
    end
    iv=iv1+iv2;
elseif i==-1
    ai=0; bi=h;
    aa=max(r1,ai); bb=min(r2,bi);
    if aa < bb
        inv_s1=1/(2*bb+1); inv_s2=1/(2*aa+1);
        iv1=ite_comp_gq3(inv_s1, inv_s2, i, j, n, tol);
    else
        iv1=0;
    end
    ai=h; bi=2*h;
    aa=max(r1,ai); bb=min(r2,bi);
    if aa < bb
        inv_s1=1/(2*bb+1); inv_s2=1/(2*aa+1);
        iv2=ite_comp_gq3(inv_s1, inv_s2, i, j, n, tol);
    else
        iv2=0;
    end
    ai=2*h; bi=3*h;
    aa=max(r1,ai); bb=min(r2,bi);
    if aa < bb
        inv_s1=1/(2*bb+1); inv_s2=1/(2*aa+1);
        iv3=ite_comp_gq3(inv_s1, inv_s2, i, j, n, tol);
    else
        iv3=0;
    end
    iv=iv1+iv2+iv3;
elseif i==n-1
    ai=(n-1)*h; bi=n*h;
    aa=max(r1,ai); bb=min(r2,bi);
    if aa < bb</pre>
        inv_s1=1/(2*bb+1); inv_s2=1/(2*aa+1);
        iv=ite_comp_gq3(inv_s1, inv_s2, i, j, n, tol);
    else
        iv=0:
    end
elseif i==n-2
    ai=(n-2)*h; bi=(n-1)*h;
    aa=max(r1,ai); bb=min(r2,bi);
    if aa < bb
        inv_s1=1/(2*bb+1); inv_s2=1/(2*aa+1);
        iv1=ite_comp_gq3(inv_s1, inv_s2, i, j, n, tol);
    else
        iv1=0;
    end
```

```
ai=(n-1)*h; bi=(n)*h;
    aa=max(r1,ai); bb=min(r2,bi);
    if aa < bb
        inv_s1=1/(2*bb+1); inv_s2=1/(2*aa+1);
        iv2=ite_comp_gq3(inv_s1,inv_s2,i,j,n,tol);
    else
        iv2=0;
    end
    iv=iv1+iv2;
elseif i==n-3
    ai=(n-3)*h; bi=(n-2)*h;
    aa=max(r1,ai); bb=min(r2,bi);
    if aa < bb
        inv_s1=1/(2*bb+1); inv_s2=1/(2*aa+1);
        iv1=ite_comp_gq3(inv_s1, inv_s2, i, j, n, tol);
    else
        iv1=0;
    end
    ai=(n-2)*h; bi=(n-1)*h;
    aa=max(r1,ai); bb=min(r2,bi);
    if aa < bb
        inv_s1=1/(2*bb+1); inv_s2=1/(2*aa+1);
        iv2=ite_comp_gq3(inv_s1, inv_s2, i, j, n, tol);
    else
        iv2=0;
    end
    ai=(n-1)*h; bi=(n)*h;
    aa=max(r1,ai); bb=min(r2,bi);
    if aa < bb
        inv_s1=1/(2*bb+1); inv_s2=1/(2*aa+1);
        iv3=ite_comp_gq3(inv_s1, inv_s2, i, j, n, tol);
    else
        iv3=0;
    end
    iv=iv1+iv2+iv3;
else
    ai=(i) *h; bi=(i+1) *h;
    aa=max(r1,ai); bb=min(r2,bi);
    if aa < bb
        inv_s1=1/(2*bb+1); inv_s2=1/(2*aa+1);
        iv1=ite_comp_gq3(inv_s1, inv_s2, i, j, n, tol);
    else
        iv1=0;
    end
    ai=(i+1)*h; bi=(i+2)*h;
    aa=max(r1,ai); bb=min(r2,bi);
    if aa < bb
        inv_s1=1/(2*bb+1); inv_s2=1/(2*aa+1);
        iv2=ite_comp_gq3(inv_s1, inv_s2, i, j, n, tol);
    else
        iv2=0;
    end
    ai=(i+2)*h; bi=(i+3)*h;
    aa=max(r1,ai); bb=min(r2,bi);
    if aa < bb
        inv_s1=1/(2*bb+1); inv_s2=1/(2*aa+1);
```

```
iv3=ite_comp_gq3(inv_s1, inv_s2, i, j, n, tol);
    else
        iv3=0;
    end
    ai=(i+3)*h; bi=(i+4)*h;
    aa=max(r1,ai); bb=min(r2,bi);
    if aa < bb</pre>
         inv_s1=1/(2*bb+1); inv_s2=1/(2*aa+1);
        iv4=ite_comp_gq3(inv_s1, inv_s2, i, j, n, tol);
    else
        iv4=0;
    end
    iv=iv1+iv2+iv3+iv4;
end
end
%%%% Gaussian quadrature with three points %%%%
function iv=ite_comp_gq3(a,b,i,j,n,tol)
iv=comp_gq3(a,b,4,i,j,n);
niv=comp_gq3(a,b,8,i,j,n);
cor=abs(niv-iv);
m=8;
while cor > tol
    iv=niv;
    m=2*m;
    niv=comp_gq3(a,b,m,i,j,n);
    cor=abs(niv-iv);
end
iv=niv;
end
%%%% Composite of Gaussian quadrature with three points %%%%
function iv=comp_gq3(a,b,m,i,j,n)
h=(b-a)/m;
x=a:h:b;
iv=0;
for k=1:m
    iv=iv+gq3(x(k),x(k+1),i,j,n);
end
end
%%%% Find C's and X's of Gaussian quadrature with three points %%%%
function iv=gq3(a,b,i,j,n)
C=zeros(3,1); X=zeros(3,1);
C(1) = (5/18) * (b-a); X(1) = ((a+b)/2) - (0.5 * (b-a) * sqrt(0.6));
C(2) = (8/18) * (b-a); X(2) = (a+b)/2;
C(3) = C(1);
                    X(3) = ((a+b)/2) + (0.5*(b-a)*sqrt(0.6));
iv=C(1)*g(X(1),i,j,n)+C(2)*g(X(2),i,j,n)+C(3)*g(X(3),i,j,n);
end
%%%% phi_i(sx)*phi_j %%%%
function fx=g(x,i,j,n)
h=1/n;
Sx=sx(x);
fx=csp_fun(Sx,i*h,h)*csp_fun(x,j*h,h);
end
%%%% Transformation S %%%%
function s=sx(x)
if x \le 1/3
    s = (2 \times x) / (1 - x);
else
```

```
s = (1-x) / (2 * x);
end
end
%%%% Finding vector d from (A-B)d=0 %%%%%
function d=vec_d_csp(n,A,B)
h=1/n;
d = ones(n+3, 1);
d = (A - B) \setminus d;
d=d/sum(d);
s=h*(d(1)/24+(d(2)/2)+(23*d(3)/24)+sum(d(4:n))+(23*d(n+1)/24)+(d(n+2)/2)
  +d(n+3)/24); % ||fn||
d=d/s;
end
%%%% Computing the error %%%%%
function err=csp_err(d,tol)
n=length(d)-3; h=1/n;
e=zeros(n,1);
for i=1:n
    R=int_det(i,n,d,tol);
    m=length(R);
    if m==0
        e(i)=gq3_err((i-1)*h,(i)*h,i,n,d);
    elseif m==1
        e1(i)=gq3_err((i-1)*h,R(1),i,n,d);
        e2(i)=gq3_err(R(1),(i)*h,i,n,d);
        e(i)=e1(i)+e2(i);
    elseif m==2
        e1(i)=gq3_err((i-1)*h,R(1),i,n,d);
        e2(i)=gq3_err(R(1),R(2),i,n,d);
        e3(i)=gq3_err(R(2),(i)*h,i,n,d);
        e(i) = e1(i) + e2(i) + e3(i);
    elseif m==3
        el(i)=gq3_err((i-1)*h,R(1),i,n,d);
        e2(i)=gq3_err(R(1),R(2),i,n,d);
        e3(i)=gq3_err(R(2),R(3),i,n,d);
        e4(i)=gq3_err(R(3),(i)*h,i,n,d);
        e(i)=e1(i)+e2(i)+e3(i)+e4(i);
    elseif m==4
        e1(i)=gq3_err((i-1)*h,R(1),i,n,d);
        e2(i)=gq3_err(R(1),R(2),i,n,d);
        e3(i)=gq3_err(R(2),R(3),i,n,d);
        e4(i)=gq3_err(R(3),R(4),i,n,d);
        e5(i)=gq3_err(R(4),(i)*h,i,n,d);
        e(i)=e1(i)+e2(i)+e3(i)+e4(i)+e5(i);
    else
        e1(i)=gq3_err((i-1)*h,R(1),i,n,d);
        e2(i)=gq3_err(R(1),R(2),i,n,d);
        e3(i)=gq3_err(R(2),R(3),i,n,d);
        e4(i)=gq3_err(R(3),R(4),i,n,d);
        e5(i)=gq3_err(R(4),R(5),i,n,d);
        e6(i)=gq3_err(R(5),(i)*h,i,n,d);
        e(i) = e1(i) + e2(i) + e3(i) + e4(i) + e5(i) + e6(i);
    end
end
err=sum(e);
end
```

```
%%%%% Interval determination %%%%%%
function R2=int_det(i,n,d,tol)
h=1/n;
a3 = (1/(6*h^3))*(-d(i)+3*d(i+1)-3*d(i+2)+d(i+3));
a2 = (1/(2*h^2)) * (i*d(i) + (1-3*i)*d(i+1) + (3*i-2)*d(i+2) - (i-1)*d(i+3));

a1 = (1/(2*h)) * (-i^2*d(i) + (i-1)*(3*i+1)*d(i+1) + (4-3*i)*i*d(i+2)
   +(i-1)^2*d(i+3));
a0=(1/6)*(i^3*d(i)+(1+3*i+3*i^2-3*i^3)*d(i+1)+(3*i^3-6*i^2+4)*d(i+2)
-(i-1)^3*d(i+3));
C = [0 \ 0 \ 0 \ -(a0-2)/a3;
    1 \ 0 \ 0 \ -(a1+2*a0)/a3;
    0 1 0 0 - (a2+2*a1+a0)/a3;
    0 0 1 0 - (a3+2*a2+a1)/a3;
    0 0 0 1 -(2*a3+a2)/a3];
ev=eig(C); %eigenvalues of the companion matrix C
R1=[];
for k=1:5
    if abs(imag(ev(k)))<tol</pre>
         R1 = [R1; real(ev(k))];
    end
end
m=length(R1);
R2=[];
for k=1:m
    if R1(k)>(i-1)*h & R1(k)<i*h
         R2 = [R2; R1(k)];
    end
    R2=sort(R2);
end
end
%%%% Find C's and X's of Gaussian quadrature of error function %%%%
function ive=gq3_err(a,b,i,n,d)
D=zeros(3,1); XX=zeros(3,1);
D(1) = (5/18) * (b-a); XX(1) = ((a+b)/2) - (0.5*(b-a) * sqrt(0.6));
D(2) = (8/18) * (b-a); XX(2) = (a+b)/2;
                     XX(3) = ((a+b)/2) + (0.5*(b-a)*sqrt(0.6));
D(3) = D(1);
ive=D(1)*f_n(XX(1),i,n,d)+D(2)*f_n(XX(2),i,n,d)+D(3)*f_n(XX(3),i,n,d);
end
%%%% fn & |fn-f*| %%%%
function ex=f_n(x,i,n,d)
h=1/n;
fn=d(i)*csp_fun(x,(i-4)*h,h)+d(i+1)*csp_fun(x,(i-3)*h,h)
   +d(i+2)*csp_fun(x,(i-2)*h,h)+d(i+3)*csp_fun(x,(i-1)*h,h);
fx=2/(x+1)^2;
ex=abs(fn-fx);
end
%%%% Cubic spline function %%%%
function fx=csp_fun(x,c,h)
y = (x-c) / h;
if y > 0 &
            y <= 1
    fx = (1/6) * (y)^3;
elseif y > 1 & y <= 2
    fx=(1/6)*(1+3*((y)-1)+3*((y)-1)^2-3*((y)-1)^3);
elseif y > 2 & y <= 3
    fx = (1/6) * (1+3*(3-(y))+3*(3-(y))^2-3*(3-(y))^3);
elseif y > 3 \& y \ll 4
    fx = (1/6) * (4 - (y))^3;
```

else fx=0; end end

## REFERENCES

- A. Alshekhi, J. Ding, and N. Rhee. "A Cubic Spline Projection Method for Computing Stationary Densities of Dynamical Systems". *International Journal* of Bifurcation and Chaos 30.8 (2022), p. 2250123.
- [2] S. Attal, A. Joye, and C. A. Pillet. Open Quantum Systems II: The Markovian Approach. Springer, 2006.
- [3] R. M. Bangura, C. Jin, and J. Ding. "The Norm Convergence of a Least Squares Approximation Method for Random Maps". *International Journal of Bifurcation and Chaos* 31.05 (2021), p. 2150068.
- [4] G. de Barra. Measure Theory and Integration. New Age International Publisher, 1981.
- [5] R. G. Bartle. A Modern Theory of Integration. American Mathematical Society, 2001.
- [6] R. G. Bartle and D. R. Sherbert. *Introduction to Real Analysis*. Wiley, 1992.
- [7] M. Bôcher. An Introduction to the Study of Integral Equations. University Press, 1914.
- [8] C. Bose and R. Murray. "The exact rate of approximation in Ulam's method". Discrete & Continuous Dynamical Systems 7.1 (2001), p. 219.
- B. Bradie. A Friendly Introduction to Numerical Analysis. Pearson Prentice Hall, 2006.

- [10] W. L. Briggs and V. E. Henson. The DFT: An Owners' Manual for the Discrete Fourier Transform. Society for Industrial and Applied Mathematics, 1995.
- [11] J. R. Brown. Ergodic Theory and Topological Dynamics. Academic Press, Inc, 1976.
- [12] A. M. Bruckner, J. B. Bruckner, and B. S. Thomson. *Real Analysis*. Prentice-Hall, 1997.
- [13] R. L. Burden and J. D. Faires. Numerical Analysis. Mathematics Series. PWS-Kent Publishing Company, 1993.
- F. Chaitin-Chatelin and V. Frayssé. Lectures on Finite Precision Computations.
   Software, Environments, Tools. Society for Industrial and Applied Mathematics, 1996.
- [15] D. L. Cohn. *Measure Theory*. Birkhäuser Boston, 1997.
- [16] J. B. Conway. Functions of One Complex Variable I. Springer, 1978.
- [17] B. Cooperstein. Advanced Linear Algebra. CRC Press, 2010.
- [18] J. K. Cullum and R. A. Willoughby. Lanczos Algorithms for Large Symmetric Eigenvalue Computations: Vol. 1: Theory. Society for Industrial and Applied Mathematics, 1985.
- [19] R. F. Curtain and A. J. Pritchard. Functional Analysis in Modern Applied Mathematics. Academic Press, 1977.
- [20] R. F. Curtain and H. Zwart. An Introduction to Infinite-Dimensional Linear Systems Theory. Springer-Verlag, 1995.
- [21] N. Dinculeanu. Integration on Locally Compact Spaces. Noordhoff International Publishing, 1974.

- [22] J. Ding and T. Y. Li. "Markov finite approximation of Frobenius-Perron operator". Nonlinear Analysis: Theory, Methods & Applications 17.8 (1991), pp. 759– 772.
- [23] J. Ding and N. Rhee. "A modified piecewise linear Markov approximation of Markov operators". Applied mathematics and computation 174.1 (2006), pp. 236–251.
- [24] J. Ding and N. Rhee. "On the norm convergence of a piecewise linear least squares method for Frobenius–Perron operators". *Journal of Mathematical Anal*ysis and Applications 386.1 (2012), pp. 91–102.
- [25] J. Ding and N. Rhee. "Piecewise linear least squares approximations of Frobenius– Perron operators". Applied Mathematics and Computation 217.7 (2010), pp. 3257– 3262.
- [26] J. Ding and A. Zhou. Statistical Properties of Deterministic Systems. Tsinghua University Texts. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2010.
- [27] J. B. Doshi. Analytical Methods in Engineering. Narosa Publishing House, 1998.
- [28] R. W. Easton. Geometric Methods for Discrete Dynamical Systems. Oxford Engineering Science Series. Oxford University Press, 1998.
- [29] S. H. Friedberg, A. J. Insel, and L. E. Spence. *Linear Algebra*. Prentice Hall, 2003.
- [30] A. de la Fuente. Mathematical Methods and Models for Economists. Cambridge University Press, 2000.
- [31] D. Y. Gao. Duality Principles in Nonconvex Systems: Theory, Methods and Applications. Springer Science + Business Media Dordrecht, 2000.

- [32] R. A. Gordon. The Integrals of Lebesgue, Denjoy, Perron, and Henstock. American Mathematical Society, 1994.
- [33] A. Grigis and J. Sjöstrand. Microlocal Analysis for Differential Operators: An Introduction. Cambridge University Press, 1994.
- [34] F. R. Haig, T. F. Jordan, and A. J. Macfarlane. Group Theory and Modern Analysis. University of Rochester, Department of Physics and Astronomy, 1963.
- [35] P. R. Halmos. Finite Dimensional Vector Spaces. Princeton University Press, 1948.
- [36] V. L. Hansen. Fundamental Concepts in Modern Analysis. World Scientific, 1999.
- [37] R. A. Horn and C. R. Johnson. *Matrix Analysis*. Cambridge University Press, 1990.
- [38] C. Jin and J. Ding. "A linear spline Markov approximation method for random maps with position dependent probabilities". *International Journal of Bifurcation and Chaos* 30.03 (2020), p. 2050046.
- [39] D. Kahaner, C. B. Moler, G. E. Forsythe, S. Nash, S. G Nash, and M. A. Malcolm. *Numerical Methods and Software*. Prentice-Hall series in computational mathematics. Prentice Hall, 1988.
- [40] D. R. Kincaid and E. W. Cheney. Numerical Analysis: Mathematics of Scientific Computing. Mathematics Series. Brooks/Cole, 1991.
- [41] K. R. Koch. Parameter Estimation and Hypothesis Testing in Linear Models. Springer, 1999.
- [42] S. G. Krantz. Real Analysis and Foundations. CRC Press LLC, 1991.

- [43] A. P. Kreuzer. "Bounded variation and the strength of Helly's selection theorem". Logical Methods in Computer Science 10 (2014).
- [44] A. Lasota and M. C. Mackey. Chaos, Fractals, and Noise: Stochastic Aspects of Dynamics. Applied mathematical sciences. Springer-Verlag, 1994.
- [45] A. Lasota and M. C. Mackey. Probabilistic Properties of Deterministic Systems. Cambridge University Press, 1985.
- [46] A. Lasota and J. A. Yorke. "On the existence of invariant measures for piecewise monotonic transformations". Transactions of the American Mathematical Society (1973), pp. 481–488.
- [47] T. Y. Li. "Finite approximation for the Frobenius-Perron operator. A solution to Ulam's conjecture". *Journal of Approximation theory* 17.2 (1976), pp. 177– 186.
- [48] T. Mach. Eigenvalue Algorithms for Symmetric Hierarchical Matrices. Verlag nicht ermittelbar, 2012.
- [49] A. Maitra and W. Sudderth. "Finitely additive stochastic games with Borel measurable payoffs". International Journal of Game Theory 27.2 (1998), pp. 257– 267.
- [50] S. C. Malik and S. Arora. *Mathematical Analysis*. New Age International, 1992.
- [51] A. M. Mathai and H. J. Haubold. Probability and Statistics: A Course for Physicists and Engineers. De Gruyter, 2017.
- [52] R. M. McLeod. The Generalized Riemann Integral. Mathematical Association of America, 1980.
- [53] E. J. McShane. Unified Integration. Academic Press, I, 1983.

- [54] M. Pavone. "On the Riesz representation theorem for bounded linear functionals" (1994), pp. 133–135.
- [55] E. G. Phillips. A Course of Analysis. Cambridge University Press, 1962.
- [56] A. D. Polyanin and A. V. Manzhirov. Handbook of Integral Equations: Second Edition. Champan and Hall/CRC, 2008.
- [57] F. M. Reza. An Exposition of Hilbert Space and Linear Operators for Engineers and Scientists. Griffis Air Force Base N.Y. Rome Air Development Center, Air Force Systems Command, 1968.
- [58] A. C. M. V. Rooij and W. H. Schikhof. A Second Course on Real Functions. Cambridge University Press, 1982.
- [59] H. L. Royden and P. M. Fizpatrick. *Real Analysis*. Pearson Education, 2010.
- [60] K. Schmedders and K. L. Judd. Handbook of Computational Economics. North-Holland, 2013.
- [61] B. S. W. Schröder. Mathematical Analysis: A Concise Introduction. Wiley Interscience, 2008.
- [62] J. N. Sharma. Functions of A Complex Variable. Krishna Prakashan Media, 1991.
- [63] E. V. Shikin and A. I. Plis. Handbook on Splines for the User. CRC Press LLC, 1995.
- [64] D. Singer. "Stable orbits and bifurcation of maps of the interval". SIAM Journal on Applied Mathematics 35.2 (1978), pp. 260–267.

- [65] G. D. Smith. Numerical Solution of Partial Differential Equations: Finite Difference Methods. Oxford applied mathematics and computing science series. Clarendon Press, 1985.
- [66] N. L. Stokey, R. E. Lucas, and E. C. Prescott. *Recursive Methods in Economic Dynamics*. Cambridge, Mass, Harvard University Press, 1989.
- [67] K. D. Stroyan and W. A. J. Luxemburg. Introduction to the Theory of Infinitesimals. Academic Press, 1976.
- [68] S. J. Taylor. Introduction to Measure and Integration. Cambridge University Press, 1973.
- [69] S. M. Ulam. A Collection of Mathematical Problems. Interscience tracts in pure and applied mathematics. Interscience Publishers, 1960.
- [70] A. R. Vasishtha and A. K. Vasishtha. *Matrices*. Krishna Prakashan, 1991.
- [71] A. Wah and H. Picciotto. Algebra: Themes, Tools, Concepts. Creative Publications, 1994.
- [72] A. J. Weir. *General Integration and Measure*. Cambridge University Press, 1974.
- [73] A. J. Weir. Lebesgue Integration and Measure. Cambridge University Press, 1973.
- [74] S. Winitzki. *Linear Algebra Via Exterior Products*. Lulu Press, Incorporated, 2009.
- [75] P. Wojtaszczyk. A Mathematical Introduction to Wavelets. Cambridge University Press, 1997.
- [76] J. Yeh. Lectures On Real Analysis. World Scientific Publishing Company, 2000.
- [77] P. W. Zehna. *Probability Distributions and Statistics*. Allyn and Bacon, 1970.

[78] D. Zhou, G. Chen, J. Ding, and N. Rhee. "A quadratic spline least squares method for computing absolutely continuous invariant measures". *Communications in Mathematical Sciences* 16.8 (2018), pp. 2077–2093.

## VITA

Azzah Alshekhi was born on April 13, in Jubail City, Saudi Arabia. In 2012, she received her B.S. in Mathematics from King Abdulaziz University, Jeddah City, Saudi Arabia. She received her M.S. from the University of Missouri-Kansas City, USA, in 2017.